
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 23, 2024 – 5:00 PM 

AGENDA 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Anyone wishing to address the Planning and Zoning Board regarding any topic on this evening's agenda 

is requested to complete a card available at the Clerk's desk. Speakers are respectfully requested to limit 

their comments to three (3) minutes. 

The Planning and Zoning Board prohibits the use of cell phones and pagers which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of Law Enforcement, Fire and Rescue, or Health Care Professionals 

on call. Persons in violation will be requested to leave the meeting. 

ROLL CALL 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Approval of the Minutes of the November 26, 2023 Meeting 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Special Exception for a Warehouse use in a C-2 Zoning District for property located on the 

south side of the 800 block of Cooks Lane for approximately 7.8 acres of parcel #016564-

002-00. 

3. Large Scale Future Land Use Map Amendment for property located at the Southeast corner 

of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 58.12 acres of parcel #016451-000-00 and a portion of 

parcel #016451-003-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use to:   Industrial  

4. Large Scale Future Land Use Text Amendment for property located at the Southeast corner 

of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 58.12 acres of parcel #016451-000-00 and a portion of 

parcel #016451-003-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use to:   Industrial  

5. Ordinance O-36-2023, Adding Street Walls as an alternative design standard in the Gateway 

Corridor District as a special exception.  

ACTION ITEMS 

6. Review of Site Development application for The Vineyard Transitional Center located at 

518 N Pine Ave 

Page 1



January 23, 2024 Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 

BOARD BUSINESS 

Board Discussion / Comments 

Staff Comments 

ADJOURNMENT  

NEXT MEETING: TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 27, 2024 

 

Minutes of the Planning & Zoning Board Meeting can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office. The 

Minutes are recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim.  

Persons requiring a verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the 

recordings, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting. The cost of duplication and/or court 

reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

ADA NOTICE  

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a 

Planning and Zoning Board member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion 

regarding a quasi-judicial decision by the Planning and Zoning Board. The exchanges must be disclosed 

by the Planning and Zoning Board. 

 

Page 2



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 28, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00pm by Chairman Hall.  

Board Members Present: Board Member Brian Cook, Board Member Joshua Hobbs, Vice Chairman 

Josh Danley, Chairman Justin Hall 

Board Member Absent: Board Member Henrietta Francis 

Staff Members Present: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney, Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Michael Daniels, 

Development Services Director, Lyndie Knowles, Development Services Representative 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Approval of Minutes from October 24, 2023 

Approval of the Minutes from the October 24, 2023 Meeting.  

Motion was made to approve the minutes from the October 24, 2023 meeting. 

Motion made by Board Member Cook, Seconded by Board Member Hobbs. 

Voting Yea: Board Member Cook, Board Member Hobbs, Vice Chairman Danley, 

Chairman Hall 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Special Exception Request for a Home Occupation for Art / Sculpting Business, located 

at 301 Green Street.  

Development Services Director Michael Daniels presented staff comments regarding the 

request for a special exception for a home occupation for an art business at 301 Green 

Street.  

Ms. Christina Bonner spoke on behalf of the applicant and shared that she thought it would 

be a positive addition to the neighborhood. 

Board discussion followed with applicant, Angela Hindle 

Motion was made to approve the special exception for a home occupancy at 301 Green 

Street.   
Motion made by Board Member Cook, Seconded by Board Member Hobbs. 

Voting Yea: Board Member Cook, Board Member Hobbs, Vice Chairman Danley, 

Chairman Hall 

 

Page 3

Item #  1.



November 28, 2023 Minutes Page 2 of 2 

 

 

3. Ordinance O-36-2023, Adding Street Walls as an alternative design standard in the 

Gateway Corridor District  

Development Services Michael Daniels presented Ordinance O-36-2023 to add street walls 

as an alternative design standard in the Gateway Corridor District.   

Board discussion followed.  

Motion made to recommend approval City County for Ordinance O-36-2023 to add 

street walls as an alternative design standard in the Gateway Corridor District.  

Motion made by Board Member Cook, Seconded by Board Member Hobbs. Voting Yea: 

Board Member Cook, Board Member Hobbs, Vice Chairman Danley, Chairman Hall 

BOARD BUSINESS 

There was further board discussion with staff regarding updates on the Walnut Street project, the Rivers 

House and other Downtown Master Plan projects.  

In addition, Mr. Daniels presented information regarding the plan to begin the citywide tree survey 

project. Any board members who would like to volunteer to assist would be welcome to join the effort.  

The meeting was adjourned at 5:35pm. 

NEXT MEETING: Tuesday, January 23, 2024 at 5:00PM 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 J. Justin Hall, Chairman 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Lyndie Knowles, Development Services Rep.  

 

Page 4

Item #  1.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission  MEETING DATE: January 23, 2024 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Special Exception for a Warehouse use in a C-2 Zoning District for property located on the 

south side of the 800 block of Cooks Lane for approximately 7.8 acres of parcel #016564-

002-00. 

 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Quoc Mai, Mai Engineering 

Services, Inc. 
OWNER: William Kreig 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 800 Block of Cooks Lane 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016564-002-00 

FILE NUMBER: SE-23-003 

CURRENT ZONING:  C-2, General Commercial/M-2 Heavy Industrial 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Mixed Use/Industrial 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: R-3, R-2 

Use: Apartments/Single Family 

 SOUTH: FLU: INDUSTRIAL 

Z: MUH  

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST:           
 

FLU: Mixed Use 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: INDUSTRIAL/Mixed Use 

Z: M-2/R-3 

Use: Industrial / Undeveloped 

  

Page 5

Item #  2.



BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Special Exception for the subject property for the construction of 

commercial / warehouse development.  The applicant has previously submitted a site development plan 

(SPL-22-006) which is currently under review. 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

The property has approximately is located within Energy Cove however it only has access to Cooks Lane.  

The property is heavily wooded with a mixture of hardwood and pine trees.   

 

Figure 1. Aerial Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6

Item #  2.



Figure 2.  Future Land Use 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Item #  2.



Figure 3.  Zoning 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8

Item #  2.



DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION  

The applicant has submitted a site development plan for 4 warehouse buildings totaling 76,000 square 

feet.  A portion of the existing property was annexed in 2008 and given a Future Land Use District of 

industrial for the rear 6 acres but never given a zoning designation.  The Zoning Designation shall be 

changed prior to development approval.  The northerly 2 acres are zoned C-2, General Commercial.     

PARKING, LOADING, & STACKING 

The plan shows 182 onsite parking spaces and 9 handicapped spaces.  City Parking requirements 

require 114 parking spaces. 

DRAINAGE RETENTION 

A drainage retention plan has been provided showing that a drainage retention system will drain 

to a proposed retention pond onsite.   within Energy Cove Court.  In addition, the applicant is 

required to secure a stormwater permit from the St Johns River Water Management District prior 

to moving forward with project development.  The drainage retention plan has been submitted and 

shall comply with City staff and our consulting engineer’s requirements prior to approval.     The 

drainage plan will be designed to ensure that no additional runoff is sent to adjacent properties.       

TRAFFIC AND ACCESS 

The plan shows one vehicular access point on Cooks Lane.     

Pursuant to the attached traffic study, the project will generate 176 total trips and 33 pm peak hour 

trips.  Pursuant to the attached traffic study, they are showing failures of several turning 

movements at the intersection of US 17 and SR 16.  However, with signal timing adjustments the 

intersection can operate at an acceptable Level of Service. These trip thresholds are typically below 

the requirements required for a traffic study.  

Truck traffic is limited to ingress and egress off of US 17, pursuant to the 5-ton weight limit to the 

west of the site on Cooks Lane.   

             

LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS  

The current landscape plan is showing that 962 inches of trees onsite shall be saved as well as the 

planting of an additional 400 inches shall be planted.  

In addition to the site plan requirements for tree planting, staff is recommending a 40’ landscape 

buffer along Cooks Lane with the following landscape buffer meeting the requirements set forth 

in Sec. 113-244(d)(3). 

 1 canopy tree a minimum of every 50’ lineal feet,  

 2 understory trees every 50’ lineal feet 

 A continuous hedge row.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9

Item #  2.



PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        10,034 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,176,966 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 gallons per 1,000 sq ft. 

 
Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 264,000 

Committed Loading 1 62,000 

Residual Capacity1 46,000 

Percentage of Permitted Design Capacity Utilized1 103% 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2 8,360 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 37,640 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 

2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 gallons per 1,000 square feet 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP has the capacity to handle 

the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  When the committed flows for the Rookery are going 

to be served by Clay County utility Authority there will be adequate capacity for this project. 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

 
Conclusion:  The City of Green Cove Springs does not provide solid waste for nonresidential users. Private providers 

subject to the franchise requirements set forth in Sec 66-10 of the City Code.     
 

STAFF COMMENTS  

This property is part of the Energy Cove Industrial Park.  The surrounding uses within the Park are industrial uses.  

However this property borders existing and proposed residential uses to the north and west.  In order to make this 

use compatible additional conditions have been placed on the property to ensure that the look and function of the 

property is compatible with the surrounding area.  These include a landscape buffer, traffic improvements, right of 

way dedication, building material requirements to address compatibility with the surrounding area.     

Attachments include: 

1. Site Plan 

2. Property Rendering 

3. Traffic Study 

4. Application 

5. Site Plan Deficiency Report  

 

 

Page 10

Item #  2.



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the special exception subject to the following conditions: 

1. Provide a 40’ landscape buffer with required landscaping as set forth in the City LDC Section  

2. Limit truck traffic to ingress and egress from US 17 by requiring access limitation. 

3. All outdoor storage must be screened from public view. 

4. Corrugated Metal, Styrofoam, and other foam-based products are prohibited on building exteriors. 
5. Signal timing improvements as set forth in the Traffic Study Report shall be implemented prior 

to development approval.   

6. Additional Right of Way as shown on the attached draft site plan shall be dedicated to the City 

prior to development approval. 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Motion to recommend approval to City Council of recommendation of approval of Special Exception 

subject to the following conditions: 

1. Provide a 40’ landscape buffer consisting of landscaping as required by City LDC Sec. 113-

244(d)(3). 

2. Provide signage to limit truck traffic to ingress and egress from US 17 by requiring access 

limitation. 

3. All outdoor storage must be completely screened from public view. 

4. Corrugated Metal, Styrofoam, and other foam-based products are prohibited on building exteriors. 
5. Signal timing improvements as set forth in the Traffic Study Report shall be implemented prior 

to development approval.   

6. Additional Right of Way as shown on the attached draft site plan shall be dedicated to the City 

prior to development approval. 

 

 

 

Page 11

Item #  2.



Page 12

Item #  2.



Page 13

Item #  2.



Page 14

Item #  2.



Page 15

Item #  2.



Page 16

Item #  2.



1369-River Oaks Development Renderings 

 

 

 

Page 17

Item #  2.



 

 

 

 

Page 18

Item #  2.



 

 

 

Page 19

Item #  2.



C
O

VE
R

 S
H

EE
T

MAI

M
A

I

N

N

Quoc H Mai 
P.E. 64006, 
State of 
Florida

Digitally signed 
by Quoc H Mai 
P.E. 64006, State 
of Florida 
Date: 2024.01.08 
16:09:33 -05'00'

Page 20

Item #  2.

cryst
Stamp



G
EN

ER
AL

 N
O

TE
S

M
A

I

Page 21

Item #  2.



OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE
OHE

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

ROW

ID:1

ID:2

ID:3

ID:4

ID:7

ID:10
ID:12

ID:13 ID:14

ID:15

ID:16

ID:18

ID:19

ID:21

ID:22

ID:23

ID:24

ID:26

ID:27 ID:28 ID:29

ID:30

ID:31

ID:32

ID:33

ID:72

ID:75

ID:76

ID:79

ID:80

ID:82

ID:85

ID:86

ID:88

ID:91

ID:92

ID:107

ID:108

ID:109

ID:110

ID:111

ID:118

ID:119

ID:120

ID:121

ID:122 ID:123

ID:81

ID:87

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP W

PP

W
PP

W
PP

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X X X

3
3
4
.6

'

3
4
6
.6

'

1
8
3
.9

'

1
8
4
.5

'

1
/2

" F
IP

C
LB

#1
3
8
1FC

M
N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

M
EM

LB
#2

9
3
3

FI
P 

1
/2

"
N
O

 ID

W
PP C

O
N
C
.

W
A
LK

A
C

4' C.L.F.

1
3
.4

' O
FF

6.
5'
 O

FF

1.
7'
 O

FF2.
1'
 O

FF

1.
5'
 O

FF

0.
5'
 O

FF

8'± DIRT DRIVE

TO
P 

OF
 B

AN
K

0
.7

' C
O

N
C
.

H
EA

D
 W

AL
L

M
AS

ON

BO
X/S

TE
EL

 L
ID

W

C
O

N
C
.

S
TE

P

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL
OHL

OHL
OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

S
W

AL
E

8'± DIRT DRIVE

OHL

OHL

X
X

X

X X X

X
X

X

1
/2

" F
IP

C
LB

#1
3
8
1

1/
2"

 F
IP

NO
 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1/
2"

 F
IP

"M
ILL

ER
"

S
et

 N
ai

l/D
is

c
#4

8
8
9
 in

 C
L

As
ph

al
t

S
IR

C
 1 2

"4
8
8
9

2
4
" R

C
P

(N
O

RT
H
 E

N
D
)

IN
V
. 
EL

=
 1

3
.4

5
'

H
EA

D
W

AL
L

TO
P 

O
F 

1
.0

'
C
O

N
C
. 
H
EA

D
W

AL
L

 DITCH

EP

 DITCH

EP

(3
)  

18
" R

CP

IN
V.

 E
L.
=

 1
0.

79
'

2
4
" R

C
P

(S
O

U
TH

 E
N
D
)

IN
V
. 
EL

=
 1

3
.8

1
'

 SMALL CREEK
 SMALL CREEK

 SMALL CREEK

B1

B1

B2

B3

B4

B2
6

B5

B6

B7

B8

B9 B1
0

B1
1

B2
2

B2
3

B3
0

B2
8

B2
9 B1

5

B1
6

B1
4

B1
7B1

8

B1
3

B1
2

B1
9

B2
0

B2
1

B2
4B2

5

B2
7

℄

℄

℄

ID:6

ID:8

ID:9

ID:11

ID:17

ID:20

ID:73

ID:83

ID:84

ID:112

ID:113

ID:114

ID:115

ID:124

ID:125

ID:129

ID:130

ID:131

ID:132

ID:133

ID:142

ID:1ID:144ID:145

ID:146

ID:148ID:150
ID:151

ID:157

ID:158
ID:159ID:160

ID:161

ID:162

ID:163

ID:164
ID:165

ID:5

ID:34

ID:35

ID:36

ID:37

ID:38

ID:39

ID:40

ID:41

ID:42

ID:43

ID:44

ID:45

ID:46

ID:47

ID:48

ID:49

ID:50

ID:51

ID:52

ID:53

ID:54

ID:55

ID:56

ID:57

ID:58

ID:59

ID:60 ID:61

ID:62

ID:63

ID:64

ID:65

ID:66

ID:67

ID:68

ID:69

ID:70

ID:71

ID:74

ID:77

ID:78

ID:89

ID:90
ID:93

ID:94

ID:95

ID:96

ID:97
ID:98

ID:99

ID:100

ID:101

ID:102

ID:103

ID:104
ID:105

ID:106

ID:116

ID:117

ID:126

ID:127

ID:128

ID:134

ID:135

ID:136

ID:137

ID:138

ID:139

ID:140
ID:141

ID:147

ID:149

ID:152ID:153

ID:154

ID:155

ID:156

ID:25

RO
W

R
O

W

R
O

W

TR
EE

 S
U

R
VE

Y

M
A

I

N

Page 22

Item #  2.



TO
PO

 S
U

R
VE

Y

M
A

I

Page 23

Item #  2.



OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE
OHE

ID:1

ID:2

ID:3

ID:4

ID:7

ID:10
ID:12

ID:13 ID:14

ID:15

ID:16

ID:18

ID:19

ID:21

ID:22

ID:23

ID:24

ID:26

ID:27 ID:28 ID:29

ID:30

ID:31

ID:32

ID:33

ID:80

ID:82

ID:85

ID:86

ID:88

ID:91

ID:107

ID:108

ID:109

ID:110

ID:111

ID:118

ID:119

ID:120

ID:121

ID:122 ID:123

ID:87

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP W

PP

W
PP

W
PP

1
/2

" F
IP

C
LB

#1
3
8
1FC

M
N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

M
EM

LB
#2

9
3
3

FI
P 

1
/2

"
N
O

 ID

W
PP C

O
N
C
.

W
A
LK

A
C

4' C.L.F.

1
3
.4

' O
FF

6.
5'
 O

FF

1.
7'
 O

FF2.
1'
 O

FF

1.
5'
 O

FF

0.
5'
 O

FF

8'± DIRT DRIVE

TO
P 

OF
 B

AN
K

0
.7

' C
O

N
C
.

H
EA

D
 W

AL
L

M
AS

ON

BO
X/S

TE
EL

 L
ID

W

C
O

N
C
.

S
TE

P

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL
OHL

OHL
OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

S
W

AL
E

8'± DIRT DRIVE

OHL

OHL

1
/2

" F
IP

C
LB

#1
3
8
1

1/
2"

 F
IP

NO
 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1/
2"

 F
IP

"M
ILL

ER
"

S
et

 N
ai

l/D
is

c
#4

8
8
9
 in

 C
L

As
ph

al
t

S
IR

C
 1 2

"4
8
8
9

2
4
" R

C
P

(N
O

RT
H
 E

N
D
)

IN
V
. 
EL

=
 1

3
.4

5
'

H
EA

D
W

AL
L

TO
P 

O
F 

1
.0

'
C
O

N
C
. 
H
EA

D
W

AL
L

 DITCH

EP

 DITCH

EP

(3
)  

18
" R

CP

IN
V.

 E
L.
=

 1
0.

79
'

2
4
" R

C
P

(S
O

U
TH

 E
N
D
)

IN
V
. 
EL

=
 1

3
.8

1
'

 SMALL CREEK
 SMALL CREEK

 SMALL CREEK

B1

B1

B2

B3

B4

B2
6

B5

B6

B7

B8

B9 B1
0

B1
1

B2
2

B2
3

B3
0

B2
8

B2
9 B1

5

B1
6

B1
4

B1
7B1

8

B1
3

B1
2

B1
9

B2
0

B2
1

B2
4

B2
5

B2
7

℄

℄

℄

ID:112

ID:113 ID:124

ID:125

ID:161

ID:162

ID:163

ID:165ID:117

ID:25

M
A

I

TURBILITY BARRIER DETAIL EC4

ER
O

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
PL

AN

N

Page 24

Item #  2.



OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE
OHE

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

ID:1

ID:2

ID:3

ID:4

ID:7

ID:10
ID:12

ID:13 ID:14

ID:15

ID:16

ID:18

ID:19

ID:21

ID:22

ID:23

ID:24

ID:26

ID:27 ID:28 ID:29

ID:30

ID:31

ID:32

ID:33

ID:72

ID:75

ID:76

ID:79

ID:80

ID:82

ID:85

ID:86

ID:88

ID:91

ID:92

ID:107

ID:108

ID:109

ID:110

ID:111

ID:118

ID:119

ID:120

ID:121

ID:122 ID:123

ID:81

ID:87

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP

W
PP W

PP

W
PP

W
PP

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X X X

3
3
4
.6

'

3
4
6
.6

'

1
8
3
.9

'

1
8
4
.5

'

1
/2

" F
IP

C
LB

#1
3
8
1FC

M
N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

M
EM

LB
#2

9
3
3

FI
P 

1
/2

"
N
O

 ID

W
PP C

O
N
C
.

W
A
LK

A
C

4' C.L.F.

1
3
.4

' O
FF

6.
5'
 O

FF

1.
7'
 O

FF2.
1'
 O

FF

1.
5'
 O

FF

0.
5'
 O

FF

8'± DIRT DRIVE

TO
P 

OF
 B

AN
K

0
.7

' C
O

N
C
.

H
EA

D
 W

AL
L

M
AS

ON

BO
X/S

TE
EL

 L
ID

W

C
O

N
C
.

S
TE

P

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

O
H

L

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL
OHL

OHL
OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

OHL

S
W

AL
E

8'± DIRT DRIVE

OHL

OHL

X
X

X

X X X

X
X

X

1
/2

" F
IP

C
LB

#1
3
8
1

1/
2"

 F
IP

NO
 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1
/2

" F
IP

N
O

 ID

1/
2"

 F
IP

"M
ILL

ER
"

S
et

 N
ai

l/D
is

c
#4

8
8
9
 in

 C
L

As
ph

al
t

S
IR

C
 1 2

"4
8
8
9

2
4
" R

C
P

(N
O

RT
H
 E

N
D
)

IN
V
. 
EL

=
 1

3
.4

5
'

H
EA

D
W

AL
L

TO
P 

O
F 

1
.0

'
C
O

N
C
. 
H
EA

D
W

AL
L

 DITCH

EP

 DITCH

EP

(3
)  

18
" R

CP

IN
V.

 E
L.
=

 1
0.

79
'

2
4
" R

C
P

(S
O

U
TH

 E
N
D
)

IN
V
. 
EL

=
 1

3
.8

1
'

 SMALL CREEK
 SMALL CREEK

 SMALL CREEK

B1

B1

B2

B3

B4

B2
6

B5

B6

B7

B8

B9 B1
0

B1
1

B2
2

B2
3

B3
0

B2
8

B2
9 B1

5

B1
6

B1
4

B1
7B1

8

B1
3

B1
2

B1
9

B2
0

B2
1

B2
4

B2
5

B2
7

℄

℄

℄

ID:6

ID:8

ID:9

ID:11

ID:17

ID:20

ID:73

ID:83

ID:84

ID:112

ID:113

ID:114

ID:115

ID:124

ID:125

ID:129

ID:130

ID:131

ID:132

ID:133

ID:142

ID:1ID:144ID:145

ID:146

ID:148ID:150
ID:151

ID:157

ID:158
ID:159ID:160

ID:161

ID:162

ID:163

ID:164
ID:165

ID:5

ID:34

ID:35

ID:36

ID:37

ID:38

ID:39

ID:40

ID:41

ID:42

ID:43

ID:44

ID:45

ID:46

ID:47

ID:48

ID:49

ID:50

ID:51

ID:52

ID:53

ID:54

ID:55

ID:56

ID:57

ID:58

ID:59

ID:60 ID:61

ID:62

ID:63

ID:64

ID:65

ID:66

ID:67

ID:68

ID:69

ID:70

ID:71

ID:74

ID:77

ID:78

ID:89

ID:90
ID:93

ID:94

ID:95

ID:96

ID:97
ID:98

ID:99

ID:100

ID:101

ID:102

ID:103

ID:104
ID:105

ID:106

ID:116

ID:117

ID:126

ID:127

ID:128

ID:134

ID:135

ID:136

ID:137

ID:138

ID:139

ID:140
ID:141

ID:147

ID:149

ID:152ID:153

ID:154

ID:155

ID:156

ID:25

M
A

I
D

EM
O

LI
TI

O
N

 P
LA

N

N

REMOVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBH (IN)TYPE

SAVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBHTYPE

LIVE OAK

RED MAPLE

CABBAGE PALM
AMERICAN ELM

RED MAPLE

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA

SWEETGUM

SWEETGUM

LAUREL OAK
LIVE OAK

CABBAGE PALM

LIVE OAK

RED MAPLE

34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71

73

74

77

1
2
3
4

6

7

8
9

10

11
12
13
14
15
16

17

18
19

20

21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33

82

83
84

85

LIVE OAK

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA

91

92

107
108
109
110
111
112

115

118
119
120
121
122

129
130

133
142
143
144
145

150
151

157
158
159
160

161
162

LAUREL OAK88

TOTAL

86

123
124
125131

148
146

12.0
15.0SWEETGUM
26.0
28.0

48.05
38.0LIVE OAK

17.0LIVE OAK

15.0LAUREL OAK
13.0LAUREL OAK

12.0LAUREL OAK

15.0LAUREL OAK
16.0LAUREL OAK
16.0LAUREL OAK
15.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
20.0LAUREL OAK

20.0LAUREL OAK

17.0
12.0CABBAGE PALM

25.0

17.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
37.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
17.0

RED MAPLE 13.0
LIVE OAK 19.0

23.0LAUREL OAK
RED MAPLE 13.0

16.0LAUREL OAK
25.0LAUREL OAK
13.0LAUREL OAK
15.0LAUREL OAK

16.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
26.0LAUREL OAK
15.0LAUREL OAK
24.0LAUREL OAK
16.0
14.0LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK 64.0
13.0
15.0
22.0

LIVE OAK 38.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0

13.0
LIVE OAK 23.0
LIVE OAK 16.0
LIVE OAK 25.0

15.0
SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA 17.0

LIVE OAK 15.0
12.0LAUREL OAK
16.0LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK 15.0
WATER OAK 14.0

33.0LAUREL OAK
SWEETGUM 13.0
SWEETGUM 13.0

LIVE OAK 33.0
LIVE OAK 63.0
LIVE OAK 28.0
LIVE OAK 47.0
LIVE OAK 45.0

CABBAGE PALM 12.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0

14.0LAUREL OAK
RED MAPLE 23.0

72 16.0CABBAGE PALM
CABBAGE PALM 13.0

AMERICAN ELM 13.0
75 24.0LAUREL OAK
76 RED MAPLE 15.0

24.0LAUREL OAK

RED MAPLE

LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK

LIVE OAK

79

87

89
90

93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102

113

114

117

126
127
128

132

136
137
138
139
140
141
147
149

78

103
104

106

116

135
134

15.0

33.0

AMERICAN ELM

80 RED MAPLE 23.0
23.0LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK 20.0
LIVE OAK 54.0

16.0LAUREL OAK
RED MAPLE 14.0

27.0
13.0

56.0
LIVE OAK 28.0

24.0

LIVE OAK 37.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0

LAUREL OAK 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 14.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0

19.0
LIVE OAK 27.0
LIVE OAK 23.0

LIVE OAK 25.0

LIVE OAK 80.0
LIVE OAK 27.0

LAUREL OAK 19.0
LAUREL OAK 24.0

LIVE OAK 37.0
LAUREL OAK 33.0
LIVE OAK 24.0

LIVE OAK 16.0
LAUREL OAK 18.0

LAUREL OAK 16.0

LIVE OAK 48.0
LAUREL OAK 23.0

LIVE OAK 13.0
LIVE OAK 13.0

16.0
LIVE OAK 26.0
LIVE OAK 26.0

LIVE OAK 26.0
LAUREL OAK 20.0

LAUREL OAK 18.0
LAUREL OAK 13.0
LAUREL OAK 12.0

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA 14.0
LIVE OAK 45.0

LIVE OAK 15.0

LIVE OAK 34.0
LAUREL OAK 29.0

LIVE OAK 22.0
LIVE OAK 38.0
LIVE OAK 28.0

LAUREL OAK 14.0
LAUREL OAK 21.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0
LAUREL OAK 18.0
LAUREL OAK 22.0

LAUREL OAK 15.0
LAUREL OAK 16.0

LIVE OAK 24.0
LAUREL OAK 13.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 26.0

LAUREL OAK 18.0

LAUREL OAK 17.0
LAUREL OAK 30.0

152
153
154
155
156

105

LAUREL OAK 14.0
LAUREL OAK 21.0
LAUREL OAK 28.0
LAUREL OAK 27.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 13.0
LAUREL OAK 12.0
LAUREL OAK 15.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 14.0
LIVE OAK 16.0

164

165
163 LIVE OAK 24.0

LIVE OAK 48.0

CABBAGE PALM 12.0

CABBAGE PALM 13.0

TOTAL 2328

1,16647

118
81 13.0CABBAGE PALM

TREE CREDIT

16.0
6

34.0
9.67
5
5.33
24.0
4.33
4.67
8.67
5.67
10

4.33
4
5
4.67

48.0

1,497.32
4.33

5
4.33
25.0

5
20.0
54.0
56.0
28.0
37.0
4.33
4
4
4.33
4.33
4.33
4.33
4.67
4
19.0
27.0
23.0

25.0

5.33

6
4.33
4
4.67
45.0

15.0

22.0
38.0
28.0
4.67
7
4.67
6
7.33
4.67
6
4.67
7
9.33
9
4.67

4

REPLACE CREDIT
48.0
38.0
5.0
6.67
5.33
4.67
4.67
8.67
5.0
8.0
5.33
4.67
64.0
4.33
5.00
7.33
38.0
4.33
4.33
4.33
23.0
16.0
25.0
5.0
5.67
15.0
4.0
5.33
15.0
4.67
11.0
4.33
4.33
33.0
63.0
28.0
47.0
45.0
4.0
4.0
4.67
7.67
4.33
8.0
5.0
8.0

REMOVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBH (IN)TYPE REPLACE CREDIT

REMOVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBH (IN)TYPE REPLACE CREDIT

DBH
12.0
15.0
32.5
37.5
17.0
12.0
16.0
16.0
15.0
14.0
25.0
17.0
12.0
17.0
14.0
55.5
14.0
17.0
13.0
23.75
28.75
13.0
16.0
31.25
13.0
15.0
16.0
13.0
49.5
28.75
28.75
16.0
14.0

33.75
13.0

30
120
33.75
23.75
30.0
55.5
49.5
30.0
72.0
28.75
13.0
13.0
16.0
32.5
32.5
32.5
25.0
14.0
16.0
30.0
13.0

1,519.75

Page 25

Item #  2.



R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

X

X

X

X

X
X

X X X X X X X X X X

X
X

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

X

X

X
X

X

S01

S01

S01

S010+00

1+00 2+00 3+00 4+00 5+00 5+15

5+
15

6+
00

7+00 8+00

9+00

10+00 10+31

10+31 11+00 12+00 13+00 14+00 15+00 15+47

15
+4

7

16
+0

0

17+00
18+00

18+20

18
+2

0
19

+0
0

19
+3

6

19
+3

6
20

+0
0

20
+8

1

℄

℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

X

X

P1

P2 P3
P5

P6
P7

P8P9

P1
0

P1
1

P1
2

P1
3

P1
4

P1
5

P1
6

P1
7P18

P1
9

P2
0

P2
1

P2
2

P2
3

P24

P2
5

P2
6

P2
7

P2
8

P2
9

P3
0

P3
1

P3
2

P3
3

P3
4

P3
5

P3
6

P3
7

P3
9

P4
0 P4

1

P4
2

P4
3

P4
4

P4
5

P4
6

P4
7

P4
8P4

9

P5
0P5
1

P5
2

P5
3

P5
4

P5
5

P5
6

P5
7

P58

P5
9

P60

P6
1

P6
2

P6
3

P6
4

P6
5

P6
6

P6
7

P6
8

P6
9

P7
0

P7
1P7

2

P7
3

P7
4 P7

5

P7
6

P7
7

P7
8

P8
0

P8
1

P8
2

P8
3

P8
4

P8
5 P3

8

P4

P7
9

RO
W

R
O

W

R
O

W

M
A

I
SI

TE
 P

LA
N

N

1

1

Page 26

Item #  2.



R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

ID:1

ID:2

ID:3

ID:4

ID:7

ID:10
ID:12

ID:13 ID:14

ID:15

ID:16

ID:18

ID:19

ID:21

ID:22

ID:23

ID:24

ID:26

ID:27 ID:28 ID:29

ID:30

ID:31

ID:32

ID:33

ID:80

ID:82

ID:85

ID:86

ID:88

ID:91

ID:107

ID:108

ID:109

ID:110

ID:111

ID:118

ID:119

ID:120

ID:121

ID:122 ID:123

ID:87

X

X

X

X

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT BT
BT

BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT

BT

BT

BT

BT

X X
X X X X X X X X X X

X
X

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

X

X

X
X

X

℄

℄

℄

ID:112

ID:113 ID:124

ID:125

ID:161

ID:162

ID:163

ID:165ID:117

ID:25

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

X

X

RO
W

R
O

W

R
O

W

PROFILE
HORIZONTAL SCALE - 1"=50'
VERTICAL SCALE - 1"=30'

PROFILE
HORIZONTAL SCALE - 1"=50'
VERTICAL SCALE - 1"=30'

M
A

I
G

R
AD

IN
G

 P
LA

N

CROSS SECTION A-A
N.T.S

CROSS SECTION B-B
N.T.S

CROSS SECTION C-C
N.T.S

CROSS SECTION D-D
N.T.S

OUTFALL CONTROL STRUCTURE
N.T.S

WEIR=19" 5'-0"

4'-0"

2" TYP

6" TYP

8"

8"

1' MIN

1' MIN

7FT

8"

N

1

1 Page 27

Item #  2.



R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

ID:1

ID:2

ID:3

ID:4

ID:7

ID:10
ID:12

ID:13 ID:14

ID:15

ID:16

ID:18

ID:19

ID:21

ID:22

ID:23

ID:24

ID:26

ID:27 ID:28 ID:29

ID:30

ID:31

ID:32

ID:33

ID:80

ID:82

ID:85

ID:86

ID:88

ID:91

ID:107

ID:108

ID:109

ID:110

ID:111

ID:118

ID:119

ID:120

ID:121

ID:122 ID:123

ID:87

X

X

X

X

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT BT
BT

BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT

BT

BT

BT

BT

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

X X
X X X X X X X X X X

X
X

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

X

X

X
X

X

℄

℄

℄

ID:112

ID:113 ID:124

ID:125

ID:161

ID:162

ID:163

ID:165ID:117

ID:25

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

X

X

RO
W

R
O

W

R
O

W

M
A

I
U

TI
LI

TI
ES

 P
LA

N

N

METER BOX (SIZE PER
INTENDED APPLICATION)

METER BOX SUPPORT BRICK
(TYP. ABOUT FOUR SIDES)

METER BOX SUPPORT DETAIL

FLUSHING VALVE BELOW GRADE

NOTES

1.    PIPE SHALL BE POLYETHYLENE.  FITTINGS SHALL BE BRASS.
2.    THE 2" CURB STOP SHALL BE ALL BRONZE.  FITTINGS SHALL BE BRASS.
3.    CANNOT BE PLACED UNDER CONCRETE OR PAVEMENT.
4.    PLACE 2 FEET PAST LAST WATER MAIN SERVICE CONNECTION.

12" CRUSHED ROCK OR
GRAVEL BELOW BOX

2" 90° BRASS COMPRESSION
FITTING ELBOWS (TYP.)

TAPPED PLUG
(IF NECESSARY)

WATER
MAIN

2" BALL VALVE

2" POLY

LOCATE WIRE
(SEE NOTE #4)

FINISHED GRADE

LOCATE WIRE END

GCS STANDARD WATER
METER BOX FOR 1" METER
w/ HEAVY DUTY IRON LID

2" CURB STOP - FIP
(SEE NOTE #2)

2" POLY WITH BRASS
FITTING CLOSE NIPPLE

2" BRASS 90°
ELBOW & PLUG

VA
R

IE
S

APPROVED BY THE CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY.

CONCRETE CAP FOR SEWER PIPES

REQUIRED WHERE TOP OF SEWER PIPE IS WITHIN 2'
OF FINISHED GRADE UNLESS ALTERNATE DETAIL IS

SPRINGLINE
OF PIPE 6"

3000 P.S.I. CONCRETE

SEWER PIPE

6"

VARIES

6"

FINISHED GRADE

2'

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE DIFFERENCE IN INVERT ELEVATION WITHOUT INTERNAL DROP CONNECTION IS 24".

CONNECTION TO MANHOLE

NOTE: FOR ADDITIONAL MANHOLE SPECIFICATIONS, SEE "SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE" DETAIL THIS SHEET.

TYPICAL GRAVITY SEWER DROP PIPE

6"
 M

IN
.

SEE NOTE

IS WITHIN LIMITS OF PAVEMENT
FINISHED GRADE WHEN MANHOLE

USF 170E MANHOLE FRAME & COVER

SPRING LINE

2'-0"

BE 1" MIN. THICKNESS OVER BRICK
SURFACE FINISH. GROUT SURFACE SHALL
WITH BRICK AND TROWEL TO A SMOOTH
D.O.T. CLASS I, TYPE II CEMENT GROUT

FINISHED GRADE WHEN MANHOLE
IS OUTSIDE LIMITS OF PAVEMENT

FLOOR DRAIN WITH STRAINER DETAIL

FLOOR DRAIN, ZURN CO.
MODEL NO. Z-415B WITH
"Y" SEDIMENT BUCKET
MODIFIED W/ 40 MESH
S.S. SCREEN OR J.R. SMITH

FINISHED FLOOR

STAINLESS STEEL SCREEN

NOTE:
FACILITIES WITH FLOOR DRAINS AND WITHOUT A GREASE TRAP SHALL INSTALL THIS MODEL
FLOOR DRAIN AND ONLY WITH PRIOR APPROVAL FROM THE CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY.

2005-A-NB W/ SQ-2-2698

IF A SINGLE DROP OF 8" OR
SMALLER PIPE M.H. DIA. IS TO
BE 4'-0". IF MORE THAN ONE
DROP OR PIPE SIZE IS  GREATER
THAN 8", M.H. DIA. IS TO BE 5'-0" MIN.

SEE "ELEVATION DIFFERENCE ACROSS MANHOLE" THIS SHEET.

1

Page 28

Item #  2.



R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

ID:1

ID:2

ID:3

ID:4

ID:7

ID:10
ID:12

ID:13 ID:14

ID:15

ID:16

ID:18

ID:19

ID:21

ID:22

ID:23

ID:24

ID:26

ID:27 ID:28 ID:29

ID:30

ID:31

ID:32

ID:33

ID:80

ID:82

ID:85

ID:86

ID:88

ID:91

ID:107

ID:108

ID:109

ID:110

ID:111

ID:118

ID:119

ID:120

ID:121

ID:122 ID:123

ID:87

X

X

X

X

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT BT
BT

BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT
BT

BT

BT

BT

BT

BT

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

8'
'W

M

X X
X X X X X X X X X X

X
X

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

X

X

X
X

X

℄

℄

℄

ID:112

ID:113 ID:124

ID:125

ID:161

ID:162

ID:163

ID:165ID:117

ID:25

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

X

X

RO
W

R
O

W

R
O

W

M
A

I
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
PL

AN

”

N

REMOVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBH (IN)TYPE

SAVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBHTYPE

LIVE OAK

RED MAPLE

CABBAGE PALM
AMERICAN ELM

RED MAPLE

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA

SWEETGUM

SWEETGUM

LAUREL OAK
LIVE OAK

CABBAGE PALM

LIVE OAK

RED MAPLE

34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71

73

74

77

1
2
3
4

6

7

8
9

10

11

12
13
14
15
16

17

18
19

20

21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33

82

83
84

85

LIVE OAK

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA

91

92

107
108
109
110
111
112

115

118
119
120
121
122

129
130

133
142
143
144
145

150
151

157
158
159
160

161
162

LAUREL OAK88

TOTAL

86

123
124
125

131

148
146

12.0
15.0SWEETGUM
26.0
28.0

48.05
38.0LIVE OAK

17.0LIVE OAK

15.0LAUREL OAK
13.0LAUREL OAK

12.0LAUREL OAK

15.0LAUREL OAK

16.0LAUREL OAK
16.0LAUREL OAK
15.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
20.0LAUREL OAK

20.0LAUREL OAK

17.0
12.0CABBAGE PALM

25.0

17.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
37.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
17.0

RED MAPLE 13.0
LIVE OAK 19.0

23.0LAUREL OAK
RED MAPLE 13.0

16.0LAUREL OAK
25.0LAUREL OAK
13.0LAUREL OAK
15.0LAUREL OAK

16.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
14.0LAUREL OAK
26.0LAUREL OAK
15.0LAUREL OAK
24.0LAUREL OAK
16.0
14.0LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK 64.0
13.0
15.0
22.0

LIVE OAK 38.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0

13.0
LIVE OAK 23.0
LIVE OAK 16.0
LIVE OAK 25.0

15.0
SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA 17.0

LIVE OAK 15.0
12.0LAUREL OAK
16.0LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK 15.0
WATER OAK 14.0

33.0LAUREL OAK
SWEETGUM 13.0
SWEETGUM 13.0

LIVE OAK 33.0
LIVE OAK 63.0
LIVE OAK 28.0
LIVE OAK 47.0
LIVE OAK 45.0

CABBAGE PALM 12.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0

14.0LAUREL OAK
RED MAPLE 23.0

72 16.0CABBAGE PALM
CABBAGE PALM 13.0

AMERICAN ELM 13.0
75 24.0LAUREL OAK
76 RED MAPLE 15.0

24.0LAUREL OAK

RED MAPLE

LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK

LIVE OAK

79

87

89
90

93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102

113

114

117

126
127
128

132

136
137
138
139
140
141
147
149

78

103
104

106

116

135
134

15.0

33.0

AMERICAN ELM

80 RED MAPLE 23.0
23.0LAUREL OAK

LIVE OAK 20.0
LIVE OAK 54.0

16.0LAUREL OAK
RED MAPLE 14.0

27.0
13.0

56.0
LIVE OAK 28.0

24.0

LIVE OAK 37.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0

LAUREL OAK 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 13.0
CABBAGE PALM 14.0
CABBAGE PALM 12.0

19.0
LIVE OAK 27.0
LIVE OAK 23.0

LIVE OAK 25.0

LIVE OAK 80.0
LIVE OAK 27.0

LAUREL OAK 19.0
LAUREL OAK 24.0

LIVE OAK 37.0
LAUREL OAK 33.0
LIVE OAK 24.0

LIVE OAK 16.0
LAUREL OAK 18.0

LAUREL OAK 16.0

LIVE OAK 48.0
LAUREL OAK 23.0

LIVE OAK 13.0
LIVE OAK 13.0

16.0
LIVE OAK 26.0
LIVE OAK 26.0

LIVE OAK 26.0
LAUREL OAK 20.0

LAUREL OAK 18.0
LAUREL OAK 13.0
LAUREL OAK 12.0

SOUTHERN MAGNOLIA 14.0
LIVE OAK 45.0

LIVE OAK 15.0

LIVE OAK 34.0
LAUREL OAK 29.0

LIVE OAK 22.0
LIVE OAK 38.0
LIVE OAK 28.0

LAUREL OAK 14.0
LAUREL OAK 21.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0
LAUREL OAK 18.0
LAUREL OAK 22.0

LAUREL OAK 15.0
LAUREL OAK 16.0

LIVE OAK 24.0
LAUREL OAK 13.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 26.0

LAUREL OAK 18.0

LAUREL OAK 17.0
LAUREL OAK 30.0

152
153
154
155
156

105

LAUREL OAK 14.0
LAUREL OAK 21.0
LAUREL OAK 28.0
LAUREL OAK 27.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 13.0
LAUREL OAK 12.0
LAUREL OAK 15.0
LAUREL OAK 14.0

LAUREL OAK 14.0
LIVE OAK 16.0

164

165
163 LIVE OAK 24.0

LIVE OAK 48.0

CABBAGE PALM 12.0

CABBAGE PALM 13.0

TOTAL 2328

1,16655

118
81 13.0CABBAGE PALM

TREE CREDIT

16.0
6

34.0
9.67
5
5.33
24.0
4.33
4.67
8.67
5.67
10

4.33
4
5
4.67

48.0

1,497.32
4.33

5
4.33
25.0

5
20.0
54.0
56.0
28.0
37.0
4.33
4
4
4.33
4.33
4.33
4.33
4.67
4
19.0
27.0
23.0

25.0

5.33

6
4.33
4
4.67
45.0

15.0

22.0
38.0
28.0
4.67
7
4.67
6
7.33
4.67
6
4.67
7
9.33
9
4.67

4

REPLACE CREDIT
48.0
38.0
5.0
6.67
5.33
4.67
4.67
8.67
5.0
8.0
5.33
4.67
64.0
4.33
5.00
7.33
38.0
4.33
4.33
4.33
23.0
16.0
25.0
5.0
5.67
15.0
4.0
5.33
15.0
4.67
11.0
4.33
4.33
33.0
63.0
28.0
47.0
45.0
4.0
4.0
4.67
7.67
4.33
8.0
5.0
8.0

REMOVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBH (IN)TYPE REPLACE CREDIT

REMOVED TREES TABLE
ID# DBH (IN)TYPE REPLACE CREDIT

DBH
12.0
15.0
32.5
37.5
17.0
12.0
16.0
16.0
15.0
14.0
25.0
17.0
12.0
17.0
14.0
55.5
14.0
17.0
13.0
23.75
28.75
13.0
16.0
31.25
13.0
15.0
16.0
13.0
49.5
28.75
28.75
16.0
14.0

33.75
13.0

30
120
33.75
23.75
30.0
55.5
49.5
30.0
72.0
28.75
13.0
13.0
16.0
32.5
32.5
32.5
25.0
14.0
16.0
30.0
13.0

1,419.75

Page 29

Item #  2.



M
O

T 
IN

D
EX

M
A

I

Page 30

Item #  2.



·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

DEWATERING SUMMARY
GENERAL NOTES:

SFSF

SLOPE 0 TO 10%

SEDIMENT AND WATER

CONSTRUCTION FENCE

 FILTER BAG

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC

DOWNSLOPE

DOWNSLOPE

FILTER BAG

STAKES (TYP.)

DISCHARGE LINE
CLAMP

SH
EE

T 
FL

O
W

   DEWATERING. IF USED FILTER BAGS SHALL BE INSTALLED AS SPECIFIED BY THE MANUFACTURER OR
   AS MODIFIED BY NOTE 2.

   SITE CONDITIONS.

2" X 2" STAKES
OR REBAR

(TYP.)

IF FILTER BAG IS
USED, PLACE FILTER
BAG ON GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC TO PREVENT

PUNCTURING

TYPICAL PIT DEWATERING PLAN & PROFILE  DEWATERING BAG DETAIL

ER
O

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
D

ET
AI

LS

M
A

I

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE EC1
N.T.S

TYPE III SILT FENCE EC2
N.T.S

WATTLE INLET PROTECTION EC3
N.T.S

TURBIDITY BARRIER EC4
N.T.S

Page 31

Item #  2.



G
EN

ER
AL

 D
ET

AI
LS

M
A

I

CONCRETE SIDEWALK DETAIL

18" STANDARD CURB & GUTTER DETAIL (REVERSE PITCH)

SD1
N.T.S

SD4
N.T.S

WHEELCHAIR RAMP IN SIDEWALK SD7
N.T.S

STOP SIGN SD8
N.T.S

WHEELCHAIR RAMP IN SIDEWALK AT CURB RETURN SD9
N.T.S

PARKING PAINT STRIPPING SD10
N.T.S

TYPICAL PAVEMENT SECTION SD11
N.T.S

PRECAST CONCRETE WHEEL STOP SD12
N.T.S

VALLEY CURB SD16
N.T.S

STOP BAR SD18
N.T.S

HEADER CURB SD39
N.T.S

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN SD15
N.T.S

Page 32

Item #  2.



G
EN

ER
AL

 D
ET

AI
LS

M
A

I

DETECTABLE WARNING DETAIL SD26
N.T.S

CONNECT TO EXISTING PAVEMENT SD34
N.T.S

CONCRETE PAVEMENT SECTION SD36
N.T.S

PARKING STALL PAVER DETAIL SD5
N.T.S

Page 33

Item #  2.



W
AT

ER
 S

ER
VI

C
E 

D
ET

AI
LS

M
A

I

METER BOX (SIZE PER
INTENDED APPLICATION)

METER BOX SUPPORT BRICK
(TYP. ABOUT FOUR SIDES)

METER BOX SUPPORT DETAIL

ONCE FINAL ROAD GRADING IS COMPLETE, LOWER
SERVICES BY CUTTING OFF RISER 10" TO 12" BELOW
FINAL GRADE AND INSTALL 90° BEND, NIPPLE
AND LW BALL VALVE AT THAT ELEVATION. SET

WATER SERVICE MARKER POST

METER BOX OVER ENTIRE HORIZONTAL SECTION OF
SERVICE LINE FROM LAST 90° BEND TO THE END
OF THE CURB STOP. BOX TO BE REPOSITIONED
WHEN THE METER IS INSTALLED. MARKER POST
TO BE INSTALLED ADJACENT TO AND LOCATED
AT THE MID SECTION OF THE METER BOX.

10
" T

O
 1

2"

METER BOX

ABOUT FOUR SIDES
BOX SUPPORT (TYP.)
BRICK FOR METER

PAINTED BLUE

FENCE POST
6'-6" LONG, TREATED

REPOSITION OF METER BOX AFTER
INSTALLATION OF METER (BY OTHERS)

WATER SERVICE

BRICK FOR METER
BOX SUPPORT (TYP.)
ABOUT FOUR SIDES

3'
-6

"
3'

-0
"

1-
5/

8"
1-

5/
8"

12
"

16-1/4"
14-1/2"
11-3/4"

3"

4"

METER BOX & SOLID BLUE LID

SERVICE SADDLE
(SEE NOTE #2)

45°

3'
-6

"

NOTES

1.  SEE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS APPROVED MATERIALS MANUAL AND SYSTEM DETAILS FOR
REQUIREMENTS.

2.  SINGLE BAND SADDLES MAYBE UTILIZED ON NEW 1" WATER SERVICES WHICH ARE INSTALLED ON A DRY
10" SIZE OR SMALLER WATER MAIN (NEW WATER MAIN CONSTRUCTION). FOR WET TAPS OR WATER MAINS
12" SIZE AND LARGER, A DOUBLE BAND SADDLE IS REQUIRED.

3.  NO OPEN CUT UNDER ROADWAY PAVING ALLOWED UNLESS THE ROADWAY IS BEING RECONSTRUCTED OR
IF DIRECTED OTHERWISE BY CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS. CONSTRUCT POLY LINE WITH 36" (MIN.) COVER
UNDER ROADWAYS. THE POLY WATER SERVICE LINE SHALL BE SAME SIZE AS THE METER (3/4" MINIMUM)
AND BE INSTALLED PERPENDICULAR TO THE MAIN AND NOT EXCEED 100LF UNLESS  OTHERWISE APPROVED
BY CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS.

4.  INSTALL PVC PLUG IN ALL CURB STOPS IF WATER SERVICE IS "NOT IN USE" (I.E.: IF NO METER IS
INSTALLED). IN ADDITION, INSTALL A 6', 6" P.T. FENCE POST (TOP PAINTED BLUE) 12" OFF SIDE OF METER
BOX. THE REMOVAL OR TRANSFER OF A WATER SERVICE SHALL INCLUDE BRASS METER COUPLINGS (HEX ON
BARREL TYPE).

5.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT OF THE BOXES, METERS
OR ELECTRONIC DEVICES IF DAMAGED BY THE CONTRACTOR DURING THE CONSTRUCTION PERIOD.

6.  METER BOX AND TOP SHALL BE CLEAR OF ALL DEBRIS TO ALLOW FULL ACCESS TO BOX (I.E., NO DIRT,
TRASH OR OTHER DEBRIS PLACED ON TOP OF BOX).

7.  LOCATE WIRING REQUIRED ON ALL LONG AND SHORT SERVICES.

WATER SERVICE DETAIL- 2" AND SMALLER METER

LOCATE WIRE END

SET CURB STOP AS CLOSE TO
WALL AS POSSIBLE (2" MAX)

WATER SERVICE MARKER
REQUIRED FOR NEW
DEVELOPMENT AREAS
(SEE NOTE #4)

SET AT FINAL GRADE
(NOTE #6)

METER BOX & COVER
(NOTE #1)

GCS METER

POLYETHYLENE WATER
SERVICE LINE
(100LF MAX., NOTE #3)

SET METER ON UNDISTURBED
OR COMPACTED SOIL

DISTRIBUTION MAIN

ACCEPTABLE RANGE FOR
TAPS IS 0°-45°

10
" M

IN

CURB STOP

METER COUPLINGS

LOCATE WIRE
ALONG PIPE

CORPORATION STOP

R    O    A    D    W    A     Y

P/L P/L

3/4" POLY

2" POLY TUBING

4" G.V. (MIN)

5 OR MORE SERVICES (SEE NOTE #5)
GANG WATER SERVICES

R/W

P/L P/L

R/W

3 OR 4 SERVICES (SEE NOTE #5)

SINGLE WATER SERVICE
GANG WATER SERVICES

DOUBLE WATER SERVICE

1'

1'1'

R/W: RIGHT OF WAY LINE
P/L: PROPERTY LINE

2" POLY TUBING

WATER MAIN

15' MAX

A LOCATE WIRE SHALL BE PLACED ON SERVICES

1'

1'

2' MAX (SEE NOTE #4)

20' MAX

WATER SERVICE INSTALLATIONS 2" AND SMALLER METER

NOTES

1.  THE SKETCHES ABOVE INDICATE TYPICAL WATER SERVICE AND METER BOX LOCATIONS. ACTUAL LOCATIONS OF BOXES MAY VARY SLIGHTLY ACCORDING TO FIELD
CONDITIONS ENCOUNTERED. TYPICALLY, THE METER BOX SHALL BE LOCATED 1.0' OFF OF THE R/W LINE.

2.  UNLESS SPECIFIED OTHERWISE BY THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, THE METER BOX SHALL BE LOCATED 1.0' OFF OF THE R/W LINE, AND 1.0' FOOT INSIDE OF
THE PROLONGATION OF ONE OF THE SIDE PROPERTY LINES. IF A CONFLICT EXISTS WITH OTHER UTILITIES, THE METER BOX MAY BE ADJUSTED TO FOUR FEET (MAX.)
INSIDE PROPERTY LINES (IN LIEU OF 1.0' FEET). UNLESS APPROVED OTHERWISE BY THE CITY, THE WATER METER BOX SHALL BE LOCATED IN NON-TRAFFIC AREAS
(NOT IN SIDEWALKS OR DRIVEWAYS). IF AN UNAPPROVED METER BOX IS IDENTIFIED BY THE CITY, THEN THE CONTRACTOR OR CUSTOMER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
THE COST OF RELOCATING ANY METER BOX WHICH IS LOCATED IN THE SIDEWALK OR DRIVEWAY OR THE COST TO PROVIDE THE CORRECT METER BOX. THE CITY SHALL
APPROVE ALL DEVIATIONS TO THE ABOVE PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

3.  IF DRAINAGE OR OTHER EASEMENT IS LOCATED BETWEEN LOTS, METER BOXES SHALL BE LOCATED AT THE EASEMENT LINE BUT OUTSIDE THE EASEMENT AREA.

4.  FOR SINGLE SERVICES, THE HORIZONTAL DISTANCE (PERPENDICULAR TO THE MAIN) BETWEEN THE SERVICE'S SADDLE AND THE METER BOX SHALL BE 2 FEET
MAXIMUM. FOR DOUBLE 3/4 ” SERVICES, THE 2 ” POLY MAIN SHALL BE LOCATED CENTERED BETWEEN THE TWO METER BOXES. LOCATE WIRE IS REQUIRED ON ALL
SERVICES. THE WIRE SHALL RUN FROM THE METER BOX  TO THE MAIN (WITH NO CONNECTION TO MAIN WIRE WITH THE LAST 24 INCHES STRIPPED OF
INSULATION/BARE WIRE AS GROUND). ALL EXCEPTIONS TO THIS REQUIREMENT MUST BE APPROVED BY THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS. THIS WILL ASSIST IN
LOCATING EXISTING SERVICE LINES IN THE FUTURE.

5.  GANG WATER SERVICES: FOR 3 OR 4 SERVICES IN ONE AREA, A DUCTICLE IRON PIPE (D.I.P.) WATER MAIN EXTENSION W/LOCATE WIRE MAY BE UTILIZED ON EITHER
SHORT-SIDE OR LONG-SIDE SERVICES WHERE SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS. LOCATE WIRE SHALL EXTEND FROM ONE METER BOX TO CURB STOP AT WATER MAIN. FOR 5
OR MORE SERVICES IN ONE AREA, A WATER MAIN EXTENSION W/LOCATE WIRE MAY BE UTILIZED ON EITHER SHORT-SIDE OR LONG-SIDE SERVICES WHERE SHOWN ON
THE DRAWINGS (TAPS STAGGERED AND AT 2 FEET ON CENTER (MIN). FOR WATER SUPPLY HEADERS WHERE 5 OR MORE TAPS ARE CONSTRUCTED, THE HEADER PIPE
SHALL BE 4" AT A MINIMUM. EXAMPLE: CONSTRUCT A 4" MAIN D.I. CROSSING THE STREET FOR 5 RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS, UTILIZING 4" G.V., 4" PIPE, 4"X1" SADDLES
AND 1" CURB STOPS (NO GLUED TEE FITTINGS). THE 4" OR LARGER D.I.P. WATER MAIN MUST BE SIZED AND DESIGNED BY THE ENGINEER.

6.  ALL COMMERCIAL WATER SERVICES SHALL BE 2" POLYETHYLENE PIPING CONNECTED TO 2" CURB STOP IN METER BOX, UNLESS OTHERWISE APPROVED BY THE CITY.

3/4" POLY TUBING
w/"Y" FITTING

METER w/
CURB STOP

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

SINGLE LONG-SIDE WATER
SERVICE 2" POLY TUBING

2" SADDLE w/
CORPORATION STOP

1'

EASEMENT w/
ELECTRIC BOX
OR DRAINAGE
EASEMENT
(NOTE #3)

METER BOX
LOCATION
(NEAR ELEC.
BOX, NOTE #2)

SHORT-SIDE WATER
SERVICE 1" POLY TUBING

SHORT-SIDE SERVICE
SADDLES WITH 24" MIN.
SEPARATION (TYP.)

3/4" MIP PACK
JOINT COUPLING
MULTI-SERVICE "Y"
(2" FIP INLET AND 3 OR
4  3/4" FIP OUTLET)
2" MIP PACK JOINT
COUPLING

P/L

1'

4" D.I. MAIN (MIN)
WHERE MULTIPLE
TAPS ARE
CONSTRUCTED

1'

1'
10' UTILITY EASEMENT

SHORT-SIDE
WATER SERVICE
1" POLY TUBING METER BOX (TYP)

METER
BOX (TYP)

1'

FLUSHING VALVE BELOW GRADE

NOTES

1.    PIPE SHALL BE POLYETHYLENE.  FITTINGS SHALL BE BRASS.
2.    THE 2" CURB STOP SHALL BE ALL BRONZE.  FITTINGS SHALL BE BRASS.
3.    CANNOT BE PLACED UNDER CONCRETE OR PAVEMENT.
4.    PLACE 2 FEET PAST LAST WATER MAIN SERVICE CONNECTION.

12" CRUSHED ROCK OR
GRAVEL BELOW BOX

2" 90° BRASS COMPRESSION
FITTING ELBOWS (TYP.)

TAPPED PLUG
(IF NECESSARY)

WATER
MAIN

2" BALL VALVE

2" POLY

LOCATE WIRE
(SEE NOTE #4)

FINISHED GRADE

LOCATE WIRE END

GCS STANDARD WATER
METER BOX FOR 1" METER
w/ HEAVY DUTY IRON LID

2" CURB STOP - FIP
(SEE NOTE #2)

2" POLY WITH BRASS
FITTING CLOSE NIPPLE

2" BRASS 90°
ELBOW & PLUG

LOCATE WIRE BOX

LOCATE WIRE BOX UTILIZING METER BOX

NOTES

1.  LOCATE WIRE SHALL ENTER THE VALVE BOX THROUGH A "V" CUT IN THE 6" PVC RISER PIPE.

WATER MAIN

LOCATING WIRE (ROUTED IN PIPE)

CONNECT WIRES TOGETHER WITH
ELECTRICAL WIRE NUT
(PROVIDE 12" LONG PIGTAIL ENDS)

DUCT TAPE OR ZIPPER TYPE
PLASTIC TIE STRAPS

2" PVC RISER PIPE

PROVIDE 3" THICK
GRAVEL BOTTOM

LOCATE WIRE BOX UTILIZING VALVE BOX

WATER MAIN

LOCATE WIRE

BOX ACCESS (SEE NOTE #1)

CONNECT WIRE TOGETHER
WITH ELECTRICAL WIRE NUT.
PROVIDE 12" PIG TAIL

VALVE BOX

DUCT TAPE OR ZIPPER TYPE
PLASTIC TIE STRAPS

3/4" POLY TUBING

2" SADDLE w/
CORPORATION STOP

(TYP. FOR LONG-SIDE)

1" SADDLE w/
CORPORATION STOP

(TYP. FOR SHORT-SIDE)

SINGLE WATER SERVICE

INSTALL CO-POLYMER METER BOX WITH
HEAVY-DUTY IRON LID (PAINT TOP OF LID)
(POSITION BOX PARALLEL WITH MAIN)

1' 1'

Page 34

Item #  2.



SE
W

ER
 S

YS
TE

M
 D

ET
AI

LS

M
A

I

SHALLOW SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

SERVICE CONNECTION DETAIL
2" SEWAGE FORCE MAIN MANIFOLD

2.   2" H.D. BRONZE BALL VALVE CORP STOP (FULL OPENING)

AND IS TO ADJUST ACCORDING TO HIS FINDING.
NOTE: ENGINEER TO VERIFY THAT THE SIZE OF SERVICE IS ADEQUATE

10.  2" SCH.40 CAP (S)
9.  RUSSELL C.I. VALVE BOX W/ "SEWER" ON LID
8.   2" TRU-UNION PVC BALL CHECK VALVE
7.   2" BRONZE BALL VALVE W/ LOCKING WING (SEE TABLE ON WATER SHEET)
6.   2", 90° SCH.80 BEND (S x T)
5.   2", 90° SCH.80 BEND (S x S)
4.   2" SCH.80 PIPE
3.   2" SCH.80 FEMALE ADAPTER (S x FIPT)

1.   STAINLESS STEEL TAPPING SADDLE

31 2

EXISTING FORCE MAIN

MATERIAL LIST

4 5 5

4

6

10

7 8

SECTION  VIEW

VA
R

IE
S

APPROVED BY THE CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY.

CONCRETE CAP FOR SEWER PIPES

REQUIRED WHERE TOP OF SEWER PIPE IS WITHIN 2'
OF FINISHED GRADE UNLESS ALTERNATE DETAIL IS

SPRINGLINE
OF PIPE 6"

3000 P.S.I. CONCRETE

SEWER PIPE

6"

4 10

4

6

VARIES

6"

FINISHED GRADE

2'

BE 1" MIN. THICKNESS OVER BRICK
SURFACE FINISH. GROUT SURFACE SHALL
WITH BRICK AND TROWEL TO A SMOOTH
D.O.T. CLASS I, TYPE II CEMENT GROUT

SOLVENT WELDED JOINTS

UPSTREAM IN ACCORDANCE W/ MFGR'S.
NEW PVC FORCE MAIN TO BE RESTRAINED

TYP. FORCE MAIN CONNECTION TO MANHOLE

36
" M

IN
.

8"

USF 170E MANHOLE FRAME & COVER

1/2"/FT

MIN.

1/2"/FT

8"

STANDARD PRECAST CO. (AGRU SURE GRIP) OR APPROVED EQUAL.
BY UTILITY) ARE TO HAVE POLYETHYLENE LINER AS MANUFACTURED BY

1.  THIS MANHOLE AND THE NEXT TWO MANHOLES DOWNSTREAM (AS REQUIRED

EXIST. EFFLUENT
MATCH SPRING LINE OF RECOMMENDATION.

EXIST. M.H.

EXIST. EFFLUENT EXIST. INFLUENT

FORM NEW CHANNEL

NEW FORCE MAIN

GROUT (SHOWN)

SECTION  VIEW

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

1/2"/FT

BE 1" MIN. THICKNESS OVER BRICK
SURFACE FINISH. GROUT SURFACE SHALL
WITH BRICK AND TROWEL TO A SMOOTH
D.O.T. CLASS I, TYPE II CEMENT GROUT

1/2"/FT

MIN.

TYPE II LEAN CEMENT
CCUA APPROVED BOOT W\

TYPE II CEMENT
4000 P.S.I. CONCRETE
LATEST EDITION 
PER ASTM C 478
SECTION AND SIDEWALLS

IS WITHIN LIMITS OF PAVEMENT
FINISHED GRADE WHEN MANHOLE

PRECAST ECCENTRIC CONE

USF 170E MANHOLE FRAME & COVER

IS OUTSIDE LIMITS OF PAVEMENT
FINISHED GRADE WHEN MANHOLE

8"

3"

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE DIFFERENCE IN INVERT ELEVATION WITHOUT INTERNAL DROP CONNECTION IS 24".

CONNECTION TO MANHOLE

NOTE: FOR ADDITIONAL MANHOLE SPECIFICATIONS, SEE "SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE" DETAIL THIS SHEET.

TYPICAL GRAVITY SEWER DROP PIPE

6"
 M

IN
.

SEE NOTE

IS WITHIN LIMITS OF PAVEMENT
FINISHED GRADE WHEN MANHOLE

USF 170E MANHOLE FRAME & COVER

SPRING LINE

2'-0"

BE 1" MIN. THICKNESS OVER BRICK
SURFACE FINISH. GROUT SURFACE SHALL
WITH BRICK AND TROWEL TO A SMOOTH
D.O.T. CLASS I, TYPE II CEMENT GROUT

FINISHED GRADE WHEN MANHOLE
IS OUTSIDE LIMITS OF PAVEMENT

COMPACTION IN ROADWAYS AROUND MANHOLES
COMPACTION SHALL BE IN 12" LIFTS. THE LAST 18" WILL BE LIMEROCK,
2' AROUND MANHOLE TOP COMPACTED TO 98% MAXIMUM DENSITY WITH
LBR OF 100 TO THE FINISHED LIMEROCK GRADE. NO BRICK ADJUSTMENTS
WILL BE ALLOWED IN ROADWAYS (ONLY GRADE RINGS WILL BE ACCEPTED).

3" FINISHED GRADE WHEN MANHOLE
IS OUTSIDE LIMITS OF PAVEMENT

FLOOR DRAIN WITH STRAINER DETAIL

FLOOR DRAIN, ZURN CO.
MODEL NO. Z-415B WITH
"Y" SEDIMENT BUCKET
MODIFIED W/ 40 MESH
S.S. SCREEN OR J.R. SMITH

FINISHED FLOOR

STAINLESS STEEL SCREEN

MANHOLE INVERTS DESIGN CRITERIA
FALL ACROSS MANHOLE FROM INFLUENT TO EFFLUENT OF
IN LINE PIPES SHALL BE 0.05 FT. MIN. INFLUENT TO
EFFLUENT PIPES THAT ARE AT AN ANGLE SHALL BE 0.10

PIPES OF DIFFERENT SIZES SHALL MATCH CROWNS

NOTE:
FACILITIES WITH FLOOR DRAINS AND WITHOUT A GREASE TRAP SHALL INSTALL THIS MODEL
FLOOR DRAIN AND ONLY WITH PRIOR APPROVAL FROM THE CLAY COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY.

NOTE:

3.  SIZE OF DROP PIPE CONNECTION TO MANHOLE SHALL BE DESIGNED
   BY THE PROJECT ENGINEER. MINIMUM SIZE SIZE SHALL BE 4".
   CONNECTION AND DROP PIPE SHALL BE SIZED TO REDUCE THE
   VELOCITY AND PREVENT "SPLASHOVER" WITHIN THE MANHOLE.
   5'-0" MINIMUM DISTANCE FROM MANHOLE TO REDUCER MAY BE
   INCREASED TO ASSIST IN THIS VELOCITY REDUCTION.

5'-0" MIN. REDUCER
INCREASE PIPE SIZE TO

DECREASE VELOCITY (4" MIN.)

2005-A-NB W/ SQ-2-2698

0.05' FALL FLOWFLOW

FLOW

FLOW

FL
OW

FL
OW

FLOW0.10' FALL
0.10'

FA
LL

FA
LL

0.10'

ELEVATION DIFFERENCE
ACROSS MANHOLE

STRAIGHT THROUGH FLOW

90° OR LESS FLOW

STRAIGHT THROUGH FLOW AND

90° OR LESS FLOW

2.  IF CONNECTION IS BEING MADE TO AN EXISTING MANHOLE, THAT MANHOLE AND
    THE NEXT TWO MANHOLES DOWNSTREAM (AS REQUIRED BY UTILITY), SHALL BE
    LINED WITH "SPECTRASHIELD" OR APPROVED EQUAL.

6" SEWER SERVICE

4" 45° BEND

N.T.S.

THICK x 1'-6" Sq.
CONCRETE PAD 4"

CLEAN OUT PLUG

CLEANOUT DETAIL
SEWER MAIN

STANDARD STUBOUT
SURVEY ACCESSIBLE CLEANOUT

TEE SIZE VARIES

CONCRETE PAD 4"
THICK x 1'-6" Sq.

N.T.S.

PLUG

CLEAN OUT PLUG

FROM MANHOLE. MINIMUM SIZE SHALL BE 6" PIPE
AND CLEANOUT PLUG. CORRECT INVERT AND
ELEVATIONS SHALL BE INCLUDED W/ THE AS-BUILT

FOR A SEWER STUBOUT REGARDLESS OF DISTANCE

 DRAWING INFORMATION.

SADDLE MANHOLE DETAIL

2'-0"

NOTE: 1) FOR ADDITIONAL MANHOLE SPECIFICATIONS, SEE "SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE" DETAIL THIS SHEET.
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE DIFFERENCE IN INVERT ELEVATION WITHOUT INTERNAL DROP CONNECTION IS 24".

SADDLE MANHOLE DETAIL SECTION

D.O.T. CLASS I, TYPE II
CEMENT GROUT WITH BRICK
AND TROWEL TO A SMOOTH
SURFACE FINISH. GROUT
SURFACE SHALL BE 1" MIN.
THICKNESS OVER BRICK

IF A SINGLE DROP OF 8" OR
SMALLER PIPE M.H. DIA. IS TO
BE 4'-0". IF MORE THAN ONE
DROP OR PIPE SIZE IS  GREATER
THAN 8", M.H. DIA. IS TO BE 5'-0" MIN.

AND UP TO 30° OR LESS FLOW

SEE "ELEVATION DIFFERENCE ACROSS MANHOLE" THIS SHEET.

SEE "ELEVATION DIFFERENCE ACROSS MANHOLE" THIS SHEET.
EFFLUENT PIPES THAT ARE AT AN ANGLE SHALL BE 0.10
IN LINE PIPES SHALL BE 0.05 FT. MIN. INFLUENT TO
FALL ACROSS MANHOLE FROM INFLUENT TO EFFLUENT OF

MANHOLE INVERTS DESIGN CRITERIA

SEE "ELEVATION DIFFERENCE ACROSS MANHOLE" THIS SHEET.

12.  1/2" STAINLESS STEEL NIPPLE W/ BALL VALVE & PLUG
11.  2" TEE W/ 2 X 1/2" BUSHING

2.   2" H.D. BRONZE BALL VALVE CORP STOP (FULL OPENING)

AND IS TO ADJUST ACCORDING TO HIS FINDING.
NOTE: ENGINEER TO VERIFY THAT THE SIZE OF SERVICE IS ADEQUATE

10.  2" SCH.40 CAP (S)
9.  RUSSELL C.I. VALVE BOX W/ "SEWER" ON LID
8.   2" TRU-UNION PVC BALL CHECK VALVE
7.   (3) 2" BRONZE BALL VALVE CURB STOP W/ LOCKING WING (SEE TABLE ON WATER SHEET)
6.   2", 90° SCH.80 BEND (S x T)
5.   2", 90° SCH.80 BEND (S x S)
4.   2" SCH.80 PIPE
3.   2" SCH.80 FEMALE ADAPTER (S x FIPT)

1.   STAINLESS STEEL TAPPING SADDLE

321

EXISTING FORCE MAIN

MATERIAL LIST

4 5 5

4

6

7 9

4

4

6

" SEWAGE FORCE MAIN MANIFOLD
SERVICE CONNECTION / WITH PRESSURE GAUGE FITTING /

FOR LOW PRESSURE RECEIVING SYSTEMS
FOR CREATING ARTIFICIAL HEAD PRESSURE

TOP VIEW

NO BRICK OR HDPE FOR ADJUSTMENTS,
CONCRETE ADJUSTMENTS ONLY

TAPPING OR CUTTING IN SERVICE LATERAL

SADDLE TEE W/ STAINLESS
STEEL BANDS

PVC DOUBLE BELL
REPAIR COUPLING

TEE WYE

TO EXISTING SEWER MAIN

#57 STONE BACKFILL TIGHTLY COMPACTED
TO SPRING LINE OF SEWER MAIN

MIN. 6" #57 UNDER BOTTOM OF
SEWER MAIN AND FITTING,
COMPACTED TO GRADE PRIOR TO
INSTALLING TEE WYE, AND REPAIR
COUPLING STONE BACKFILL TO
EXTEND MIN. OF 1.5' BEYOND ALL
FITTINGS, AND UP TO SPRING LINE
OF SEWER MAIN. COVER ALL OF
THE ROCK BEDDING MATERIAL W/
FILTER FABRIC BEFORE CONTINUING
BACKFILL. EXCAVATION TO BE
DEWATERED AND DRY DURING ALL
PHASES OF THE TAPPING OR
CUTTING IN NEW WYE.

FOR MEDIUM TO HIGH PRESSURE
CONNECTION SYSTEMS

FLOW CHANNEL

WYE

TO CITY SEWER MAIN
4" SEWER SERVICE
FROM RESIDENCE

6"x4" REDUCER

OMNI LOCATOR BALL
(24" MIN COVER)

MANHOLE FRAME AND COVER SHALL BE USF CO. MOD. NO. 170E

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE FRAME     COVER&

22 1/4"

6"

23 3/4"

S-1

Page 35

Item #  2.



D
R

AI
N

AG
E 

D
ET

AI
LS

M
A

I

MITERED END SECTION GD1
N.T.S.

PRECAST TYPE "C" INLET GD2
N.T.S.

Page 36

Item #  2.



PU
M

P 
ST

AT
IO

N
 D

ET
AI

LS

M
A

I

PUMP STATION WITH VALVE PIT - ELEVATION

GATE DETAILCHAIN LINK FENCE    CORNER POST DETAIL

WATER SERVICE

WETWELL AND VALVE VAULT PLAN VIEW

VENT PIPE DETAIL

POWER RISER DETAIL

ORIENTATION WITH UTILITY
PRIOR TO INSTALLATION)

(NOTE: PIPE SIZES, WETWELL SIZES AND INSIDE DIMENSIONS OF VALVE PIT TO BE VERIFIED BY ENGINEER AND MODIFIED AS NECESSARY.)

POLYETHYLENE LINER AS MANUFACTURED
AND INSTALLED BY TAYLOR PRECAST CO.
OR EQUAL.

SEE NOTE THIS SHEET
FOR DFS SCADA
SPECIFICATIONS

 14.70 FIN. GRADE

2.  ALL FLANGES TO BE FACTORY MADE. RESTRAINED FLANGE
ADAPTORS MAY BE USED OUTSIDE OF WETWELL ONLY.
USE EBAA CO. "MEGA FLANGE-FLANGE ADAPTOR" NO.
2100 OR UTILITY APPROVED EQUAL. 316 S.S. FASTENERS
REQUIRED.

TO BE DETERMINED FOR EACH SPECIFIC PUMP STATION INSTALLATION.
DEPENDING ON THE SPECIFIC APPLICATION. ALSO PIPE SIZES AND SPACING DIMENSIONS ARE
USED WILL BE MUTUALLY AGREED TO BY ENGINEER AND UTILITY AT THE TIME OF DESIGN
NOTE TO ENGINEER: THE TYPE OF PUMP STATION ALLOWED AND THE SPECIFIC PUMPS TO BE

POLYETHYLENE LINED PRECAST CONCRETE
TOP SLAB TO BE OF 4,000 P.S.I. CONCRETE
WITH HATCH OPENING CENTERED IN WETWELL
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. CONCRETE AND
REINFORCING TO BE CERTIFIED BY A FLORIDA
REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER.
CONCRETE TOP SLAB TO BE DESIGNED FOR
H-20 TRAFFIC (WHEEL) LOADING

SUBMERSIBLE SEWAGE PUMPS TO BE LOCATED
ALONG CENTERLINE OF WETWELL UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED

INFLUENT LINE, SEE SITE PLAN FOR LOCATION

PERMANENT POLYETHYLENE LINED SUBMERSIBLE

FR
O

N
T 

O
F 

PA
N

EL

FILTER FABRIC TO PREVENT
SOIL MIGRATION INTO VOIDS
OF THE #57 STONE

PIPE SUPPORT DETAIL

9"x 9"x 1/4" GALV. PL.

2'x 2'x 6" CONC. PAD

CONDUCTORS AND CONDUIT
TO PANEL AND GROUND RODS

WEATHERPROOF
JUNCTION BOX

FINISH GRADE

2'x2' SQUARE
CONC. COLLAR

12
"

4'
-0

"
15

'-0
"

GROUND LUG

C
O

N
C

R
ET

E 
EN

C
AS

EM
EN

T
BU

R
IA

L 
D

EP
TH

 F
O

R
L.

S.
 C

O
N

D
U

IT

3/4" 'T' CONDULETTE

500 WATT QUARTZ LIGHT
N.C.I. HQ 500 WL

3/4" RIGID COUPLING

3/4" RIGID 90°, LONG RADIUS

2" RIGID COUPLING W/ 2" TO 3/4"
REDUCING BUSHING

2" RIGID CONDUIT

18"

SITE LIGHT STANDARD DETAIL

BOLT TO CONC. BASE
W/ 4, 304 S.S. BOLTS

3"

2.5"
CAST IRON LOCK NUT
NIPPLE FOR ADJUSTMENT

CURVED SUPPORT PLATE
WELDED TO 2.5" SUPPORT
PIPE (GALV. AFTER WELDING)

CHECK VALVE

316 STAINLESS STEEL PIPE (TYP.)

SECURE PIPE TO ANGLE IRON
WITH 3/8" 316 S.S. U-BOLT,
NUTS AND WASHERS

INSTALL 3"x 3"x 1/4"
316 S.S. ANGLE IRON

CONCRETE WETWELL

S E C T I O N   A - A

P L A N

3/8" "HILTI" TYPE ANCHOR BOLTS

1/4" , 316 STAINLESS STEEL PLATE

PIPE ATTACHMENT TO WALL DETAIL

PIPE SUPPORT
SEE DETAIL
THIS SHEET

SEE NOTE 11, THIS SHEET

SEE NOTE 11, THIS SHEET

AS REQ'D. BY PUMP
MANUFACTURER

6"
 M

IN
.

ELEVATIONS HAVE BEEN MET.

(PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS SIGNATURE)

WETWELL, BOTTOM OF CONTROL PANELS, GENERATOR RECEPTACLE
AND GENERATOR SLAB ARE ALL ABOVE THE 100 YR. FLOOD
ELEVATION. THEREFORE, I DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE

11.   ENGINEERS SHALL PROVIDE VERIFICATION THAT THE TOP OF THE

     VAULT SHALL BE 316 GRADE, SCH.40 STAINLESS STEEL. THIS
     INCLUDES ALL FITTINGS WITHIN THIS PRESCRIBED LIMIT.

5.   ALL DISCHARGE PIPING FROM THE PUMPS THROUGH TO THE VALVE

BYPASS PIPE

TYPICAL PERMANENT PUMP STATION SITE PLAN

4"Ø x 8' SCH.40 ALUMINUM
POSTS FOR CONTROL PANEL.

SECURE PANEL TO POSTS W/
"KINDORF CO." MOUNTING
CHANNELS OR APPROVED 

EQUAL. BURY POSTS 2' MIN.

PREWIRED DUPLEX PUMP CONTROL PANEL
SEE ELECTRICAL DETAIL SHEET.

METER/DISCONNECT

TYPICAL DISCONNECT PANEL
 DETAIL
"A"

CYPRESS WALK PLACE

12.   ALL PUMP STATIONS SHALL BE CONTROLLED BY DATA FLOW SYSTEMS SCADA,
OR OTHERWISE APPROVED BY THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS.

Page 37

Item #  2.



 
 
 

 
RIVER OAKS OFFICE-WAREHOUSE 

TRAFFIC STUDY 
 
 
 
 

CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
 
 

November 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

Page 38

Item #  2.



BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 
3585 KORI ROAD 

JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32257 
(904) 886-2171    jwbuckholz@aol.com 

 
 

 
 

                           November 1, 2023 
 
 
Ms. Quoc H. Mai, P.E. 
MAI Engineering Services, Inc. 
2510 US 1 South / Suite D 
St. Augustine, Florida 32086 
 
Re:  New River Oaks Office-Warehouse Traffic Study 
 
 
Dear Ms. Roth: 
 
Attached is the new traffic study for the revised development.  If there are any questions or 
comments regarding this study, please contact me. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 

PRELIMINARY – FOR INTERNAL REVIEW ONLY 
 
 
 
Jeffrey W. Buckholz, P.E., PTOE 
Principal 
 
 
 

Page 39

Item #  2.



RIVER OAKS OFFICE-WAREHOUSE TRAFFIC STUDY   Page 1 

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

INTRODUCTION 

The revised River Oaks development will contain four buildings totaling 76,000 sf of commercial space.  
Building sizes will be 30,000 sf, 21,000 sf, 15,000 sf and 10,000 sf.  These buildings will be located on the 
south side of Cove Lane approximately ¼ mile west of the US 17/SR 16/Cooks Lane intersection in Clay 
County, Florida.  Two existing businesses will be relocated to the site.  Van Up-Fitter will occupy the 30,000 
sf building and River Oaks Outdoor will occupy the 15,000 sf building.  The 21,000 sf building will be 
composed of warehouse space whereas the 10,000 sf building will contain 5000 sf of warehouse space and 5000 
sf of office space. 

Access to the development will be provided via one full access driveway on Cooks Lane.  Cooks Lane is a two 
lane undivided major collector with a posted speed limit of 25 mph.  US 17 and SR 16 are both urban principal 
arterials with an FDOT access management classification of 3.  The posted speed limit on SR 16 and US 17 to 
the south of SR 16 is 45 mph while the posted speed limit on US 17 to the north of SR 16 is 45 mph northbound 
and 35 mph southbound. 

Figure 1 shows the site location and surrounding road network while Appendix A contains the proposed site 
plan.  The development is expected to be constructed and fully occupied by the end of 2026, therefore 2026 
was chosen as the design year for this study.   

EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Weekday peak period manual turning movement counts were conducted by Buckholz Traffic personnel 
during December of 2022 with school in session at the US 17/SR 16/Cove Lane intersection.  These counts, 
which are provided in Appendix B, were conducted during the weekday AM peak period (6:30 to 8:30 AM) 
and the weekday PM peak period (3:45 – 6:00 PM).  The data was recorded at 15-minute intervals and 
includes a separate tabulation for trucks and pedestrians.  Figure 2 graphically summarizes the AM and PM 
peak hour counts while Figure 3 summarizes the AM and PM peak period counts.   

Appendix C provides daily traffic volumes for four nearby FDOT traffic counting stations.  The current 
Average Daily Traffic (ADT) on Cooks lane is approximately 1600 vehicles per day.  Also included in 
Appendix C are the FDOT seasonal adjustment factors for Clay County. 

TRIP GENERATION 

Trip generation calculations for the warehouse and office space were carried out using the 11th edition of ITE's 
Trip Generation Manual and referencing land use codes 150 (Warehousing) and 710 (Office).  Tables 1 and 2 
contain the associated daily, AM peak hour, and PM peak hour trip generation calculations.  Trip generation 
calculations for the two relocated businesses are provided in Tables 3 and 4.  The calculations are based on 
client-provided activity data.  During an average weekday, the development is expected to generate 176 total 
trips (88 entering and 88 exiting) with 31 trips (23 entering and 8 exiting) occurring during the AM peak hour 
and 33 trips (8 entering and 25 exiting) occurring during the PM peak hour.  All of these trips will be new trips. 

Page 40

Item #  2.



RIVER OAKS OFFICE-WAREHOUSE TRAFFIC STUDY   Page 2 
 

 

  
 BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

 
 
SITE TRIP DISTRIBUTION AND TRAFFIC ASSIGNMENT 
 
Weekday AM and PM peak hour site trips were directionally distributed based on peak period turning movement 
counts and engineering judgment as shown in Figure 4. 
 
 
 
FUTURE TRAFFIC VOLUMES 
 
The expected weekday 2026 peak hour background (No Build) traffic volumes and total (Build) traffic volumes 
at intersections of interest are graphically depicted in Figures 5 and 6.  The No Build traffic volumes were 
obtained by multiplying the existing traffic volumes by the appropriate FDOT seasonal adjustment factor (1.00) 
and then by a median annual growth rate of 1.8%.  A linear regression analysis of recent FDOT daily traffic 
counts at nearby traffic counting stations was used to identify this rate (see graphs C-1, C-2, C-3 and C-4 in 
Appendix C).  The 2026 Build traffic volumes were obtained by adding the traffic generated by the new 
development to the 2026 No Build traffic volumes. 
 
 
 
TURN LANE EVALUATION 
 
A formal analysis was made to determine if a right turn lane is warranted on eastbound Cooks Lane at the new 
Site Driveway.  The methodology contained in NCHRP Report 279 was used to conduct this analysis.  As is 
indicated in Figure 7, right turn volumes into the site will not be high enough to warrant an exclusive right turn 
lane.  This result is supported by NCHRP Report 420 which requires 80 right turns per hour to warrant a right 
turn lane on a 2-lane roadway with a posted speed less than 45 mph. 
 
A formal analysis was also made to determine if an exclusive left turn lane is warranted on westbound Cooks 
Lane at the Site Drive.  The methodology contained in a paper written by M.D. Harmelink entitled: "Volume 
Warrants for Left Turn Storage Lanes at Unsignalized Grade Intersections" was used to conduct this evaluation.  
The results indicate that left turn volumes under 2026 Build conditions will not be high enough to warrant an 
exclusive left turn lane at this location.  The supporting analysis is provided in Figures 8 and 9.  
 
 
 
UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS 
 
The unsignalized Cooks Lane/Site Drive intersection was analyzed using the two-way stop control methodology 
contained in the 2023 version of the Highway Capacity Software.  Table 3 summarizes the capacity analysis 
results under 2026 Build conditions with the supporting calculations provided in Appendix D.  All minor 
movements at the Cooks Lane/Site Drive intersection are expected to operate at level of service A or better 
during both weekday peak hours with minimal queuing and a volume-to-capacity ratio of well less than one. 
 

Page 41

Item #  2.



RIVER OAKS OFFICE-WAREHOUSE TRAFFIC STUDY   Page 3 
 

 

  
 BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

 
 
SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS 
 
The signalized US 17/SR 16/Cooks Lane intersection was analyzed using the operational methodology 
contained in the 2023 version of the Highway Capacity Software.  The existing traffic signal timings are 
provided in Appendix E.  Table 4 summarizes the capacity analysis results with the supporting calculations 
provided in Appendix F.   
 
The US 17/SR 16/Cooks Lane intersection currently operates at level of service C during the weekday AM peak 
hour and level of service D during the PM peak hour and is expected to continue to operate at these levels of 
service under 2026 Build conditions.  With a more balanced set of timings implemented to even-out individual 
movement levels of service the overall intersection level of service under 2026 Build conditions is expected to 
be D for both weekday peak hours. 
 

Page 42

Item #  2.



FIGURE  1

SITE LOCATION

N.T.S.

S I T E

F

Y

A

P

O

P

O

TO

PALATKA

TO

I-295 &

JACKSONVILLE

T
O

S
T

.
 
A

U
G

U
S

T
I
N

E

FYA = FLASHING YELLOW ARROW

PO = PROTECTED ONLY LEFT TURN

Y

I

E

L

D

Page 43

Item #  2.



TRAFFIC
COUNTS

WEEKDAY PEAK HOURS

FIGURE 2

N.T.S.

6:45-7:45 AM US 17/
SR 16

COOKS
LANE

2
7
6

1
6

7
0
7

3

174

16

2
0
80

3
9
4

82

1

13

373

0

SR 16

1000

566

95

32

7
8
0

9
9
9

6
0
3

4
5
1

4:30-5:30 PM US 17/
SR 16

COOKS
LANE

4
3
0

1
7

4
1
3

4

200

84

1
6
63

5
3
7

27

0

40

880

2

SR 16

710

1168

69

104

1
4
5
7

9
6
0

7
0
6

6
3
2

US 17

US 17

Page 44

Item #  2.



TRAFFIC
COUNTS

WEEKDAY PEAK PERIODS

FIGURE 3

N.T.S.

6:30-8:30 AM US 17/
SR 16

COOKS
LANE

5
4
0

2
7

1
3
1
6

11

297

30

3
6
42

7
3
2

135

1

36

806

4

SR 16

3:45-6:00 PM US 17/
SR 16

COOKS
LANE

9
2
5

4
8

1
0
4
9

8

458

84

3
2
66

1
0
7
0

64

2

71

1813

2

SR 16

43%

1866

27%

1144

3
6

%

1
5

7
4

4
4

%

1
8

8
3

2
5

%

1
0

9
9

1
9

%

8
4

2

4%

175

2%

59

24%

1447

41%

2444

4
9

%

2
9

5
4

3
4

%

2
0

2
2

2
3

%

1
4

0
4

2
3

%

1
3

8
7

2%

137

4%

219

US 17

US 17

Page 45

Item #  2.



PM co 

US 17/ 
5ft 16 

3 

COOKS 
LANE 

4% 

6 

IT 
I £ 

[20%] 

J 

0 
2 % 

TOTAL TRIPS 
ENTER 
EXIT Mis 

J . 

E l 

^ t l — n I CO 1 * 

' ^ [80%] T \ 

ffi IS" ^ 

\ 1 -

J 41%1 
3* 5ft / 6 

1 6 
O S ) 

1*1 £ 
o 
CD 

• ico 

F I G U R E 4 ^ 

SITE T R A F F I C 

ASSIGNMENT X Buckholz Traffic h 
W E E K D A Y P E A K H O U R S 

Page 46

Item #  2.



US 17/ 
SR 16 

COOKS 
LANE 

CD N O 
T - N N 

J 1 I 

+ — 3 7 3 
4— 16 

5ft 16 
COOKS 
LANE 

CD 1^ 
CD N O r- (NJ N 

J 1 I 
373 

« — 16 

SR 16 

1 3 - * 
82 —»• 

°-* 
<m r 

o ^- 00 
05 O 
cr> Csl 

1 3 - * 
8 2 — » • 

° ^ 
i- CO 

OJ o 
CO CNJ 

E X I S T I N G T R A F F I C 
12/15/22 

6:45-7:45 A M 

US 17/ 
SR 16 

N 

N . T . S . 

US 17 

2022 S E A S O N A L L Y A D J U S T E D T R A F F I C 
F O O T S E A S O N A L C O R R E C T I O N F A C T O R = L O O 

US 17/ 
SR 16 

COOKS 
LANE 

f> CO h~ en m 
T - N N 

J U 
* — 399 
« — 17 
^ — 189 

SR 16 

1 4 - * *itr 
8 8 — » • CN CO 

° ^ T CM 

US 17/ 
SR 16 

101 
J 

COOK, 
LAN, 

12 
- 9 

V *i r 

( 7 5 / 7 

2026 NO B U I L D T R A F F I C 
A V E R A G E A N N U A L G R O W T H R A T E = L 8 % ( G & T . 0 7 ) 

SR 16 

US 1 

1 

S I T E T R A F F I C 

US 17/ 
SR 16 

m CD 

• CT> i n 
CN r -

COOKS \$*f 
LANE 

i r 

S I T E 

•399 

•189 
5ft 16 

i tr 
CM CN CO 

CN CN 
^ CN 

US 17 

>ff to/fir Pw> 

2026 B U I L D T R A F F I C 

Buckholz Traffic 

F I G U R E 5 

2026 BUILD TRAFFIC 
US 17/SR. 16 

W E E K D A Y A M P E A K H O U R 
Page 47

Item #  2.



us 
SR 

O CO 
N C I T -

COOKS 1 1 1 
LANE * + ^ 

17/ 
16 

* — 8 8 0 
• — 8 4 
r — 2 0 0 

^ — 4 
C* /<5 

40 — * 
27 * 

E X I S T I N G ! 
12/12/ 

4:30-5:3( 

O C I N CD 
CO CD 
in 

" R A F F I C 
22 
) P M 

US 
SR 

O CM 
CO CD ^ 

<f f 
COOKS 1 1 1 
LANE * J + 

17/ 
16 

* — 9 4 2 
• — 9 0 
r — 2 1 8 

• SR 16 

4 3 ^ 
2 9 — » • 

2 ^ 

* i t r 
CO LO CO / 

I - - h-

/ 

/ 

US 17/ 
SR 16 

COOKS 
LANE 

O CO 
1 ^ CO T— 

J I I 
* — 8 8 0 
• — 8 4 
^ — 2 0 4 

SR 16 

40 — * i t r 
27 — • n N CD 

2 ^ ID T -

US 17 

2022 S E A S O N A L L Y A D J U S T E D T R A F F I C 
F D O T S E A S O N A L C O R R E C T I O N F A C T O R = 1 0 0 O R P 

N 

N . T . S . 

US 17/ 
SR 16 

COOKS 
LANE 

,8 

1 ^ 

L ' S / 7 

2026 NO B U I L D T R A j 
A V E R A G E A N N U A L G R O W T H V.AJE= 1 . 8 % ( G F = 1 . 0 7 ) 

r R A F F l C 
kJE= 1 . 8 % ( G F = 

3 

7 « 
J - . 3 

1 

O 

US 17 

S I T E T R A F F I C 

US 17'' 
SR 16 

PI ^ 
COOKS 
LANE 

113 
i r 

S I T E | 

i\S O CM 
1 <• CD -3-

J U 
t S 2 1 7 ? 
r — 218 

* Sft 16 

1 

M r 
1 

co m oo 
i n 

US 17 

2026 B U I L D T R A F F I C 

Buckholz Traffic 

F I G U R E 6 

2026 BUILD TRAFFIC 
US 17 / S R 16 

W E E K D A Y PM P E A K HOUR 
Page 48

Item #  2.



EASTBQUND COOKS LANE @ SITE DRIVEWAY 

i 1 , 1 1 
10(T 200 300 400 500 600 700 

TOTAL PEAK HOUR APPROACH VOLUME (VPH) 

NOMOGRAPH FOR RIGHT TURN LANES 
SOURCE: TRANSPORTATION RESEARCH BOARD NCHRP REPORT #279 

H WEEKDAY AM PEAK ® WEEKDAY PM PEAK 
HOUR 

VA 

V R 

\£6 
HOUR 

v. 

V R 0 

i3 

NCHRP 420 

2 LANE <45MPH 9&0 < 80 REQUIRED 

I 

F I G U R E 7 

RIGHT TURN L A N E ^ j f 
A N A L Y S I S 4*̂  

tiviLOTKAFFlf Page 49

Item #  2.



Buckholz Traffic 

I 
Q. 
> 

L U 

= > 
_ l o > 
z 
C O 

o 
CL 
Q. 
O 

800 

700 

600 

500 

400 

300 

200 

100 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 

VA ADVANCING VOLUME (VPH) 

WARRANT FOR LEFT-TURN LANES ON TWO-LANE HIGHWAYS 

HAM PEAK HOUR 

V A = 

Vo = 
- \(f 

V L = - u 
% L T = 

tern S 

SOURCE: HARMELINK 
Page 50

Item #  2.



Buckholz Traffic 

W^5Tfiou/i? cock? LW£ /K $\7£ 

I 1 1 1 1 I I 1 ! 1 1 1 1 
G r a d e , U n s i g n a l i z e d I n t e r s e c t i o n s 

L = % Left T u r n s in V A 

S = S t o r a g e L e n g t h R e q u i r e d 
V = 50 m p h 
L = 5% 

\ 
I 1 1 1 1 I I 1 ! 1 1 1 1 

G r a d e , U n s i g n a l i z e d I n t e r s e c t i o n s 
L = % Left T u r n s in V A 

S = S t o r a g e L e n g t h R e q u i r e d 
V = 50 m p h 
L = 5% 

\ \ 

I 1 1 1 1 I I 1 ! 1 1 1 1 
G r a d e , U n s i g n a l i z e d I n t e r s e c t i o n s 

L = % Left T u r n s in V A 

S = S t o r a g e L e n g t h R e q u i r e d 
V = 50 m p h 
L = 5% 

1 

I 1 1 1 1 I I 1 ! 1 1 1 1 
G r a d e , U n s i g n a l i z e d I n t e r s e c t i o n s 

L = % Left T u r n s in V A 

S = S t o r a g e L e n g t h R e q u i r e d 
V = 50 m p h 
L = 5% 

I 1 1 1 1 I I 1 ! 1 1 1 1 
G r a d e , U n s i g n a l i z e d I n t e r s e c t i o n s 

L = % Left T u r n s in V A 

S = S t o r a g e L e n g t h R e q u i r e d 
V = 50 m p h 
L = 5% 

I 1 1 1 1 I I 1 ! 1 1 1 1 
G r a d e , U n s i g n a l i z e d I n t e r s e c t i o n s 

L = % Left T u r n s in V A 

S = S t o r a g e L e n g t h R e q u i r e d 
V = 50 m p h 
L = 5% 

k 

\ 
N O L E F T - T U R N L A N E R E Q U I R E D > 

/ 
( • ) S = 75' a = 100' 

800 

700 

600 

500 

400 

I 
Q. 
> 

L U 

=> 
_ J o > 
CD 

g 300 

CL 
CL 
o 
> D 200 

100 

0 
0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 

V A ADVANCING VOLUME (VPH) 

WARRANT FOR LEFT-TURN LANES ON TWO-LANE HIGHWAYS 

IBjOUR A M I D D ^ P E A K ^ O U R ®PM PEAK HOUR 

6 
% L T = • 

SOURCE: HARMELINK 

7_ 

= 0.0% 

V* = iU 
Vo = -i a 
V L = 

C
O

 

F I G U R E 7 

L E F T T U R N 
L A N E A N A L Y S I S 

Page 51

Item #  2.



WAREHOUSING

Land Use Code 150

T = Number of Vehicle Trip Ends 

Size of Building = 26,000 gsf (X = 26)

TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL
TRIP GENERATION TRIP PERCENT PERCENT TRIP ENDS TRIP ENDS

TIME PERIOD EQUATION ENDS ENTERING EXITING ENTERING EXITING

AVERAGE WEEKDAY

Daily T = 1.71 (X) 44 50% 50% 22 22

AM Peak Hour T = 0.17 (X) 4 77% 23% 3 1

PM Peak Hour T = 0.18 (X) 5 28% 72% 1 4

SOURCE:  Institute of Transportation Engineers, "Trip Generation", 11th Edition (2021)

TABLE 1

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

Page 52

Item #  2.



GENERAL OFFICE BUILDING

Land Use Code 710

T = Number of Vehicle Trip Ends 

Size of Building = 5000 gsf (X = 5)

TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL
TRIP GENERATION TRIP PERCENT PERCENT TRIP ENDS TRIP ENDS

TIME PERIOD EQUATION ENDS ENTERING EXITING ENTERING EXITING

AVERAGE WEEKDAY

Daily Ln(T) = 0.87 Ln(X) + 3.05 86 50% 50% 43 43

AM Peak Hour Ln(T) = 0.86 Ln(X) + 1.16 13 88% 12% 11 2

PM Peak Hour Ln(T) = 0.83 Ln(X) + 1.29 14 17% 83% 2 12

SOURCE:  Institute of Transportation Engineers, "Trip Generation", 11th Edition (2021)

TABLE 2

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

Page 53

Item #  2.



Expected
EXISTING Percentage FUTURE

TRIPS On-Site Employees Customers Package Delivery Vehicle Pick-Up/Drop-Off TOTAL Increase TOTAL
5 5 per month 12 per month 5 per month

Daily 5 x 4 = 20 2 2 2 22 10'% 24
10 ENTER, 10 EXIT 1 ENTER, 1 EXIT 1 ENTER, 1 EXIT 1 ENTER, 1 EXIT 11 ENTER, 11 EXIT 12 ENTER, 12 EXIT

AM Peak 5 x 1 = 5 0 0 0 5 10'% 6
ENTER 5 ENTER, 0 EXIT 6 ENTER, 0 EXIT

PM Peak 5 x 1 = 5 0 0 0 5 10'% 6
EXIT 0 ENTER, 5 EXIT 0 ENTER, 6 EXIT

TABLE 3
VAN UP-FITTER

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC

Page 54

Item #  2.



Expected
EXISTING Percentage FUTURE

TRIPS On-Site Employees Customers Package Delivery Company Vehicles TOTAL Increase TOTAL
2 0 5 per month 5 per day

Daily 2 x 4 = 8 0 2 10 20 10'% 22
4 ENTER, 4 EXIT 1 ENTER, 1 EXIT 5 ENTER, 5 EXIT 10 ENTER, 10 EXIT 11 ENTER, 11 EXIT

AM Peak 2 x 1 = 2 0 0 4 6 10'% 8
ENTER EXIT 2 ENTER, 4 EXIT 3 ENTER, 5 EXIT

PM Peak 2 x 1 = 2 0 0 4 6 10'% 8
EXIT ENTER 4 ENTER, 2 EXIT 5 ENTER, 3 EXIT

TABLE 4
RIVER OAKS OUTDOOR

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC

Page 55

Item #  2.



 
 TABLE 5 
 
 UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTION CAPACITY RESULTS 

 
COOKS LANE / SITE DRIVE 

 
 
 
 
 

2026 BUILD CONDITIONS WEEKDAY AM PEAK HOUR 

Movement LOS Delay  v/c Ratio 95th % Queue 
(vehicles) 

Westbound Left Turn A 7.6 sec/veh 0.02 1 

Northbound Approach A 9.1 sec/veh 0.01 1 
 

 
 

2026 BUILD CONDITIONS WEEKDAY PM PEAK HOUR 

Movement LOS Delay  v/c Ratio 95th % Queue 
(vehicles) 

Westbound Left Turn A 7.5 sec/veh 0.01 1 

Northbound Approach A 9.1 sec/veh 0.03 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

Page 56

Item #  2.



TABLE 6 
SUMMARY OF SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION CAPACITY RESULTS 

US 17 / SR 16 / COOKS LANE 
 
 

 
 

 EXISTING CONDITIONS 
Highest 
v/c Ratio 

Highest Queue 
Storage Ratio 

Worst Movement 
Delay & LOS 

Intersection 
Delay & LOS 

Approach 
LOS 

Cycle  
Length 

AM PEAK HOUR 0.82 NBRT 0.99  NBRT NBLT  168.5 sec/veh LOS F 30.8 sec/veh  LOS C 
NB/SB:  D/C 
EB/WB:  D/C 

99 sec 

PM PEAK HOUR 0.97 WBRT 0.52  NBRT NBLT  106.3 sec/veh LOS F  37.9 sec/veh  LOS D 
NB/SB:  D/C 
EB/WB:  D 

106 sec 

 

 
 

 2026 BUILD CONDITIONS 
Highest 
v/c Ratio 

Highest Queue 
Storage Ratio 

Worst Movement 
Delay & LOS 

Intersection 
Delay & LOS 

Approach 
LOS 

Cycle 
Length 

AM PEAK HOUR 0.82 SBLT 0.83  NBRT NBLT 125.6 sec/veh LOS F 32.9 sec/veh  LOS C 
NB/SB:  D/C 
EB/WB:  D/C 

105 sec 

PM PEAK HOUR 1.02 WBRT 0.95   EBT 
NBLT  112.9 sec/veh LOS F 
WBRT  58.3 sec/veh LOS F 

44.7 sec/veh  LOS D 
NB/SB:   D/C 
EB/WB:   D    

117 sec 

 

 
 

 2026 BUILD CONDITIONS – BALANCED TIMINGS 
Highest 
v/c Ratio 

Highest Queue 
Storage Ratio 

Worst Movement 
Delay & LOS 

Intersection 
Delay & LOS 

Approach 
LOS 

Cycle 
Length 

AM PEAK HOUR 0.78 SBLT 1.23  NBRT WBLT  69.5 sec/veh  LOS E  53.8 sec/veh  LOS D 
NB/SB:  E 

EB/WB:  E/D 
193 sec 

PM PEAK HOUR 0.99 WBRT  1.07   EBT  NBT   55.4 sec/veh  LOS E  50.0 sec/veh  LOS D 
NB/SB:   D 

EB/WB:  E/D 
140 sec 

 
BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC 

Page 57

Item #  2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 SITE PLAN 
 

Page 58

Item #  2.



LOCATION MAP  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Legend 

 

Proposed Location 

  

 

2510 U.S. Highway 1, Ste. D 

St. Augustine, FL  32086 

Ph: (904) 794-1760  Fax: (904) 794-1768 

E-mail: quoc@maiengineer.com  

SR16 

Proposed Location 

 

LOCATION MAP 

 

1609 S ORANGE AVE. 

 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FL. 

  

 

 

 

 

Cooks Ln. 

Page 59

Item #  2.

mailto:quoc@maiengineer.com


R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

R
O

W

ROW

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

X X X X X X X

X

X

X

X

℄

℄

℄

℄

℄ ℄ ℄ ℄ ℄

℄

X

X

X

S01

S01

S01

S010+00

1+00 2+00 3+00 4+00 5+00 5+15

5+
15

6+
00

7+00 8+00

9+00

10+00 10+31

10+31 11+00 12+00 13+00 14+00 15+00 15+47

15
+4

7

16
+0

0

17+00 18+00

18+20

18
+2

0
19

+0
0

19
+3

6

19
+3

6
20

+0
0

20
+8

1

P1

P2 P3
P5

P6
P7P8P9

P1
0

P1
1

P1
2P1
3

P1
4

P1
5

P1
6

P1
7P1

8
P1

9
P2

0
P2

1

P2
2 P2

3

P24

P2
5

P2
6

P2
7

P2
8

P2
9

P3
0

P3
1

P3
2

P3
3

P3
4

P3
5

P3
6

P3
7

P3
9

P4
0 P4

1

P4
2

P4
3

P4
4

P4
5

P4
6

P4
7

P4
8P4

9

P5
0

P5
1

P5
2

P5
3

P5
4

P5
5

P5
6

P5
7

P58

P5
9

P60

P6
1

P6
2

P6
3

P6
4

P6
5

P6
6

P6
7

P6
8

P6
9

P7
0

P7
1P7

2

P7
3

P7
4

P7
5

P7
6

P7
7

P7
8

P7
9

P8
0

P8
1

P8
2

P8
3

P8
4

P8
5

P3
8

P4

EN
GI

NE
ER

IN
G 

SE
RV

IC
ES

, I
NC

.
M

A
I

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

N

Page 60

Item #  2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

 
 TURNING MOVEMENT COUNTS 
 

Page 61

Item #  2.



Page 62

Item #  2.



Page 63

Item #  2.



Page 64

Item #  2.



Page 65

Item #  2.



Page 66

Item #  2.



Page 67

Item #  2.



Page 68

Item #  2.



Page 69

Item #  2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

 
 FDOT TRAFFIC DATA 
 

Page 70

Item #  2.



Actual Predicted
Year X AADT (Y) AADT

2017 0 1500 1420
2018 1 1300 1470
2019 2 1600 1520
2020 3 1600 1570
2021 4 1600 1620
2022 5 1670
2023 6 1720
2024 7 1770

i =  3.2%

TABLE C-1
LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC

Cooks Lane, West of US 17

y = 50x + 1420
R² = 0.3676

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

A
A

D
T

Page 71

Item #  2.



                           FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION                           
                             TRANSPORTATION STATISTICS OFFICE                             
                                2021 HISTORICAL AADT REPORT                               

COUNTY: 71 - CLAY

SITE: 9115 - GREEN COVE AVE. .1 MI. W. OF US 17

YEAR       AADT       DIRECTION 1     DIRECTION 2     *K FACTOR    D FACTOR    T FACTOR   
----    ----------    ------------    ------------    ---------    --------    --------   
2021       1600 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       53.50        1.40   
2020       1600 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       54.50        1.30   
2019       1600 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       54.10        1.30   
2018       1300 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       54.20        1.20   
2017       1500 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       54.50        1.10   
2016       1400 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       54.30        1.70   
2015       1300 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       54.50        1.40   
2014       1100 C     E               W                    9.00       54.50        1.60   
2013       1300 S            0               0             9.00       55.10        1.50   
2012       1300 F            0               0             9.00       54.60        2.00   
2011       1300 C     E      0        W      0             9.00       54.70        1.50   

        AADT FLAGS: C = COMPUTED; E = MANUAL ESTIMATE; F = FIRST YEAR ESTIMATE            
                    S = SECOND YEAR ESTIMATE; T = THIRD YEAR ESTIMATE; R = FOURTH YEAR ESTIMATE   
                    V = FIFTH YEAR ESTIMATE;  6 = SIXTH YEAR ESTIMATE; X = UNKNOWN        
       *K FACTOR:  STARTING WITH YEAR 2011 IS STANDARDK, PRIOR YEARS ARE K30 VALUES       

Page 72

Item #  2.



COUNTY:       71
STATION:      9115
DESCRIPTION:  GREEN COVE AVE. .1 MI. W. OF US 17                
START DATE:   11/09/2021
START TIME:   0000
----------------------------------------
                 DIRECTION: B
TIME    1ST    2ND    3RD    4TH   TOTAL
----------------------------------------
0000       0      3      0      0      3
0100       1      1      1      0      3
0200       2      1      0      1      4
0300       1      1      1      3      6
0400       1      8     10      9     28
0500       6      6      9     21     42
0600      29     43     43     50    165
0700      46     38     35     26    145
0800      41     16     20     31    108
0900      31     16     16     15     78
1000      14     16     17     23     70
1100      24     22     24     18     88
1200      27     18     23     23     91
1300      15      9     17     23     64
1400      16     13     30     22     81
1500      22     24     43     34    123
1600      37     43     49     39    168
1700      55     35     40     31    161
1800      27     24     26     14     91
1900      14      9      9     11     43
2000      12      4     11      5     32
2100       3      6      4      7     20
2200       2      4      3      4     13
2300       4      2      3      2     11
----------------------------------------
24-HOUR TOTALS:                     1638
----------------------------------------
     PEAK VOLUME INFORMATION

         HOUR      VOLUME
A.M.      645         169
P.M.     1615         186
DAILY    1615         186

GENERATED BY SPS 5.0.57P

Page 73

Item #  2.



Actual Predicted
Year X AADT (Y) AADT

2017 0 18300 17920
2018 1 18300 18160
2019 2 17800 18400
2020 3 17900 18640
2021 4 19700 18880
2022 5 19120
2023 6 19360
2024 7 19600

i =  1.3%

TABLE C-2
LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC

SR 16, East of US 17

y = 240x + 17920
R² = 0.2483

15000

15500

16000

16500

17000

17500

18000

18500

19000

19500

20000

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

A
A

D
T

Page 74

Item #  2.



                           FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION                           
                             TRANSPORTATION STATISTICS OFFICE                             
                                2021 HISTORICAL AADT REPORT                               

COUNTY: 71 - CLAY

SITE: 0113 - SR 16 .75 MI. E. OF SR 15

YEAR       AADT       DIRECTION 1     DIRECTION 2     *K FACTOR    D FACTOR    T FACTOR   
----    ----------    ------------    ------------    ---------    --------    --------   
2021      19700 C     E   9700        W  10000             9.00       53.50        9.50   
2020      17900 C     E   8800        W   9100             9.00       54.50        9.30   
2019      17800 C     E   8600        W   9200             9.00       54.10        7.00   
2018      18300 C     E   9100        W   9200             9.00       54.20        8.10   
2017      18300 C     E   9000        W   9300             9.00       54.50        6.50   
2016      16200 C     E   7900        W   8300             9.00       54.30        5.80   
2015      14400 C     E   7100        W   7300             9.00       54.50        5.70   
2014      14300 C     E   7200        W   7100             9.00       54.50        5.50   
2013      13700 C     E   6800        W   6900             9.00       55.10        6.20   
2012      12400 C     E   6200        W   6200             9.00       54.60        5.50   
2011      12300 C     E   6100        W   6200             9.00       54.70        5.40   
2010      13300 C     E   6600        W   6700             9.86       54.07        5.40   
2009      14300 C     E   7100        W   7200             9.76       54.11        6.50   
2008      15400 C     E   7600        W   7800             9.71       55.26        7.60   
2007      15500 C     E   7800        W   7700             9.36       55.25        8.80   
2006      16600 C     E   8300        W   8300             9.36       55.56        9.20   

        AADT FLAGS: C = COMPUTED; E = MANUAL ESTIMATE; F = FIRST YEAR ESTIMATE            
                    S = SECOND YEAR ESTIMATE; T = THIRD YEAR ESTIMATE; R = FOURTH YEAR ESTIMATE   
                    V = FIFTH YEAR ESTIMATE;  6 = SIXTH YEAR ESTIMATE; X = UNKNOWN        
       *K FACTOR:  STARTING WITH YEAR 2011 IS STANDARDK, PRIOR YEARS ARE K30 VALUES       

Page 75

Item #  2.



COUNTY:       71
STATION:      0113
DESCRIPTION:  SR 16 .75 MI. E. OF SR 15                         
START DATE:   11/17/2021
START TIME:   0000
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                 DIRECTION: E                         DIRECTION: W             COMBINED
TIME    1ST    2ND    3RD    4TH   TOTAL     1ST    2ND    3RD    4TH   TOTAL    TOTAL
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
0000       3      5      3      4     15 |      7     13     12      3     35 |     50
0100       1      4      1      1      7 |      7      2      1      6     16 |     23
0200       8      2     10      5     25 |      2      0      5      4     11 |     36
0300       6      7      5     10     28 |      2      3      5      5     15 |     43
0400      12     23     28     32     95 |     10      6     16     14     46 |    141
0500      53     74     85    126    338 |     22     30     64     63    179 |    517
0600     205    261    274    304   1044 |     81    115    142    158    496 |   1540
0700     273    256    230    210    969 |    170    158    181    165    674 |   1643
0800     161    173    196    139    669 |    149    180    144    171    644 |   1313
0900     129    143    144    140    556 |    136    127    147    119    529 |   1085
1000     132    135    131    133    531 |    101    109    145    113    468 |    999
1100     106    135    125    137    503 |    128    149    134    150    561 |   1064
1200     161    142    151    148    602 |    162    127    166    172    627 |   1229
1300     149    153    112    159    573 |    131    151    160    128    570 |   1143
1400     157    165    160    154    636 |    163    148    168    179    658 |   1294
1500     136    135    168    178    617 |    209    229    227    270    935 |   1552
1600     172    180    206    198    756 |    260    244    256    276   1036 |   1792
1700     223    180    181    124    708 |    306    274    283    266   1129 |   1837
1800     113    102     77     88    380 |    239    211    142     97    689 |   1069
1900      82     57     71     47    257 |     90     81     65     57    293 |    550
2000      34     38     37     42    151 |     45     47     61     58    211 |    362
2100      38     25     27     26    116 |     48     32     35     36    151 |    267
2200      19     18     15     17     69 |     30     19     24     22     95 |    164
2300       9      9      5      8     31 |     20     13     12     15     60 |     91
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
24-HOUR TOTALS:                     9676                                10128    19804
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                                 PEAK VOLUME INFORMATION
           DIRECTION: E                DIRECTION: W            COMBINED DIRECTIONS
         HOUR      VOLUME            HOUR      VOLUME            HOUR      VOLUME
A.M.      645        1063             730         675             645        1730
P.M.     1615         807            1645        1139            1645        1921
DAILY     615        1112            1645        1139            1645        1921

TRUCK PERCENTAGE   9.02                        9.89                        9.47
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                              CLASSIFICATION SUMMARY DATABASE

DIR   1     2     3     4     5     6     7     8     9     10    11    12    13    14    15 TOTTRK TOTVOL
 E    67  5433  3303     5   179   211    30    69   243   130     1     5     0     0     0    873   9676
 W    60  5522  3544     5   232   231    19   101   336    68     3     3     4     0     0   1002  10128

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

GENERATED BY SPS 5.0.57P

Page 76

Item #  2.



Actual Predicted
Year X AADT (Y) AADT

2017 0 13800 13860
2018 1 14500 14190
2019 2 14100 14520
2020 3 15000 14850
2021 4 15200 15180
2022 5 15510
2023 6 15840
2024 7 16170

i =  2.2%

TABLE C-3
LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC

US 17, South of SR 16

y = 330x + 13860
R² = 0.7846

10000

11000

12000

13000

14000

15000

16000

17000

18000

19000

20000

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

A
A

D
T

Page 77

Item #  2.



                           FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION                           
                             TRANSPORTATION STATISTICS OFFICE                             
                                2021 HISTORICAL AADT REPORT                               

COUNTY: 71 - CLAY

SITE: 0196 - SR 15/US 17 .3 MI. S. OF SR 16 TO E.

YEAR       AADT       DIRECTION 1     DIRECTION 2     *K FACTOR    D FACTOR    T FACTOR   
----    ----------    ------------    ------------    ---------    --------    --------   
2021      15200 C     N   7600        S   7600             9.00       53.50       12.10   
2020      15000 C     N   7500        S   7500             9.00       54.50       14.00   
2019      14100 C     N   7100        S   7000             9.00       54.10       10.70   
2018      14500 C     N   7200        S   7300             9.00       54.20       11.80   
2017      13800 C     N   6900        S   6900             9.00       54.50        9.70   
2016      12900 C     N   6500        S   6400             9.00       54.30       10.50   
2015      11600 C     N   5800        S   5800             9.00       54.50       11.20   
2014      11100 C     N   5600        S   5500             9.00       54.50       10.90   
2013      11200 C     N   5700        S   5500             9.00       55.10       12.30   
2012      11400 C     N   5800        S   5600             9.00       54.60       11.10   
2011      11400 C     N   5700        S   5700             9.00       54.70       11.80   
2010      11600 C     N   5800        S   5800             9.86       54.07       11.10   
2009      11800 C     N   5900        S   5900             9.76       54.11       10.90   
2008      12400 C     N   6700        S   5700             9.71       55.26       13.00   
2007      13500 C     N   6800        S   6700             9.36       55.25       12.50   
2006      14400 C     N   7200        S   7200             9.36       55.56       14.80   

        AADT FLAGS: C = COMPUTED; E = MANUAL ESTIMATE; F = FIRST YEAR ESTIMATE            
                    S = SECOND YEAR ESTIMATE; T = THIRD YEAR ESTIMATE; R = FOURTH YEAR ESTIMATE   
                    V = FIFTH YEAR ESTIMATE;  6 = SIXTH YEAR ESTIMATE; X = UNKNOWN        
       *K FACTOR:  STARTING WITH YEAR 2011 IS STANDARDK, PRIOR YEARS ARE K30 VALUES       

Page 78

Item #  2.



COUNTY:       71
STATION:      0196
DESCRIPTION:  SR 15/US 17 .3 MI. S. OF SR 16 TO E.              
START DATE:   11/17/2021
START TIME:   0000
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                 DIRECTION: N                         DIRECTION: S             COMBINED
TIME    1ST    2ND    3RD    4TH   TOTAL     1ST    2ND    3RD    4TH   TOTAL    TOTAL
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
0000       2      5      5      3     15 |      9      8      7      3     27 |     42
0100       4      9      2     17     32 |      9      5      2      4     20 |     52
0200      26      5      3      4     38 |      1      2      6      1     10 |     48
0300       4      5     32     10     51 |      5      4      8     14     31 |     82
0400      21     22     38     43    124 |     16     28     41     83    168 |    292
0500      39     65     63     85    252 |     41     50    105     93    289 |    541
0600     128    148    163    154    593 |     89    120    131    148    488 |   1081
0700     141    153    154    135    583 |    112    112    130    128    482 |   1065
0800     116    111    100     97    424 |    126    126    129     92    473 |    897
0900     113    127    101     96    437 |    107     91    123     88    409 |    846
1000     127    114    109    107    457 |    100     77     96     96    369 |    826
1100     105    133    123    134    495 |     83    116    111    130    440 |    935
1200     151    109    118     92    470 |    132    125    123    150    530 |   1000
1300     110    102    107    101    420 |    115    127    122    106    470 |    890
1400     110     96    124    119    449 |    116    107    110    128    461 |    910
1500     102    115    206    164    587 |    129    160    152    169    610 |   1197
1600     130    132    186    162    610 |    177    134    152    169    632 |   1242
1700     217    150    198    128    693 |    171    163    136    146    616 |   1309
1800     143     98     89     63    393 |    137    108     76     90    411 |    804
1900      63     44     49     26    182 |     66     67     46     57    236 |    418
2000      38     31     45     29    143 |     43     49     79     58    229 |    372
2100      23     20     19     21     83 |     37     23     30     28    118 |    201
2200      17     16      9     14     56 |     17     18     15     13     63 |    119
2300      11      5      4      5     25 |     15     16      8      8     47 |     72
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
24-HOUR TOTALS:                     7612                                 7629    15241
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                                 PEAK VOLUME INFORMATION
           DIRECTION: N                DIRECTION: S            COMBINED DIRECTIONS
         HOUR      VOLUME            HOUR      VOLUME            HOUR      VOLUME
A.M.      645         602             730         510             645        1104
P.M.     1645         727            1515         658            1630        1370
DAILY    1645         727            1515         658            1630        1370

TRUCK PERCENTAGE  11.78                       12.32                       12.05
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                              CLASSIFICATION SUMMARY DATABASE

DIR   1     2     3     4     5     6     7     8     9     10    11    12    13    14    15 TOTTRK TOTVOL
 N    67  4155  2493     5   131   197    17   105   418    22     0     1     1     0     0    897   7612
 S    34  4076  2579     6   128   216    15    85   404    82     1     1     2     0     0    940   7629

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

GENERATED BY SPS 5.0.57P

Page 79

Item #  2.



Actual Predicted
Year X AADT (Y) AADT

2017 0 22500 23160
2018 1 23000 22120
2019 2 21500 21080
2020 3 19200 20040
2021 4 19200 19000
2022 5 17960
2023 6 16920
2024 7 15880

i =  - 5.2%

TABLE C-4
LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS

BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC

US 17, North of SR 16

y = -1040x + 23160
R² = 0.8353

15000

16000

17000

18000

19000

20000

21000

22000

23000

24000

25000

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

A
A

D
T

Page 80

Item #  2.



                           FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION                           
                             TRANSPORTATION STATISTICS OFFICE                             
                                2021 HISTORICAL AADT REPORT                               

COUNTY: 71 - CLAY

SITE: 0142 - SR 15 .1 MI. N. OF SR 16 TO E.

YEAR       AADT       DIRECTION 1     DIRECTION 2     *K FACTOR    D FACTOR    T FACTOR   
----    ----------    ------------    ------------    ---------    --------    --------   
2021      19200 F     N   9700        S   9500             9.00       53.50       12.10   
2020      19200 C     N   9700        S   9500             9.00       54.50       21.90   
2019      21500 C     N  11000        S  10500             9.00       54.10       18.10   
2018      23000 C     N  11500        S  11500             9.00       54.20       11.80   
2017      22500 C     N  11000        S  11500             9.00       54.50        9.70   
2016      20000 C     N  10000        S  10000             9.00       54.30       10.50   
2015      19100 C     N   9700        S   9400             9.00       54.50       11.20   
2014      17900 C     N   9000        S   8900             9.00       54.50       10.90   
2013      17500 C     N   8800        S   8700             9.00       55.10       12.30   
2012      16600 C     N   8400        S   8200             9.00       54.60       11.10   
2011      17900 C     N   9200        S   8700             9.00       54.70       11.80   
2010      18100 C     N   9200        S   8900             9.86       54.07       11.10   
2009      18500 C     N   9300        S   9200             9.76       54.11       10.90   
2008      19600 C     N   9900        S   9700             9.71       55.26       13.00   
2007      21000 C     N  10500        S  10500             9.36       55.25       12.50   
2006      23000 C     N  11500        S  11500             9.36       55.56       14.80   

        AADT FLAGS: C = COMPUTED; E = MANUAL ESTIMATE; F = FIRST YEAR ESTIMATE            
                    S = SECOND YEAR ESTIMATE; T = THIRD YEAR ESTIMATE; R = FOURTH YEAR ESTIMATE   
                    V = FIFTH YEAR ESTIMATE;  6 = SIXTH YEAR ESTIMATE; X = UNKNOWN        
       *K FACTOR:  STARTING WITH YEAR 2011 IS STANDARDK, PRIOR YEARS ARE K30 VALUES       

Page 81

Item #  2.



 2021 PEAK SEASON FACTOR CATEGORY REPORT - REPORT TYPE: ALL
CATEGORY: 7100  CLAY COUNTYWIDE          
                                                MOCF: 0.96
WEEK          DATES               SF            PSCF
================================================================================
  1    01/01/2021 - 01/02/2021    1.00          1.04
  2    01/03/2021 - 01/09/2021    1.06          1.10
  3    01/10/2021 - 01/16/2021    1.11          1.16
  4    01/17/2021 - 01/23/2021    1.11          1.16
  5    01/24/2021 - 01/30/2021    1.10          1.15
  6    01/31/2021 - 02/06/2021    1.09          1.14
  7    02/07/2021 - 02/13/2021    1.09          1.14
  8    02/14/2021 - 02/20/2021    1.08          1.13
  9    02/21/2021 - 02/27/2021    1.05          1.09
 10    02/28/2021 - 03/06/2021    1.02          1.06
 11    03/07/2021 - 03/13/2021    1.00          1.04
 12    03/14/2021 - 03/20/2021    0.97          1.01
*13    03/21/2021 - 03/27/2021    0.96          1.00
*14    03/28/2021 - 04/03/2021    0.96          1.00
*15    04/04/2021 - 04/10/2021    0.96          1.00
*16    04/11/2021 - 04/17/2021    0.96          1.00
*17    04/18/2021 - 04/24/2021    0.95          0.99
*18    04/25/2021 - 05/01/2021    0.95          0.99
*19    05/02/2021 - 05/08/2021    0.95          0.99
*20    05/09/2021 - 05/15/2021    0.95          0.99
*21    05/16/2021 - 05/22/2021    0.96          1.00
*22    05/23/2021 - 05/29/2021    0.96          1.00
*23    05/30/2021 - 06/05/2021    0.96          1.00
*24    06/06/2021 - 06/12/2021    0.97          1.01
*25    06/13/2021 - 06/19/2021    0.97          1.01
 26    06/20/2021 - 06/26/2021    0.98          1.02
 27    06/27/2021 - 07/03/2021    0.99          1.03
 28    07/04/2021 - 07/10/2021    1.00          1.04
 29    07/11/2021 - 07/17/2021    1.01          1.05
 30    07/18/2021 - 07/24/2021    1.02          1.06
 31    07/25/2021 - 07/31/2021    1.02          1.06
 32    08/01/2021 - 08/07/2021    1.02          1.06
 33    08/08/2021 - 08/14/2021    1.02          1.06
 34    08/15/2021 - 08/21/2021    1.03          1.07
 35    08/22/2021 - 08/28/2021    1.02          1.06
 36    08/29/2021 - 09/04/2021    1.01          1.05
 37    09/05/2021 - 09/11/2021    1.01          1.05
 38    09/12/2021 - 09/18/2021    1.00          1.04
 39    09/19/2021 - 09/25/2021    0.99          1.03
 40    09/26/2021 - 10/02/2021    0.98          1.02
 41    10/03/2021 - 10/09/2021    0.97          1.01
 42    10/10/2021 - 10/16/2021    0.96          1.00
 43    10/17/2021 - 10/23/2021    0.97          1.01
 44    10/24/2021 - 10/30/2021    0.98          1.02
 45    10/31/2021 - 11/06/2021    0.99          1.03
 46    11/07/2021 - 11/13/2021    0.99          1.03
 47    11/14/2021 - 11/20/2021    1.00          1.04
 48    11/21/2021 - 11/27/2021    1.00          1.04
 49    11/28/2021 - 12/04/2021    1.00          1.04
 50    12/05/2021 - 12/11/2021    1.00          1.04
 51    12/12/2021 - 12/18/2021    1.00          1.04
 52    12/19/2021 - 12/25/2021    1.06          1.10
 53    12/26/2021 - 12/31/2021    1.11          1.16

* PEAK SEASON

08-MAR-2022 12:36:24                        830UPD             2_7100_PKSEASON.TXT

Page 82

Item #  2.



APPENDIX D 

CAPACITY CALCULATIONS 
UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS 

Page 83

Item #  2.



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst J. Buckholz Intersection Cooks Lane / Site Driveway
Agency/Co. BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Jurisdiction Clay County
Date Performed 10/30/2023 East/West Street Cooks Lane
Analysis Year 2026 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed AM Peak Hr. BUILD Traffic Peak Hour Factor 0.96
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description #22-1805

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
Configuration TR LT LR
Volume (veh/h) 159 1 22 55 0 8
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 2 2 2
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.12 6.42 6.22
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.22 3.52 3.32

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 23 8
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1411 878
v/c Ratio 0.02 0.01
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.0 0.0
Control Delay (s/veh) 7.6 0.1 9.1
Level of Service (LOS) A A A
Approach Delay (s/veh) 2.3 9.1
Approach LOS A A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2023 Generated: 10/30/2023 2:43:37 PM
2026_B_AM_CooksLn_SiteDr.xtw

Page 84

Item #  2.



HCS Two-Way Stop-Control Report
General Information Site Information

Analyst J. Buckholz Intersection Cooks Lane / Site Driveway
Agency/Co. BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Jurisdiction Clay County
Date Performed 10/30/2023 East/West Street Cooks Lane
Analysis Year 2026 North/South Street Site Driveway
Time Analyzed PM Peak Hr. BUILD Traffic Peak Hour Factor 0.92
Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25
Project Description #22-1805

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound
Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
Configuration TR LT LR
Volume (veh/h) 113 0 8 178 1 24
Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 2 2 2
Proportion Time Blocked
Percent Grade (%) 0
Right Turn Channelized
Median Type | Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2
Critical Headway (sec) 4.12 6.42 6.22
Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3
Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.22 3.52 3.32

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 9 27
Capacity, c (veh/h) 1464 913
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.03
95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.0 0.1
Control Delay (s/veh) 7.5 0.0 9.1
Level of Service (LOS) A A A
Approach Delay (s/veh) 0.4 9.1
Approach LOS A A

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS™ TWSC Version 2023 Generated: 10/30/2023 2:46:06 PM
2026_B_PM_CooksLn_SiteDr.xtw

Page 85

Item #  2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX E 
 

 
 TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMINGS 
 

Page 86

Item #  2.



Ø1 Ø2 Ø3 Ø4 Ø5 Ø6 Ø7 Ø8 Ø9 Ø10 Ø11 Ø12 Ø13 Ø14 Ø15 Ø16

NBLT SB WB SBLT NB WBLT EB

Prot Prot FYA

4 18 6 4 18 4 6

3.0 4.0 6.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 3.0

4.9 4.9 4.8 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8

2.0 2.0 2.5 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.5

15 50 40 55 35 25 30

15 50 40 55 35 25 30

7 7 7 7

21 34 26 30

MIN MIN

Ø1 Ø2 Ø3 Ø4 Ø5 Ø6 Ø7 Ø8 Ø9 Ø10 Ø11 Ø12 Ø13 Ø14 Ø15 Ø16

Ring - 1 1 2

Ring - 2 5 6 7 8

4

Orientation:

Orientation: E-W

Min Green

Recall

Max I

Max II

Walk

Flashing Don't Walk

Detector Memory

Signal ID: Date: November 19, 2022

Major Street: N-S

Ext

Yellow

All Red

Minor Street:

Seq

Controller Timings (seconds)
Movement  #

(Controller Phase Ø )
Notes

Direction

Turn Type

Coordination Timings (seconds)
Splits

Det. Switching to:

CNA

 Pattern C-S-O
Cycle 

Length

Location Details

45

US 17

Cooks Ln-SR 16

Coord 
Ø

Offset

Phase Mode

STD8
Notes:
1) Use 'Max I' during FREE Operation.
2) 3 second delay on FYA

Offset Reference Point

End of Green of first through movement
SEQ 1

Iteris, Inc.
Page 87

Item #  2.



Hr Min Patt Cycl Hr Min Patt Cycl Hr Min Patt Cycl Hr Min Patt Cycl
00 00 254 Free 00 00 254 Free 00 00 254 Free

Hr Min Patt Cycl Hr Min Patt Cycl Hr Min Patt Cycl Hr Min Patt Cycl

Ø1 Ø2 Ø3 Ø4 Ø5 Ø6 Ø7 Ø8 Ø9 Ø10 Ø11 Ø12 Ø13 Ø14 Ø15 Ø16
Force
Mode

Day Plan 1

Monday-Friday Saturday

Day Plan 2

Alt Time 
Table

Day Plan 3

Day Plan 6 Day Plan 7

Alt Opt 
Table

Alt Time Table Max Values (Seconds)

Day Plan 8

Coord 
Max Plan

Day Plan 5

Patt

Day Plan 4

Day Plans

Sunday

US 17

Cooks Ln-SR 16

45

Major Street:

Minor Street:

Signal ID:

Iteris, Inc.
Page 88

Item #  2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX F 
 

 
 SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION  

CAPACITY CALCULATIONS 
 

Page 89

Item #  2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AM PEAK HOUR 
 

 
  

Page 90

Item #  2.



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Duration, h 0.250
Analyst J. Buckholz Analysis Date Jan 24, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Clay County Time Period AM Peak Hour PHF 0.96
Urban Street US 17 Analysis Year 2022 Analysis Period 1> 6:45
Intersection SR 16 / Cooks Lane File Name 2022_AM_US17_SR16_CoveLn.xus
Project Description 2022 AM Peak Hr Traffic

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 13 82 0 177 16 373 1 394 298 707 276 16

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

0.1 21.0 22.4 13.2 7.7 0.0
4.9 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8 0.0
2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.5 0.0

2 3 4

5 7 8

Cycle, s 99.3 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 110 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated Yes Simult. Gap E/W Off
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S Off

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 8 7 4 1 6 5 2
Case Number 8.3 1.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 4.0
Phase Duration, s 15.0 20.0 35.1 7.0 29.3 35.0 57.2
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 7.3 6.8 7.3 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.9
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 4.1 4.9 7.1 3.9 4.5 4.9 4.4
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 7.5 12.6 15.3 2.1 19.4 22.8 6.9
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.3 0.6 4.1 0.0 2.9 5.2 1.3
Phase Call Probability 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.03 1.00 1.00 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.00 0.01 0.03 0.00 0.05 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 3 8 18 7 4 14 1 6 16 5 2 12
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 99 184 17 350 1 410 248 736 153 151
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1735 1513 1618 1497 1810 1682 1346 1634 1693 1660
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 2.6 10.6 0.7 13.3 0.1 10.7 17.4 20.8 4.9 4.9
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 5.5 10.6 0.7 13.3 0.1 10.7 17.4 20.8 4.9 4.9
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.08 0.23 0.28 0.56 0.00 0.23 0.23 0.28 0.51 0.51
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 177 300 453 842 2 758 304 924 858 842
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.560 0.614 0.037 0.416 0.495 0.541 0.817 0.797 0.178 0.180
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile) 116.6 207.6 15.1 201.4 4.3 205.2 297.1 347.4 90.1 83.6
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 4.6 7.1 0.5 7.5 0.2 7.7 10.2 13.0 3.2 3.2
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.52 0.44 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.00 0.99 0.51 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 44.8 33.8 26.1 12.4 49.7 34.0 36.6 33.1 13.3 13.3
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 2.8 2.9 0.1 1.2 118.8 0.9 8.2 2.3 0.1 0.1
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 47.5 36.7 26.2 13.6 168.5 34.9 44.8 35.3 13.4 13.4
Level of Service (LOS) D D C B F C D D B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 47.5 D 21.7 C 38.8 D 28.9 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 30.8 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2023 Generated: 1/24/2023 1:54:15 PMPage 91

Item #  2.



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Duration, h 0.250
Analyst J. Buckholz Analysis Date Oct 30, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Clay County Time Period AM Peak Hour PHF 0.96
Urban Street US 17 Analysis Year 2026 Analysis Period 1> 6:45
Intersection SR 16 / Cooks Lane File Name 2026_B_AM_US17_SR16_CooksLn.xus
Project Description 2026 AM Peak Hr BUILD Traffic

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 36 129 0 189 36 399 2 422 223 756 295 34

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

0.2 24.1 18.9 14.1 13.3 0.0
4.9 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8 0.0
2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.5 0.0

Cycle, s 105.4 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 110 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated Yes Simult. Gap E/W Off
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S Off

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 8 7 4 1 6 5 2
Case Number 8.3 1.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 4.0
Phase Duration, s 20.6 20.9 41.5 7.1 25.8 38.1 56.8
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 7.3 6.8 7.3 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.9
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 4.2 4.9 7.1 3.9 4.5 4.9 4.4
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 12.8 13.4 15.3 2.1 15.9 25.6 8.5
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.5 0.7 4.7 0.0 2.9 5.5 1.5
Phase Call Probability 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.06 1.00 1.00 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.00 0.02 0.05 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 3 8 18 7 4 14 1 6 16 5 2 12
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 172 197 38 374 2 440 186 788 173 170
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1624 1513 1618 1497 1810 1682 1346 1634 1693 1631
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 7.4 11.4 1.7 13.3 0.1 13.0 13.9 23.6 6.3 6.5
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 10.8 11.4 1.7 13.3 0.1 13.0 13.9 23.6 6.3 6.5
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.13 0.28 0.32 0.62 0.00 0.18 0.18 0.30 0.47 0.47
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 247 296 525 930 4 603 241 969 802 772
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.696 0.665 0.071 0.402 0.506 0.729 0.772 0.813 0.216 0.219
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile) 209.3 223.8 33.9 194.5 6.2 246.7 250.2 387.5 121.3 111.3
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 8.2 7.7 1.2 7.3 0.2 9.2 8.6 14.5 4.4 4.3
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.93 0.47 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.00 0.83 0.57 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 44.8 32.5 24.7 10.1 52.7 40.9 41.3 34.5 16.3 16.3
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 3.5 3.6 0.2 1.0 72.9 2.4 7.3 2.4 0.2 0.2
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 48.3 36.1 24.9 11.1 125.6 43.4 48.6 36.9 16.5 16.5
Level of Service (LOS) D D C B F D D D B B
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 48.3 D 20.1 C 45.2 D 30.7 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 32.9 C

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2023 Generated: 10/30/2023 3:03:15 PMPage 92

Item #  2.



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Duration, h 0.250
Analyst J. Buckholz Analysis Date Oct 30, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Clay County Time Period AM Peak Hour PHF 0.96
Urban Street US 17 Analysis Year 2026 w/ Balanced 

Timings
Analysis Period 1> 6:45

Intersection SR 16 / Cooks Lane File Name BAL_2026_B_AM_US17_SR16_CooksLn.xus
Project Description 2026 AM Peak Hr BUILD Traffic

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 36 129 0 189 36 399 2 422 223 756 295 34

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

30.0 23.1 50.0 15.0 40.0 0.0
4.9 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8 0.0
2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.5 0.0

Cycle, s 192.9 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 110 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated Yes Simult. Gap E/W Off
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S Off

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 8 7 4 1 6 5 2
Case Number 8.3 1.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 4.0
Phase Duration, s 47.3 21.8 69.1 36.9 56.9 66.9 86.9
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 7.3 6.8 7.3 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.9
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 4.2 4.9 7.1 3.9 4.5 4.9 4.4
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 19.5 17.0 25.7 2.2 25.0 44.2 15.1
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.5 0.0 3.6 0.0 3.1 4.5 1.4
Phase Call Probability 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.00 1.00 0.29 0.00 0.00 0.13 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 3 8 18 7 4 14 1 6 16 5 2 12
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 172 197 38 374 2 440 186 788 173 170
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 1601 1513 1618 1497 1810 1682 1346 1634 1693 1631
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 10.4 15.0 3.1 23.7 0.2 21.5 23.0 42.2 12.9 13.1
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 17.5 15.0 3.1 23.7 0.2 21.5 23.0 42.2 12.9 13.1
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.21 0.30 0.32 0.63 0.16 0.26 0.26 0.31 0.41 0.41
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 355 279 518 945 281 872 349 1016 702 676
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.485 0.705 0.072 0.396 0.007 0.504 0.534 0.775 0.247 0.251
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile) 314.3 184.5 67 350 4 380.3 369.9 672.5 260.1 239.5
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 12.3 6.3 2.3 13.1 0.2 14.2 12.7 25.1 9.4 9.2
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 1.40 0.39 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.00 1.23 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 67.2 60.9 45.6 17.5 68.9 60.9 61.4 60.3 36.8 36.9
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 1.0 8.6 0.2 1.0 0.0 0.7 2.1 4.0 0.3 0.3
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 68.2 69.5 45.8 18.4 68.9 61.5 63.5 64.4 37.1 37.1
Level of Service (LOS) E E D B E E E E D D
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 68.2 E 36.7 D 62.2 E 56.1 E
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 53.8 D

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS

Page 93

Item #  2.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PM PEAK HOUR 
 

 
  

Page 94

Item #  2.



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Duration, h 0.250
Analyst J. Buckholz Analysis Date Jan 24, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Clay County Time Period PM Peak Hour PHF 0.92
Urban Street US 17 Analysis Year 2022 Analysis Period 1> 16:30
Intersection SR 16 / Cooks Lane File Name 2022_PM_US17_SR16_CoveLn.xus
Project Description 2022 PM Peak Hr Traffic

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 40 27 2 204 84 880 3 537 166 513 430 17

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

0.4 14.9 22.6 13.7 19.5 0.0
4.9 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8 0.0
2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.5 0.0

2 3 4

5 7 8

Cycle, s 105.8 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 110 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated Yes Simult. Gap E/W Off
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S Off

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 8 7 4 1 6 5 2
Case Number 8.3 1.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 4.0
Phase Duration, s 26.8 20.5 47.3 7.3 29.5 29.1 51.3
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 7.3 6.8 7.3 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.9
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 6.0 4.9 7.1 3.9 4.4 4.9 4.4
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 9.4 12.9 42.0 2.2 19.3 18.4 11.6
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.4 0.8 0.0 0.0 3.2 3.8 2.2
Phase Call Probability 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.09 1.00 1.00 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.00 0.02 1.00 0.00 0.05 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 3 8 18 7 4 14 1 6 16 5 2 12
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 75 222 91 861 3 584 145 558 244 242
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 831 1654 1752 1510 1810 1696 1510 1702 1811 1786
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 6.0 10.9 3.6 40.0 0.2 17.3 8.8 16.4 9.6 9.6
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 7.4 10.9 3.6 40.0 0.2 17.3 8.8 16.4 9.6 9.6
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.18 0.33 0.38 0.59 0.33 0.21 0.21 0.21 0.42 0.42
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 207 427 662 887 6 723 322 713 759 749
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.363 0.519 0.138 0.971 0.519 0.807 0.449 0.782 0.322 0.323
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile) 88 208.5 72 821.4 8 309.6 155.6 292 189.3 186
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 3.2 7.7 2.7 30.9 0.3 11.6 5.8 11.3 7.2 7.2
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.39 0.44 0.00 0.00 0.04 0.00 0.52 0.43 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 37.8 27.8 21.6 21.0 52.7 39.6 36.2 39.6 20.6 20.6
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 1.1 1.4 0.3 23.7 53.6 3.4 1.4 2.7 0.3 0.4
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 38.8 29.1 22.0 44.7 106.3 42.9 37.6 42.3 21.0 21.0
Level of Service (LOS) D C C D F D D D C C
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 38.8 D 40.0 D 42.2 D 32.4 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 37.9 D

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS

Copyright © 2023 University of Florida, All Rights Reserved. HCS™ Streets Version 2023 Generated: 1/24/2023 1:59:59 PMPage 95

Item #  2.



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Duration, h 0.250
Analyst J. Buckholz Analysis Date Oct 30, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Clay County Time Period PM Peak Hour PHF 0.92
Urban Street US 17 Analysis Year 2026 Analysis Period 1> 16:30
Intersection SR 16 / Cooks Lane File Name 2026_B_PM_US17_SR16_CooksLn.xus
Project Description 2026 PM Peak Hr BUILD Traffic

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 68 61 3 218 138 942 3 575 178 549 460 43

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

0.4 18.1 25.7 15.6 22.1 0.0
4.9 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8 0.0
2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.5 0.0

Cycle, s 116.6 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 110 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated Yes Simult. Gap E/W Off
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S Off

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 8 7 4 1 6 5 2
Case Number 8.3 1.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 4.0
Phase Duration, s 29.4 22.4 51.8 7.3 32.6 32.3 57.5
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 7.3 6.8 7.3 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.9
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 6.1 4.9 7.1 3.9 4.4 4.9 4.4
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 21.6 14.9 46.4 2.2 22.5 21.4 14.0
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.5 0.8 0.0 0.0 3.2 4.0 2.5
Phase Call Probability 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.34 0.07 1.00 0.00 0.15 0.00 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 3 8 18 7 4 14 1 6 16 5 2 12
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 143 237 150 922 3 625 154 597 277 270
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 826 1654 1752 1510 1810 1696 1510 1702 1811 1756
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 17.7 12.9 6.7 44.4 0.2 20.5 10.3 19.4 11.9 12.0
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 19.6 12.9 6.7 44.4 0.2 20.5 10.3 19.4 11.9 12.0
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.19 0.34 0.38 0.60 0.00 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.43 0.43
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 203 309 668 904 6 746 332 741 786 762
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.707 0.768 0.225 1.020 0.525 0.837 0.465 0.806 0.352 0.354
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile) 214.1 252.8 136.7 1052.

2
8.5 365.6 184.7 337.6 228.9 223.1

Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 7.8 9.3 5.1 39.6 0.3 13.7 6.9 13.1 8.7 8.6
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 0.95 0.53 0.00 0.00 0.04 0.00 0.62 0.50 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 45.3 32.0 24.4 23.4 57.9 43.4 39.5 43.2 22.0 22.0
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 6.5 6.5 0.6 35.0 55.0 5.4 1.4 3.0 0.4 0.4
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 51.8 38.5 25.0 58.3 112.9 48.8 40.9 46.2 22.4 22.4
Level of Service (LOS) D D C F F D D D C C
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 51.8 D 50.9 D 47.5 D 34.8 C
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 44.7 D

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS

Page 96

Item #  2.



HCS Signalized Intersection Results Summary

General Information Intersection Information
Agency BUCKHOLZ TRAFFIC Duration, h 0.250
Analyst J. Buckholz Analysis Date Oct 30, 2023 Area Type Other
Jurisdiction Clay County Time Period PM Peak Hour PHF 0.92
Urban Street US 17 Analysis Year 2026 w/ Balanced 

Timings
Analysis Period 1> 16:30

Intersection SR 16 / Cooks Lane File Name BAL_2026_B_PM_US17_SR16_CooksLn.xus
Project Description 2026 PM Peak Hr BUILD Traffic

Demand Information EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Demand ( v ), veh/h 68 61 3 218 138 942 3 575 178 549 460 43

Signal Information

Green
Yellow
Red

20.0 6.1 33.0 14.0 32.0 0.0
4.9 4.9 4.9 4.8 4.8 0.0
2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.5 0.0

Cycle, s 139.9 Reference Phase 2
Offset, s 110 Reference Point End
Uncoordinated Yes Simult. Gap E/W Off
Force Mode Fixed Simult. Gap N/S Off

Timer Results EBL EBT WBL WBT NBL NBT SBL SBT
Assigned Phase 8 7 4 1 6 5 2
Case Number 8.3 1.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 4.0
Phase Duration, s 39.3 20.8 60.1 26.9 39.9 39.9 52.9
Change Period, ( Y+R c ), s 7.3 6.8 7.3 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.9
Max Allow Headway ( MAH ), s 6.1 4.9 7.1 3.9 4.4 4.9 4.4
Queue Clearance Time ( g s ), s 24.8 16.0 54.8 2.2 26.1 24.7 19.1
Green Extension Time ( g e ), s 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2 2.3 2.4
Phase Call Probability 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Max Out Probability 0.60 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.56 0.43 0.00

Movement Group Results EB WB NB SB
Approach Movement L T R L T R L T R L T R
Assigned Movement 3 8 18 7 4 14 1 6 16 5 2 12
Adjusted Flow Rate ( v ), veh/h 143 237 150 922 3 625 154 597 277 270
Adjusted Saturation Flow Rate ( s ), veh/h/ln 800 1654 1752 1510 1810 1696 1359 1702 1811 1756
Queue Service Time ( g s ), s 20.9 14.0 8.2 52.8 0.2 24.1 13.7 22.7 16.9 17.1
Cycle Queue Clearance Time ( g c ), s 22.8 14.0 8.2 52.8 0.2 24.1 13.7 22.7 16.9 17.1
Green Ratio ( g/C ) 0.23 0.34 0.38 0.61 0.14 0.24 0.24 0.24 0.33 0.33
Capacity ( c ), veh/h 222 298 661 926 259 800 320 803 595 578
Volume-to-Capacity Ratio ( X ) 0.647 0.794 0.227 0.996 0.013 0.781 0.482 0.743 0.465 0.467
Back of Queue ( Q ), ft/ln ( 95 th percentile) 240 317.7 170 1173 4.4 423.7 219.3 393.9 318.8 310.5
Back of Queue ( Q ), veh/ln ( 95 th percentile) 8.8 11.7 6.3 44.1 0.2 15.9 8.2 15.3 12.2 11.9
Queue Storage Ratio ( RQ ) ( 95 th percentile) 1.07 0.67 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.00 0.73 0.58 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay ( d 1 ), s/veh 49.4 39.8 29.7 26.9 51.5 50.1 46.1 49.5 37.2 37.2
Incremental Delay ( d 2 ), s/veh 6.4 14.4 0.6 28.5 0.0 5.3 1.6 4.0 0.8 0.8
Initial Queue Delay ( d 3 ), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Control Delay ( d ), s/veh 55.8 54.1 30.3 55.4 51.5 55.4 47.7 53.6 38.0 38.1
Level of Service (LOS) E D C E D E D D D D
Approach Delay, s/veh / LOS 55.8 E 52.3 D 53.8 D 46.1 D
Intersection Delay, s/veh / LOS 50.7 D

Multimodal Results EB WB NB SB
Pedestrian LOS Score / LOS
Bicycle LOS Score / LOS

Page 97

Item #  2.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: January 23, 2024 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Large Scale Future Land Use Map Amendment for property located at the Southeast 

corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 58.12 acres of parcel #016451-000-00 and 

a portion of parcel #016451-003-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use 

                                                      to:   Industrial  

 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: David Smith, Louis L Huntley 

Enterprises 
OWNER: Louis Ward Huntley  

PROPERTY LOCATION: 965 Leonard C Taylor Highway 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016451-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-24-001  

CURRENT ZONING:  C-2 General Commercial  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Mixed Use 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 SOUTH: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST: FLU:  MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 
 
 

Page 98

Item #  3.



BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Future Land Use and Zoning Change for the subject property for 

the construction of industrial development.  There is an existing building on the site that had been 

used for manufacturing plant which has been closed in 2010.  However industrial businesses such 

as Woodford Plywood, Meever USA and Front Runner Boatworks have been located at this 

location as nonconforming industrial uses.   

The property is surrounded by the HLM property on all sides.  Property access to SR 16 is provided 

through a vehicular and utility easement.   

To the south and east of the property there is an extension of the CSX rail line that is owned by 

the City and has fallen into disrepair.  The applicant has expressed an interest in entering an 

agreement with the City to repair the existing Rail line and add a Railroad spur to serve potential 

future Industrial users on the property.  These actions would require a separate agreement to be 

approved by the City.   

All proposed new development will be required to meet the City’s Site Development Plan code 

requirements and be submitted to the Planning Commission and City Council for approval. 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be 

served by the City’s sanitation services.  

Additionally, the applicant has previously submitted the following future land use and rezoning 

requests: 

Application # Description 

FLUS-23-005 Future Land Use Application from Mixed Use to Industrial  

ZON-23-007 Rezoning Application from C-2 General Business to M-2 Heavy 

Industrial  

FLUS-23-006 Future Land Use Application from Mixed Use to Industrial  

ZON-23-007 Rezoning Application from C-2 General Business to M-2 Heavy 

Industrial  

These previous cases were approved at the Planning Commission in August of 2023 and table by 

the City Council on the September 19, 2023 meeting due to concerns by Council regarding the 

impact of approving additional industrial development along a key gateway corridor coming into 

the City.  The applicant agreed to submit a Future Land Use text amendment to address the 

following issues: 

 Land uses  

 Site Design 

 Buffering  

 Traffic  

 

Page 99

Item #  3.



The text amendment will be required to be a large-scale amendment, so as a result, the map 

amendment will now be taken as a large-scale amendment as well.   

Site Specific Text Amendment 

Objective 1.8 The City shall adopt, as necessary, Future Land Use Map Amendments with 

specific development conditions that are consistent with the City’s adopted Level of Service 

(LOS) standards and Future Land Use Element, and compatible with the surrounding uses.  

Policy 1.8.1: Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Amendment adopted by Ordinance Number O-01-

2024 on XXX,XX, 2024 changes the future land use on the amendment area from Mixed Use to 

Industrial. Development shall meet the requirements of all applicable goals, objectives and 

policies of the Comprehensive Plan; however, the land use and development potential made 

available by the FLUM Amendment Ordinance O-01-2024 is hereby limited based on the 

following:  

1. Prior to the approval of a subsequent development order such as but not limited to a 

subdivision or site development plan, the property owner/developer must submit a developer’s 

agreement addressing the following development requirements for the Amendment parcels 

that is currently owned by HLM Investments that is adjacent to SR 16 and US 17: 

a) Address screening and buffering requirements between the Amendment parcels or portion 

thereof and the remaining portion of parcel 016451-0000 and SR 16 and US 17. 

b) Address Building, site and streetscape design requirements for the Amendment parcels or 

portion thereof and the remaining portion of parcel 016451-0000 adjacent to SR 16 and 

US 17.   These requirements shall include but are not limited to: 

a. Block Standards 

b. Building Placement  

c. Building Typology and Massing  

d. Building Frontage Design 

e. Façade Articulation 

f. Entrances 

g. Building Materials 

h. Lighting  

i. Service Area and Mechanical Equipment Screening 

j. Signage 

2. Prior to approval of a subsequent development order, such as but not limited a zoning, 

subdivision or site development plan, the property owner/developer will be required to 

provide an Access Management Plan and Traffic Impact Analysis and to address site access 

and traffic capacity, the plan must be developed in cooperation with Florida Department of 

Transportation, Clay County and the City of Green Cove Springs.  The Access Management 

Plan and traffic capacity plan shall be completed prior to the approval of a subsequent 

development order such as a Zoning, Subdivision or Site Development Plan for the 

Amendment Parcels that is currently owned by HLM Investments that is adjacent to SR 16 

and US 17;   

3. Limit uses on the Amendment Parcels by allowing M-1 Uses by right and M-2 uses as a 

special exception.   

Page 100

Item #  3.



4. Property shall be rezoned to a Planned Unit Development (PUD).  A conceptual plan and 

written description shall be included with the PUD submittal.    

Aerial  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101

Item #  3.



Environmental Conditions Analysis  

Maps of Environmental Features 

Wetlands 

There are Riverines or Riparian wetlands located in the northeast area of the property. 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102

Item #  3.



Floodplain 

A portion of the subject property is located in Flood zone A which are areas subject to inundation 

by the 1 percent annual chance flood event generally determined using approximate 

methodologies.  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103

Item #  3.



Additional Environmental Issues: 

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) became aware of groundwater 

contamination on the property in July 2015 and subsequently provided a Declaration of Restrictive 

Covenant on the property which was recorded with the Clay County Clerk of Court in March 2020 

and is attached for your review.  Pursuant to FDEP’s investigation chlorinated hydorcarbons were 

detected on the subject property and adjacent property as set forth in Exhibit D of the 1st 

Amendment to the DRCGCS Town Center which is enclosed. In April of 2022, a Conditional Site 

Rehabilitation Completion Order was approved by FDEP that limited the contamination issue to 

the groundwater.  As a result, the following improvements are prohibited without meeting the 

requirements set forth in the Completion Order: 

a) Dewatering activities 

b) Stormwater management systems (including swales and ditches) can be 

constructed. 

c) Drinking, irrigation or monitoring well installation.  

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is located within Zone 4 of the wellfield protection zone.  They are outside of the 

500’ requirement which limits the types of uses on this site.   

 

 
 

 

 

Page 104

Item #  3.



URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element 

to discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, 

identifies 13 primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of 

these indicators shall consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of 

features and characteristics unique to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop 

as low-intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation to 

Industrial.  The area along the US 17 and SR 16 Corridors will remain as Mixed Use allowing for 

a mix of uses but at the same time allowing for increased employment opportunities.    

(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural 

areas at substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are 

available and suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the US 17 Corridor that is currently 

Land Used and Zoned for predominantly commercial/industrial development The project site is 

located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban service areas. 

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns 

generally emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed Industrial designation allows for industrial uses, thereby 

providing a balance of uses to complement the Mixed Use designation adjacent along the US 17 

and SR 16 Corridors. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, 

native vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, 

lakes, rivers, shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site has existing wetlands, floodplains and is within the wellhead 

protection area.  In order to ensure that natural resources are protected, a site specific land use 

amendment requiring future development to comply with Development Restrictions regarding 

protecting groundwater.      

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, 

active agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, 

and prime farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing 

development, the proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services. 

(VII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, 

money, and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable 

Page 105

Item #  3.



water, sanitary sewer, stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and 

emergency response, and general government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with 

existing public facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public 

facilities and services and shall mitigate for the increase in time, money, and energy for providing 

and maintaining these facilities through the payment of impact fees for utilities including roads, 

government services, and on-going ad valorem taxes.   

(VIII) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban 

service areas and is not adjacent to any rural zoned properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods 

and communities.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will not discourage infill development and is 

located within an existing developed area. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site will allow for industrial uses in an area that is suitable 

for industrial development.   

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site shall have access via an easement to SR 16.   

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also 

establishes eight (8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is 

presumed to not be considered urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These 

urban form criteria, and an evaluation of each as each may relate to this application, are provided 

below. The applicant has provided an analysis of the application’s consistency with Section 

163.3177 within the application materials and contends that the proposed amendment will not 

encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets four of the eight urban form criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the 

community in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources 

and ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric 

urban service areas which have been planned to accommodate growth which allows for the 

preservation of the natural resources of outlying areas.  In addition, all new development shall 

comply with the City’s landscaping, tree preservation and resource protection ordinances.    

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and 

services.  

Page 106

Item #  3.



Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will 

result in utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a 

mix of uses at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a 

multimodal transportation system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: Sidewalks are provided along US 17 and shall be provided as part of 

future development along SR 16.    

Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in 

areas further outside of the urban areas. 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and 

prime farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban 

areas reduces the pressure to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the 

nonresidential needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of 

nonresidential uses. The proposed development will provide additional employment opportunities 

to the residents of this community, providing a balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing 

or planned development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an 

innovative development pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in 

s. 163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the 

Future Land Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most 

appropriate use of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, 

safety and welfare of the public. 

Objective 1.1.  New development and Redevelopment shall be directed to appropriate areas 

of the City. 

Page 107

Item #  3.



e. Industrial (IND): This FLUC is intended to accommodate primarily light and heavy 

manufacturing, distribution, and storage, in addition to heavy commercial and professional office 

uses.  Maximum Intensity: 0.6 FAR 

Objective 1.2.  The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable land use pattern by preventing the 

proliferation of urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision of services, and implementing 

smart growth principles. 

Policy 1.2.1. The location and timing of new development and the issuance of permits shall be 

coordinated with the availability of public facilities through implementation of various smart 

growth management measures. 

Policy 1.2.6. The City shall require new development to connect to the City’s centralized potable 

water and sanitary sewer system. 

Policy 1.2.7. The City shall condition development orders upon the provision of essential 

facilities and services which meet and would not result in the failure of each service’s established 

level of service (LOS). 

Policy 1.2.8. The City shall ensure the availability and protection of lands designated for the 

future expansion of public infrastructure.  

Objective 1.4.  The City shall strive to preserve its natural resources. 

Policy 1.4.5. Development orders shall not be issued in areas where soils conditions are not 

adequate for building construction, drainage, roads, and other development-related facilities. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital 

Improvements Element to ensure that acceptable traffic conditions are maintained*.  

*The City is in the process of implementing a mobility plan and fee for new development to ensure 

that needed transportation improvements are provided to ensure that the City is addressing 

transportation congestion issues and providing for multimodal improvements.   

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual published 

by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that 

the 

proposed development will produce or attract. 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Objective 4.2.  The City shall continue to provide safe and adequate sanitary sewer service to all 

existing and future developments located within the City limits. Existing Sanitary Sewer 

deficiencies shall be scheduled for correction in the Capital Improvements Element. 

Policy 4.2.1 All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection  

Policy 4.2.1. All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection.  

Page 108

Item #  3.



Objective 4.6.  Future Development shall be required to connect with central water systems and 

provide stormwater facilities which maximize the use of existing facilities and discourage urban 

sprawl. 

Policy 4.6.1. The City shall annually monitor the condition of level of service standards for solid 

waste, potable water, wastewater, and stormwater facilities. The Planning and Zoning 

Department shall be assigned the task of reviewing all development orders to determine their 

current and future impacts on the capacities of existing public facilities.  

Policy 4.6.2. No permit shall be issued for new development which will result in an increase in 

demand on deficient capacities or if adequate facility capacities for solid waste, potable water, 

sanitary sewer, and drainage facilities are not available prior to or concurrent with the 

development's impact. 

CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

Policy 5.3.2.  The City shall ensure that public potable water wellfields will be located in areas 

where they will be least impacted by development and contamination. 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COORDINATION ELEMENT 

Objective 7.1.  The City shall act to ensure that all planning and development related activities 

are coordinated with the comprehensive plan or any other plans of Clay County, the Northeast 

Florida Regional Council (NEFRC), and the School Board. 

Policy 7.1.1.  Maintain procedures to review comprehensive plans and comprehensive plan 

amendments of the County and the plans of the Clay County School Board and the Northeast 

Florida Regional Council. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENT 

Policy 9.1.6. Continue collaboration through the Clay County EDC and the Clay County 

Chamber of Commerce with Florida Chamber of Commerce and Enterprise Florida Inc for sector 

strategy development, regional incentive updates and statewide attraction and site selection 

programs. 

Objective 9.5.  The City shall collaborate economic development efforts with state, regional and 

local partners to foster a system of enhanced communication and partnerships within the 

Northeast Florida region.    F 

PRIVATE PROPERTY RIGHTS ELEMENT 

Objective 10.1.  The City shall recognize that each property owner has constitutionally protected 

private property rights and shall consider these property rights in local decision making by 

referring to a set of statement of rights identified in this element. A 

Policy 10.1.1. The following rights shall be considered in local decision making:  

a. The right of a property owner to physically possess and control his or her interests in the 

property, including easements, leases, or mineral rights.  

b. The right of a property owner to use, maintain, develop, and improve his or her property for 

personal use or for the use of any other person, subject to state law and local ordinances.  

Page 109

Item #  3.



c. The right of the property owner to privacy and to exclude others from the property to protect 

the owner's possessions and property.  

d. The right of a property owner to dispose of his or her property through sale or gift. and  

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  

Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Industrial 2,531 6.83 3,554 .82 476 .85 496 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: There are no development plans at this time as a result, the traffic impacts were 

calculated on the total acreage of the proposed industrial park.   

 

Potable Water Impacts 

Industrial 

 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                                167,092 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,019,907 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 

 

 

Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential industrial uses.  As shown in the table above, 

there is adequate capacity this use type.  The City has existing water lines installed at this location.     

Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

Industrial 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2    167,092 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -321,874 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 

Page 110

Item #  3.



Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential commercial or residential uses.  The project site 

is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the table above, when 

factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to handle the 

estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the Rookery 

Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project.  At such 

time, the Rookery capacity will be served by a new wastewater treatment facility provided by the Clay 

County Utility Authority.  Once the facility is built, the capacity temporarily reserved to the Rookery shall 

be available for this development.  In addition, the remaining demand will be sent via force main to the 

Harbor Road plant, where the City has an excess capacity of approximately 700,000 gallons per day.  As a 

result, there is adequate capacity.  The City has existing sewer lines at this location.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

Industrial 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 None 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs does not provide commercial sanitation services, prospective sanitation collection franchisees 

shall comply with City Code Section 66-10. 
 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County. Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a 

minimum of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management 

facility. For commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial 

locations must instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 

Compatibility 

The Subject Property is located adjacent to a Mixed Use Land Use District to the north and west 

and to the east the property is the Reynolds AirPark which is zoned Industrial.  The properties to 

the south along Hall Park Road are also Zoned Industrial.   In addition, the subject property is in 

close proximity to a Railroad which is conducive for Industrial Development and had previously 

been used as a Manufacturing facility.  The property along US 17 and SR 16 shall remain as 

commercial properties in keeping with providing a commercial gateway into the City.  As a result, 

the proposed Future Land Use and Zoning application is suitable for the property and compatible 

with the surrounding uses.   

 

Intent of Existing Future Land Use District  

This Designation encompasses lands along major transportation corridors and is intended to 

accommodate primarily nonresidential uses including light and heavy commercial uses, lodging, 

and professional offices, interspersed with medium density residential uses and public/semi-public 

facilities. 

 

Intent of Proposed Future Land Use District 

This Designation is intended to accommodate primarily light and heavy manufacturing, 

distribution, and storage, in addition to heavy commercial and professional office uses. 

Page 111

Item #  3.



 

Existing Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 112

Item #  3.



 

 

Proposed Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 113

Item #  3.



 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use designation from Mixed Use to Industrial 

subject to the Site-Specific Text Amendment with the following conditions: 

1. Provide a comprehensive traffic study meeting the City Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) 

for new development prior to approval of a subsequent development order. 

2. Limit Uses within the amendment parcels to permitted uses in the M-1 Light Industrial 

Zoning Classification.      

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use  

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-01-2024, to amend the Future Land Use 

of the property described therein from Mixed Use to Industrial  

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-02-2024, regarding a site-specific text 

amendment regarding the Future Land Use of the property described therein from Mixed Use 

to Industrial 

1. Provide a comprehensive traffic study meeting the City Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) 

for new development prior to approval of a subsequent development order. 

2. Limit Uses within the amendment parcels to permitted uses in the M-1 Light Industrial 

Zoning Classification.      

 

  

 

 

 

Page 114

Item #  3.



Page 115

Item #  3.



Page 116

Item #  3.



Page 117

Item #  3.



Page 118

Item #  3.



0 750 1,500375 Feet

Subject Property

Public

Neighborhood

Mixed-Use RP

Mixed-Use

Industrial

Downtown

Existing Future Land Use

Page 119

Item #  3.



0 750 1,500375 Feet

Subject Property

Public

Neighborhood

Mixed-Use RP

Mixed-Use

Industrial

Downtown

Proposed Future Land Use

Page 120

Item #  3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: January 23, 2024 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Large Scale Future Land Use Text Amendment for property located at the Southeast 

corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 58.12 acres of parcel #016451-000-00 and 

a portion of parcel #016451-003-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use 

                                                      to:   Industrial  

 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: David Smith, Louis L Huntley 

Enterprises 
OWNER: Louis Ward Huntley  

PROPERTY LOCATION: 965 Leonard C Taylor Highway 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016451-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-24-001  

CURRENT ZONING:  C-2 General Commercial  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Mixed Use 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 SOUTH: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST: FLU:  MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 
 
 

Page 121

Item #  4.



BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Future Land Use and Zoning Change for the subject property for 

the construction of industrial development.  There is an existing building on the site that had been 

used for manufacturing plant which has been closed in 2010.  However industrial businesses such 

as Woodford Plywood, Meever USA and Front Runner Boatworks have been located at this 

location as nonconforming industrial uses.   

The property is surrounded by the HLM property on all sides.  Property access to SR 16 is provided 

through a vehicular and utility easement.   

To the south and east of the property there is an extension of the CSX rail line that is owned by 

the City and has fallen into disrepair.  The applicant has expressed an interest in entering an 

agreement with the City to repair the existing Rail line and add a Railroad spur to serve potential 

future Industrial users on the property.  These actions would require a separate agreement to be 

approved by the City.   

All proposed new development will be required to meet the City’s Site Development Plan code 

requirements and be submitted to the Planning Commission and City Council for approval. 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be 

served by the City’s sanitation services.  

Additionally, the applicant has previously submitted the following future land use and rezoning 

requests: 

Application # Description 

FLUS-23-005 Future Land Use Application from Mixed Use to Industrial  

ZON-23-007 Rezoning Application from C-2 General Business to M-2 Heavy 

Industrial  

FLUS-23-006 Future Land Use Application from Mixed Use to Industrial  

ZON-23-007 Rezoning Application from C-2 General Business to M-2 Heavy 

Industrial  

These previous cases were approved at the Planning Commission in August of 2023 and table by 

the City Council on the September 19, 2023 meeting due to concerns by Council regarding the 

impact of approving additional industrial development along a key gateway corridor coming into 

the City.  The applicant agreed to submit a Future Land Use text amendment to address the 

following issues: 

 Land uses  

 Site Design 

 Buffering  

 Traffic  

 

Page 122

Item #  4.



The text amendment will be required to be a large-scale amendment, so as a result, the map 

amendment will now be taken as a large-scale amendment as well.   

Site Specific Text Amendment 

Objective 1.8 The City shall adopt, as necessary, Future Land Use Map Amendments with 

specific development conditions that are consistent with the City’s adopted Level of Service 

(LOS) standards and Future Land Use Element, and compatible with the surrounding uses.  

Policy 1.8.1: Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Amendment adopted by Ordinance Number O-01-

2024 on XXX,XX, 2024 changes the future land use on the amendment area from Mixed Use to 

Industrial. Development shall meet the requirements of all applicable goals, objectives and 

policies of the Comprehensive Plan; however, the land use and development potential made 

available by the FLUM Amendment Ordinance O-01-2024 is hereby limited based on the 

following:  

1. Prior to the approval of a subsequent development order such as but not limited to a 

subdivision or site development plan, the property owner/developer must submit a developer’s 

agreement addressing the following development requirements for the Amendment parcels 

that is currently owned by HLM Investments that is adjacent to SR 16 and US 17: 

a) Address screening and buffering requirements between the Amendment parcels or portion 

thereof and the remaining portion of parcel 016451-0000 and SR 16 and US 17. 

b) Address Building, site and streetscape design requirements for the Amendment parcels or 

portion thereof and the remaining portion of parcel 016451-0000 adjacent to SR 16 and 

US 17.   These requirements shall include but are not limited to: 

a. Block Standards 

b. Building Placement  

c. Building Typology and Massing  

d. Building Frontage Design 

e. Façade Articulation 

f. Entrances 

g. Building Materials 

h. Lighting  

i. Service Area and Mechanical Equipment Screening 

j. Signage 

2. Prior to approval of a subsequent development order, such as but not limited a zoning, 

subdivision or site development plan, the property owner/developer will be required to 

provide an Access Management Plan and Traffic Impact Analysis and to address site access 

and traffic capacity, the plan must be developed in cooperation with Florida Department of 

Transportation, Clay County and the City of Green Cove Springs.  The Access Management 

Plan and traffic capacity plan shall be completed prior to the approval of a subsequent 

development order such as a Zoning, Subdivision or Site Development Plan for the 

Amendment Parcels that is currently owned by HLM Investments that is adjacent to SR 16 

and US 17;   

3. Limit uses on the Amendment Parcels by allowing M-1 Uses by right and M-2 uses as a 

special exception.   

Page 123

Item #  4.



4. Property shall be rezoned to a Planned Unit Development (PUD).  A conceptual plan and 

written description shall be included with the PUD submittal.    

Aerial  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 124

Item #  4.



Environmental Conditions Analysis  

Maps of Environmental Features 

Wetlands 

There are Riverines or Riparian wetlands located in the northeast area of the property. 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125

Item #  4.



Floodplain 

A portion of the subject property is located in Flood zone A which are areas subject to inundation 

by the 1 percent annual chance flood event generally determined using approximate 

methodologies.  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 126

Item #  4.



Additional Environmental Issues: 

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) became aware of groundwater 

contamination on the property in July 2015 and subsequently provided a Declaration of Restrictive 

Covenant on the property which was recorded with the Clay County Clerk of Court in March 2020 

and is attached for your review.  Pursuant to FDEP’s investigation chlorinated hydorcarbons were 

detected on the subject property and adjacent property as set forth in Exhibit D of the 1st 

Amendment to the DRCGCS Town Center which is enclosed. In April of 2022, a Conditional Site 

Rehabilitation Completion Order was approved by FDEP that limited the contamination issue to 

the groundwater.  As a result, the following improvements are prohibited without meeting the 

requirements set forth in the Completion Order: 

a) Dewatering activities 

b) Stormwater management systems (including swales and ditches) can be 

constructed. 

c) Drinking, irrigation or monitoring well installation.  

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is located within Zone 4 of the wellfield protection zone.  They are outside of the 

500’ requirement which limits the types of uses on this site.   

 

 
 

 

 

Page 127

Item #  4.



URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element 

to discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, 

identifies 13 primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of 

these indicators shall consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of 

features and characteristics unique to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop 

as low-intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation to 

Industrial.  The area along the US 17 and SR 16 Corridors will remain as Mixed Use allowing for 

a mix of uses but at the same time allowing for increased employment opportunities.    

(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural 

areas at substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are 

available and suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the US 17 Corridor that is currently 

Land Used and Zoned for predominantly commercial/industrial development The project site is 

located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban service areas. 

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns 

generally emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed Industrial designation allows for industrial uses, thereby 

providing a balance of uses to complement the Mixed Use designation adjacent along the US 17 

and SR 16 Corridors. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, 

native vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, 

lakes, rivers, shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site has existing wetlands, floodplains and is within the wellhead 

protection area.  In order to ensure that natural resources are protected, a site specific land use 

amendment requiring future development to comply with Development Restrictions regarding 

protecting groundwater.      

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, 

active agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, 

and prime farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing 

development, the proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services. 

(VII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, 

money, and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable 

Page 128

Item #  4.



water, sanitary sewer, stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and 

emergency response, and general government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with 

existing public facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public 

facilities and services and shall mitigate for the increase in time, money, and energy for providing 

and maintaining these facilities through the payment of impact fees for utilities including roads, 

government services, and on-going ad valorem taxes.   

(VIII) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban 

service areas and is not adjacent to any rural zoned properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods 

and communities.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will not discourage infill development and is 

located within an existing developed area. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site will allow for industrial uses in an area that is suitable 

for industrial development.   

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site shall have access via an easement to SR 16.   

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also 

establishes eight (8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is 

presumed to not be considered urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These 

urban form criteria, and an evaluation of each as each may relate to this application, are provided 

below. The applicant has provided an analysis of the application’s consistency with Section 

163.3177 within the application materials and contends that the proposed amendment will not 

encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets four of the eight urban form criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the 

community in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources 

and ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric 

urban service areas which have been planned to accommodate growth which allows for the 

preservation of the natural resources of outlying areas.  In addition, all new development shall 

comply with the City’s landscaping, tree preservation and resource protection ordinances.    

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and 

services.  

Page 129

Item #  4.



Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will 

result in utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a 

mix of uses at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a 

multimodal transportation system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: Sidewalks are provided along US 17 and shall be provided as part of 

future development along SR 16.    

Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in 

areas further outside of the urban areas. 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and 

prime farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban 

areas reduces the pressure to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the 

nonresidential needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of 

nonresidential uses. The proposed development will provide additional employment opportunities 

to the residents of this community, providing a balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing 

or planned development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an 

innovative development pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in 

s. 163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the 

Future Land Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most 

appropriate use of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, 

safety and welfare of the public. 

Objective 1.1.  New development and Redevelopment shall be directed to appropriate areas 

of the City. 

Page 130

Item #  4.



e. Industrial (IND): This FLUC is intended to accommodate primarily light and heavy 

manufacturing, distribution, and storage, in addition to heavy commercial and professional office 

uses.  Maximum Intensity: 0.6 FAR 

Objective 1.2.  The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable land use pattern by preventing the 

proliferation of urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision of services, and implementing 

smart growth principles. 

Policy 1.2.1. The location and timing of new development and the issuance of permits shall be 

coordinated with the availability of public facilities through implementation of various smart 

growth management measures. 

Policy 1.2.6. The City shall require new development to connect to the City’s centralized potable 

water and sanitary sewer system. 

Policy 1.2.7. The City shall condition development orders upon the provision of essential 

facilities and services which meet and would not result in the failure of each service’s established 

level of service (LOS). 

Policy 1.2.8. The City shall ensure the availability and protection of lands designated for the 

future expansion of public infrastructure.  

Objective 1.4.  The City shall strive to preserve its natural resources. 

Policy 1.4.5. Development orders shall not be issued in areas where soils conditions are not 

adequate for building construction, drainage, roads, and other development-related facilities. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital 

Improvements Element to ensure that acceptable traffic conditions are maintained*.  

*The City is in the process of implementing a mobility plan and fee for new development to ensure 

that needed transportation improvements are provided to ensure that the City is addressing 

transportation congestion issues and providing for multimodal improvements.   

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual published 

by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that 

the 

proposed development will produce or attract. 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Objective 4.2.  The City shall continue to provide safe and adequate sanitary sewer service to all 

existing and future developments located within the City limits. Existing Sanitary Sewer 

deficiencies shall be scheduled for correction in the Capital Improvements Element. 

Policy 4.2.1 All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection  

Policy 4.2.1. All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection.  

Page 131

Item #  4.



Objective 4.6.  Future Development shall be required to connect with central water systems and 

provide stormwater facilities which maximize the use of existing facilities and discourage urban 

sprawl. 

Policy 4.6.1. The City shall annually monitor the condition of level of service standards for solid 

waste, potable water, wastewater, and stormwater facilities. The Planning and Zoning 

Department shall be assigned the task of reviewing all development orders to determine their 

current and future impacts on the capacities of existing public facilities.  

Policy 4.6.2. No permit shall be issued for new development which will result in an increase in 

demand on deficient capacities or if adequate facility capacities for solid waste, potable water, 

sanitary sewer, and drainage facilities are not available prior to or concurrent with the 

development's impact. 

CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

Policy 5.3.2.  The City shall ensure that public potable water wellfields will be located in areas 

where they will be least impacted by development and contamination. 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COORDINATION ELEMENT 

Objective 7.1.  The City shall act to ensure that all planning and development related activities 

are coordinated with the comprehensive plan or any other plans of Clay County, the Northeast 

Florida Regional Council (NEFRC), and the School Board. 

Policy 7.1.1.  Maintain procedures to review comprehensive plans and comprehensive plan 

amendments of the County and the plans of the Clay County School Board and the Northeast 

Florida Regional Council. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENT 

Policy 9.1.6. Continue collaboration through the Clay County EDC and the Clay County 

Chamber of Commerce with Florida Chamber of Commerce and Enterprise Florida Inc for sector 

strategy development, regional incentive updates and statewide attraction and site selection 

programs. 

Objective 9.5.  The City shall collaborate economic development efforts with state, regional and 

local partners to foster a system of enhanced communication and partnerships within the 

Northeast Florida region.    F 

PRIVATE PROPERTY RIGHTS ELEMENT 

Objective 10.1.  The City shall recognize that each property owner has constitutionally protected 

private property rights and shall consider these property rights in local decision making by 

referring to a set of statement of rights identified in this element. A 

Policy 10.1.1. The following rights shall be considered in local decision making:  

a. The right of a property owner to physically possess and control his or her interests in the 

property, including easements, leases, or mineral rights.  

b. The right of a property owner to use, maintain, develop, and improve his or her property for 

personal use or for the use of any other person, subject to state law and local ordinances.  

Page 132

Item #  4.



c. The right of the property owner to privacy and to exclude others from the property to protect 

the owner's possessions and property.  

d. The right of a property owner to dispose of his or her property through sale or gift. and  

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  

Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Industrial 2,531 6.83 3,554 .82 476 .85 496 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: There are no development plans at this time as a result, the traffic impacts were 

calculated on the total acreage of the proposed industrial park.   

 

Potable Water Impacts 

Industrial 

 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                                167,092 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,019,907 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 

 

 

Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential industrial uses.  As shown in the table above, 

there is adequate capacity this use type.  The City has existing water lines installed at this location.     

Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

Industrial 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2    167,092 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -321,874 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 

Page 133

Item #  4.



Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential commercial or residential uses.  The project site 

is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the table above, when 

factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to handle the 

estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the Rookery 

Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project.  At such 

time, the Rookery capacity will be served by a new wastewater treatment facility provided by the Clay 

County Utility Authority.  Once the facility is built, the capacity temporarily reserved to the Rookery shall 

be available for this development.  In addition, the remaining demand will be sent via force main to the 

Harbor Road plant, where the City has an excess capacity of approximately 700,000 gallons per day.  As a 

result, there is adequate capacity.  The City has existing sewer lines at this location.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

Industrial 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 None 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs does not provide commercial sanitation services, prospective sanitation collection franchisees 

shall comply with City Code Section 66-10. 
 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County. Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a 

minimum of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management 

facility. For commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial 

locations must instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 

Compatibility 

The Subject Property is located adjacent to a Mixed Use Land Use District to the north and west 

and to the east the property is the Reynolds AirPark which is zoned Industrial.  The properties to 

the south along Hall Park Road are also Zoned Industrial.   In addition, the subject property is in 

close proximity to a Railroad which is conducive for Industrial Development and had previously 

been used as a Manufacturing facility.  The property along US 17 and SR 16 shall remain as 

commercial properties in keeping with providing a commercial gateway into the City.  As a result, 

the proposed Future Land Use and Zoning application is suitable for the property and compatible 

with the surrounding uses.   

 

Intent of Existing Future Land Use District  

This Designation encompasses lands along major transportation corridors and is intended to 

accommodate primarily nonresidential uses including light and heavy commercial uses, lodging, 

and professional offices, interspersed with medium density residential uses and public/semi-public 

facilities. 

 

Intent of Proposed Future Land Use District 

This Designation is intended to accommodate primarily light and heavy manufacturing, 

distribution, and storage, in addition to heavy commercial and professional office uses. 

Page 134

Item #  4.



 

Existing Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 135

Item #  4.



 

 

Proposed Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 136

Item #  4.



 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use designation from Mixed Use to Industrial 

subject to the Site-Specific Text Amendment with the following conditions: 

1. Provide a comprehensive traffic study meeting the City Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) 

for new development prior to approval of a subsequent development order. 

2. Limit Uses within the amendment parcels to permitted uses in the M-1 Light Industrial 

Zoning Classification.      

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use  

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-01-2024, to amend the Future Land Use 

of the property described therein from Mixed Use to Industrial  

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-02-2024, regarding a site-specific text 

amendment regarding the Future Land Use of the property described therein from Mixed Use 

to Industrial 

1. Provide a comprehensive traffic study meeting the City Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) 

for new development prior to approval of a subsequent development order. 

2. Limit Uses within the amendment parcels to permitted uses in the M-1 Light Industrial 

Zoning Classification.      

 

  

 

 

 

Page 137

Item #  4.



Page 138

Item #  4.



Page 139

Item #  4.



Page 140

Item #  4.



Page 141

Item #  4.



Site Specific Text Amendment 

Objective 1.8 The City shall adopt, as necessary, Future Land Use Map Amendments 

with 

specific development conditions that are consistent with the City’s adopted Level of 

Service (LOS) standards and Future Land Use Element, and compatible with the 

surrounding uses.  

Policy 1.8.1: Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Amendment adopted by Ordinance 

Number O-01-2024 on XXX,XX, 2024 changes the future land use on the amendment 

area from Mixed Use to Industrial. Development shall meet the requirements of all 

applicable goals, objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan; however, the land 

use and development potential made available by the FLUM Amendment Ordinance O-

01-2024 is hereby limited based on the following:  

1. Prior to the approval of a subsequent development order such as but not limited to a 

subdivision or site development plan, the property owner/developer must submit a 

developer’s agreement addressing the following development requirements for the 

Amendment parcels that is currently owned by HLM Investments that is adjacent to 

SR 16 and US 17: 

a) Address screening and buffering requirements between the Amendment parcels 

or portion thereof and the remaining portion of parcel 016451-0000 and SR 16 

and US 17. 

b) Address Building, site and streetscape design requirements for the Amendment 

parcels or portion thereof and the remaining portion of parcel 016451-0000 

adjacent to SR 16 and US 17.   These requirements shall include but are not 

limited to: 

a. Block Standards 

b. Building Placement  

c. Building Typology and Massing  

d. Building Frontage Design 

e. Façade Articulation 

f. Entrances 

g. Building Materials 

h. Lighting  

i. Service Area and Mechanical Equipment Screening 

j. Signage 

2. Prior to approval of a subsequent development order, such as but not limited a 

zoning, subdivision or site development plan, the property owner/developer will be 

required to provide an Access Management Plan to address site access, the plan must 

be developed in cooperation with Florida Department of Transportation, Clay 

County and the City of Green Cove Springs.  The Access Management Plan and 

traffic capacity plan shall be completed prior to the approval of a subsequent 

development order such as a Zoning, Subdivision or Site Development Plan for the 

Amendment Parcels that is currently owned by HLM Investments that is adjacent to 

SR 16 and US 17;   

Page 142

Item #  4.



3. Limit uses on the Amendment Parcels by allowing M-1 Uses by right and M-2 uses 

as a special exception.   

4. Property shall be rezoned to a Planned Unit Development (PUD).  A conceptual plan 

and written description shall be included with the PUD submittal.    

 

Page 143

Item #  4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: January 23, 2024 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Ordinance O-36-2023, Adding Street Walls as an alternative design standard in the 

Gateway Corridor District as a special exception.  
 

BACKGROUND 

 

Staff is requesting an ordinance change to add street walls as an alternative design standard in the 

Gateway Corridor District.  Currently the City requires that within the Gateway Corridor District which 

includes the Gateway Corridor Commercial, Neighborhood and Residential Districts, parking cannot be 

located between the primary building and the street frontage. As an alternative to this requirement, staff 

is proposing that the code be revised to allow a street wall to be placed at or near the property line 

between the street and parking area with specific design criteria designed to mask the parking areas as 

set forth in the ordinance. Examples of street walls are provided in the packet. 

 

The Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously approved the proposed ordinance on 11/28/23. 

 

At the 2nd City Council meeting on December 19, 2024, City Council voted to require the street wall 

ordinance be revised to be allowed as a special exception as opposed to a permitted use.  As a result, the 

ordinance has been readvertised and brought back to the Planning and Zoning Commission for a 

recommendation.  
 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION 

Motion to recommend approval of Ordinance O-36-2023, Adding Street Walls as an alternative design 

standard in the Gateway Corridor District as a special exception to City Council 
 

 

 
 

Page 144

Item #  5.



Ordinance O-36-2023 Page 2 of 3 

ORDINANCE NO. O-36-2023 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 

117, SEC 117-656 GATEWAY CORRIDOR DESIGN GUIDELINES OF THE CITY CODE TO ALLOW 

FOR PARKING TO BE LOCATED BETWEEN THE STREET FRONT AND BUILDING LOCATION 

SUBJECT TO THE INSTALLATION OF A STREET WALL; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, 

SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Code was adopted to promote the health, safety, morals and general welfare of the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City Code should be evaluated on an ongoing basis to determine if the allowable uses are consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to promote development and redevelopment of the U.S. Highway 17 and S.R. 16 corridor; and 

WHEREAS, due to the existing space limitations within the district and its close proximity to established residential 

neighborhoods, there needs to be flexibility in design to allow efficient use of the land. 

WHEREAS, the Green Cove Springs City Council has determined that this amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan, is in the best interest of the public, and will promote the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. That Chapter 117, Sec. 117-656 shall be amended as follows: 

 

Page 145

Item #  5.



Ordinance O-10-2023 Page 2 of 5 

Sec. 117-656. Design guidelines. 

Compliance with all land development regulations as adopted is required for all properties located within the corridor. In addition 

to the requirements of this Code, development in the gateway corridor zoning categories shall meet the following design guidelines:  

(1) Orient nonresidential uses to face the street with parking behind or to the sides of buildings or provide a street wall subject to 

the requirements set forth below: 

a. Street walls are freestanding walls that are intended to mask parking areas from the street and shall have a minimum 

height of 3 feet and a maximum height of six feet (measured from the elevation of the public sidewalk).    The portion 

of the street wall 3 feet and below shall be solid (e.g. brick and masonry or similar material).  The portion of the street 

wall above 4 feet shall be transparent (e.g.,wrought iron or similar material).  Street walls shall have columns/posts 

(one foot by one foot minimum) spaced every 24 feet.  

b. Street walls shall have openings no larger than necessary to allow automobile and/or pedestrian access. 

c. Street walls shall not be permitted within the right-of-way. 

d. Street walls shall be constructed of wrought iron, brick, masonry, stone, powder-coated aluminum, or other decorative 

materials that complement the finish on the primary building. Chain link, wood and PVC street walls/fences shall be 

prohibited. 

e. The area in front of a street wall/fences shall include a landscaped strip pursuant to the requirements forth in Sec. 117-

626 and Sec. 113-244(d)(3). 

f. Street walls shall be with clear site line requirements set forth in Sec. 113-76. 

(2) In lieu of meeting onsite parking requirements, the developer may enter into an agreement with the city to reduce the 

required on-street parking. The reduction of on-street parking shall be approved if the developer agrees to improve the 

adjoining right-of-ways with landscaping and on-street parking or provides the city with funds to provide additional public 

parking.  

(3) No commercial access, except for ingress and egress for office uses, shall be allowed on residential streets or streets where 

residential future land use categories exist. This includes access for service vehicles.  

(4) Commercial land uses facing residential land uses or future land use categories must be residential in character, with 

residential elevations or facades.  

(5) Density controls for buildings with both residential and commercial permitted uses and/or permissible by special exception 

shall be based on the density controls for the building use on the first story of the structure.  

Page 146

Item #  5.



Ordinance O-10-2023 Page 3 of 5 

(6) Improvements to offsite parking spaces to develop on-street parking shall be counted to meet the minimum parking 

requirements and to meet the minimum landscape area and pervious surface requirements.  

Page 147

Item #  5.



Ordinance O-36-2023 Page 2 of 3 

Section 2. Conflicts.  If any portion of this Ordinance is in conflict with any other ordinance, 

then the provisions of this Ordinance shall govern. 

 

Section 3.   Severability.  If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance is held to 

be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no 

way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. 

 

Section 4. Effective Date.  Upon its adoption by the City Council, this ordinance shall become 

effective. 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST READING BY 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ON THIS 

5th  DAY OF DECEMBER 2023. 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

              

                                                                               Constance Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

  

Page 148

Item #  5.



Ordinance O-10-2023 Page 5 of 5 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 19th DAY OF DECEMBER 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

              

                                                                                                Constance Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 149

Item #  5.



Street Wall Examples 
 

 

 

 

Page 150

Item #  5.



Street Wall Examples 
 

 

 

Page 151

Item #  5.



Esri, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, USGS, EPA, USDA

Gateway Corridor Districts
Municipal Boundary

Zoning
ZONING

Gateway Corridor Commercial

Gateway Corridor Neighborhood

Gateway Corridor Residential

Page 152

Item #  5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: January 23, 2024 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Review of Site Development application for The Vineyard Transitional Center located at 

518 N Pine Ave 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: True Vine Fellowship OWNER: True Vine Fellowship 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 518 N Pine Ave 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017656-000-00 and 017659-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: SPL-23-008 

CURRENT ZONING:  Institutional (INS)  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Public 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Neighborhood  

ZONING: C-1 

Use: Single Family Residential 

SOUTH: FLU: CHI 

Z: C-2 

Use: Church 

EAST: 
 
FLU: Mixed Use (CMI) 

Z: Gateway Corridor Neighborhood (GCN) 

Use: Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: Mixed Use 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant was approved for a Special Exception in November 2021 to have an emergency shelter 

pursuant to the requirements in City Code Sec. 117-796 with conditions.  

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

The property consists of 0.433 acres and is vacant. The applicant proposes to build a 3,300 square foot 

transitional living facility with 6 beds and a 1,000 square foot office.   There will be two restrooms 

available from the hallway for any guests to use. 

PARKING 

The plan shows 10 parking spaces plus 1 handicapped parking space.  Per code they are required 

to have 6 parking spaces and 1 handicapped space.    

 

Page 153

Item #  6.



DRAINAGE RETENTION  

Due to the size of the proposed development, the applicant’s stormwater engineer has self-

certified with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection, which is enclosed.  That said, 

the applicant will provide a small retention pond in the rear of the property to ensure compliance 

with the City Comprehensive Plan requirements that post retention runoff shall be reduced from 

pre retention runoff.   

 

TRAFFIC AND ACCESS 

Access will be provided off Pine Avenue.  There will be minimal traffic to this location.  As part 

of the site development, a 6’ sidewalk shall be constructed from the property line to the 

southwestern side office building as well as from the parking lot to the northeastern side of the 

office building.  

            UTILITY CONNECTIONS AND SOLID WASTE 

The buildings are connected to City Water and Sewer. The existing septic tanks on the site are 

not active and shall be removed.  An on-site dumpster shall be provided. 

 

LANDSCAPE PLAN 

The plan is showing the installation of 3 new trees.  The existing landscape buffer at the north 

and northwest property line shall be preserved and shall count towards meeting exterior 

landscaping requirements.   

COMPLIANCE WITH SEC. 117-796 – EMERGENCY SHELTERS 

(a) An emergency shelter shall be permitted in the Institutional Zoning District as a special exception, 

subject to the following provisions: 

(1) A minimum of 300 square feet of private indoor living space shall be provided for each 

occupant of a structure. 

At the time of building permit submittal, the applicant will have to provide a finalized floor 

plan showing compliance with this item. 

(2) Minimum parking requirements shall be as follows: 

a. One parking space for each three beds; and 

For 6 beds, they must have three parking spaces. 

b. One parking space for each employee.  There are four parking spaces available for 

employees. 

There are 10 total parking spaces, two of which are required for the guests, leaving 8 

spaces for employees, plus an ADA space. 

(3) All structures shall meet the city building code requirements, life safety code requirements, 

and housing code requirements pertaining to the intended use. 

This will be determined at the time of building permit. 

(4) If a license to operate the facility is required by federal, state or local law, the applicant must 

either be in possession of such a license to operate such a facility or be in the posture to receive 

a license. Under no circumstances will permits or occupational licenses be issued by any city 

department until such license is presented to the building official. 

Page 154

Item #  6.



The applicant must receive a license pursuant to Florida Administrative Code (FAC) G2.002, 

to the best of staff knowledge, as well as passing requisite county health department 

inspections. Minimally, a business tax receipt and possibly a Certificate of Occupancy shall 

not be provided until such items are complete. A temporary Certificate of Occupancy could be 

provided up to the point in time assurance is received that the license has been issued. 

(5) No emergency shelter shall be located within 1,000 feet of any other emergency shelter. The 

distance requirements between two emergency shelters shall be measured from property line to 

property line. 

No other emergency shelter exists in town at this time. 

(6) The planning and zoning commission may place any reasonable special conditions, in 

addition to those provided in this subsection, on the special exception to ensure that the proposed 

use conforms with the character of the surrounding neighborhood; especially concerning: the 

prevailing dwelling unit density, the anticipated number of nonresident employees, lighting, 

service facilities, the background and history of the applicant/organization, approval can be 

limited to the owner/applicant, the type of activities and time limits regarding outdoor activities. 

In addition, the planning and zoning commission can evaluate and limit approval to the 

applicant/organization. 

The following conditions are required:  

1. Approval of the Special Exception is limited to the applicant / owner:  John Sanders/The 

Vineyard.  Any transfer of ownership will require a new Special Exception application. 

2. Post the responsible party contact information at a visible location in the front interior of 

both buildings.       

3. The maximum number of transitional housing units shall be limited to 8 units. 

4. All outdoor activities shall be limited to no later than 8:00 pm.     

(7) An emergency shelter shall adhere to all site plan requirements as per article IV of this 

chapter. 

The site development plan has been reviewed by staff and the outstanding comments are 

enclosed.   

(8) This special exception shall be limited to the proposed applicant or owner to whom the special 

exception is granted and shall be subject to the requirements of this subsection. Any changes in 

ownership or to the use of the property will require a new special exception application. 

This requirement was a condition of the SE approval. 

(b) Emergency shelter responsible party. 

(1) The purpose of the responsible party is to respond to routine inspections, non-routine 

complaints, and other more immediate problems related to the emergency shelter of the property. 

(2) The property owner shall serve in this capacity or shall otherwise designate in writing to the 

city an emergency shelter responsible party to act on the property owner's behalf. Any person 18 

years of age or older may be so designated provided they can perform the duties listed in 

subsection (c). 

(3) The duties of the emergency shelter responsible party, whether the party is a property owner 

or an agent, are to: 

a. Be available at a listed phone number 24 hours a day, seven days a week and capable 

of legally handling any issues arising from the emergency shelter use; 

Page 155

Item #  6.



b. Ensure all tenants have undergone a police background check. Individuals found guilty 

of violent crimes are prohibited from being tenants in an emergency shelter regardless of 

the length of stay. Failure to comply with this requirement shall result in revocation of 

the business tax receipt; 

c. Ensuring sexual offenders/predators as defined in F.S. §§ 775.21, 943.0435, 944.607, 

or 985.4815 register at the Clay County Sheriff's Office and the Green Cove Springs 

Police Department, following the process set forth in F.S. § 775.21, 48 hours prior to 

arrival at an emergency shelter, regardless of the length of stay. The property owner or 

agent shall comply with F.S. § 775.215, as amended from time to time, pertaining to the 

distance separation of homes with a sexual offender/predator residing within the 

emergency shelter and any business, school, childcare facility, park, playground, or other 

places where children regularly congregate. Failure to comply with this requirement shall 

result in revocation of the business tax receipt. 

The responsible party (John Sanders) will be noted in the Business Tax Receipt File and is in 

alignment with state requirements for licensing of the facility. 

Attachments Include: 

1. Special Exception Staff Report 

2. Submitted Site Development Plan and Landscape Plan 

3. Outstanding Staff Comments-Deficency Report 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed Site Development Plan on the condition that the site plan is 

revised to address the outstanding staff comments. 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Site Development Plan  

Motion to recommend approval of the Vineyard Transitional Center Site Development Plan on the 

condition that the site plan is revised to address the outstanding staff comments noted in the attached 

deficiency report. 

 

 

Page 156

Item #  6.



Page 157

Item #  6.



Page 158

Item #  6.



Page 159

Item #  6.



COVER SHEET
GENERAL NOTES
EXISTING GROUND
EXISTING DRAINAGE MAP
PROPOSED DRAINAGE MAP
DEMOLITION PLAN
GEOMETRY PLAN
GRADING & DRAINAGE PLAN
DRAINAGE DETAILS
EROSION CONTROL DETAILS
UTILITY PLAN
UTILITY DETAILS
SIGNAGE & PAVEMENT MARKING PLAN
FIRE SUPPRESSION DETAILS
MISCELLANEOUS DETAILS
SWPP CONTRACTOR REQUIREMENTS
SWPP CONTRACTOR CERTIFICATION
PHOTOMETRIC PLAN
LANDSCAPE PLAN

SITE IMPROVEMENTS
FOR

VINEYARD TRANSITIONAL CENTER
518 PINE AVE. N., GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FL 32043

CHARLES SOHM, P.E.
FLA. REGISTERED ENGINEER, #79289

TE JOB NO:           20-367 TOCOI
Engineering, LLC

OWNER:

SURVEYOR:

Vineyard Transitional Center
John Sanders
518 Pine Avenue North
Green Cove Springs, FL  32043
TEL:  904-305-4641

Eiland and Associates, Inc
Harold Eiland
615 Blanding Boulevard
Orange Park, FL  32073
TEL: (904) 272-1000

INDEX OF DRAWINGS

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
LS

ENGINEER: Tocoi Engineering, LLC
Charles Sohm, P.E.
714 North Orange Avenue
Green Cove Springs, FL  32043
TEL: 904-215-1388

CLAY COUNTY

LOCATION MAP
N.T.S.

PROJECT OWNER AND CONSULTANTS

PROJECT
LOCATION

SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS GRANTED ON 09/28/2021 BY PLANNING
ZONING COMMISSION.

CONDITIONS:

A. APPROVAL OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION IS LIMITED TO THE
APPLICANT / OWNER: JOHN SANDERS/THE VINEYARD.
ANY TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP WILL REQUIRE A NEW
SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPLICATION

B. THE MAXIMUM NUMBER TRANSITIONAL HOUSING UNITS
SHALL BE LIMITED TO 8 UNITS.

C. ALL OUTDOOR ACTIVITIES SHALL BE LIMITED TO NO
LATER THAN 8:00 PM

D. APPROVAL OF THE SPECIAL EXCEPTION IS THE
CONTINGENT UPON THE APPROVAL OF THE FUTURE
LAND USE AND ZONING AMENDMENTS BY CITY COUNCIL.

CALL BEFORE YOU DIG
800-432-4770

SAFETY IS IN YOUR HANDS.
EVERY DIG. EVERY TIME. Charles 

Sohm, PE

Digitally signed by 
Charles Sohm, PE 
Date: 2023.10.18 
17:24:24 -04'00'

Page 160

Item #  6.



2A

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 S

PR
IN

G
S 

G
EN

ER
AL

 N
O

TE
S

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 161

Item #  6.



2B

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 S

PR
IN

G
S 

G
EN

ER
AL

 N
O

TE
S

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 162

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

3

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 G

R
O

U
N

D

Page 163

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

4

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 D

R
AI

N
AG

E

Page 164

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

5

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 D

R
AI

N
AG

E

Page 165

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

6

D
EM

O
 P

LA
N

Page 166

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

7

G
EO

M
ET

R
Y 

PL
AN

Page 167

Item #  6.



A A

B
B

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N
EY

AR
D
 T
R
AN

SI
TI
O
N
AL
 C
EN

TE
R

SI
TE
 IM

PR
O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

8

G
R
AD

IN
G
 A
N
D
 D
R
AI
N
AG

E 
PL
AN

Page 168

Item #  6.



9A

D
R

AI
N

AG
E 

D
ET

AI
LS

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 169

Item #  6.



AA

B
B

9B

D
R
AI
N
AG

E 
D
ET
AI
LS

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N
EY

AR
D
 T
R
AN

SI
TI
O
N
AL
 C
EN

TE
R

SI
TE
 IM

PR
O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 170

Item #  6.



AA

9C

D
R
AI
N
AG

E 
D
ET
AI
LS

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N
EY

AR
D
 T
R
AN

SI
TI
O
N
AL
 C
EN

TE
R

SI
TE
 IM

PR
O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 171

Item #  6.



HAY BALE LOCATION
TURBIDITY BARRIERS

SILT FENCE TYPE III & IV HAY BALE BARRIERS TYPE I & II

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

10

ER
O

SI
O

N
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
D

ET
AI

LS

Page 172

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

11

U
TI

LI
TY

 P
LA

N

Page 173

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

12A

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 S

PR
IN

G
S 

U
TI

LI
TY

 D
ET

AI
LS

Page 174

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

12B

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 S

PR
IN

G
S 

U
TI

LI
TY

 D
ET

AI
LS

Page 175

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

12C

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 S

PR
IN

G
S 

U
TI

LI
TY

 D
ET

AI
LS

Page 176

Item #  6.



” ”

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

12D

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 S

PR
IN

G
S 

U
TI

LI
TY

 D
ET

AI
LS

Page 177

Item #  6.



STOP

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

13

SI
G

N
AG

E 
& 

PA
VE

M
EN

T 
M

AR
KI

N
G

 P
LA

N

Page 178

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

14

FI
R

E 
SU

PP
R

ES
SI

O
N

 P
LA

N

Page 179

Item #  6.



15A

M
IS

C
EL

LA
N

EO
U

S 
D

ET
AI

LS

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 180

Item #  6.



15B

M
IS

C
EL

LA
N

EO
U

S 
D

ET
AI

LS

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 181

Item #  6.



15C

M
IS

C
EL

LA
N

EO
U

S 
D

ET
AI

LS

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 182

Item #  6.



15D

M
IS

C
EL

LA
N

EO
U

S 
D

ET
AI

LS

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

Page 183

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I
TO

CO
I En

gi
ne

er
in

g,
 L

LC
VI

N
EY

AR
D

 T
R

AN
SI

TI
O

N
AL

 C
EN

TE
R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

16

SW
PP

P 
C

O
N

TR
AC

TO
R

 R
EQ

U
IR

EM
EN

TS

Page 184

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I

SE
D

IM
EN

T 
BA

SI
N

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

AL
 C

O
N

TR
O

LS
A 

R
AI

N
FA

LL
 E

VE
N

T 
O

F 
0.

25
 IN

C
H

ES
 O

R
 M

O
R

E
TO

 B
E 

C
O

M
PL

ET
ED

 E
VE

R
Y 

7 
D

AY
S 

AN
D

 W
IT

H
IN

 2
4 

H
O

U
R

S 
O

F

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

17

SW
PP

P 
C

O
N

TR
AC

TO
R

 C
ER

TI
FI

C
AT

IO
N

Page 185

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

18

PH
O

TO
M

ET
R

IC
 P

LA
N

Page 186

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

LS-1

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

Page 187

Item #  6.



TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

LS-2

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

Page 188

Item #  6.



SECTION VIEW

6'
-0

"
2'

-0
"

PLAN VIEW

TO
CO

I En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 L
LC

VI
N

EY
AR

D
 T

R
AN

SI
TI

O
N

AL
 C

EN
TE

R

SI
TE

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

TS
FO

R

LS-3

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

Page 189

Item #  6.



Drawn By:

Project No:

Checked By:

Last Plot Date:

Revisions:

This drawing is an instrument of service
and is the property of GDH Architects,
P.A.  It shall never be reproduced in
whole or in part without the express

written permission of GDH Architects.

CAD File:

REVIEW SET

Sheet No:

Sheet Title:

Contract Stage:

Se
al

:

23-1066 (23_0xx)

JBF
GDH

Po
nt

e 
Ve

dr
a,

 F
L 

32
08

1

Fl
or

id
a 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o.

 A
R

-0
01

73
19

90
4.

88
1.

81
00

  G
le

nn
H

et
tin

ge
r@

gm
ai

l.c
om

14
0 

O
ut

lo
ok

 D
riv

e

G
D

H
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TS

, P
.A

.

9/1/2023

51
8 

N
O

R
TH

 P
IN

E 
AV

EU
E

VI
N

EY
AR

D
TR

AN
SI

TI
O

N
AL

 C
EN

TE
R

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 S

PR
IN

G
S,

 F
L 

 3
20

43

OFFICE
PIT #1

102

OFFICE
PIT #2

103

RECEPTION

101

OFFICE #1

108

OFFICE #2

109

UTILITY #1

107

UNISEX #2

106

UNISEX #1

104

HALL

105

CORPORATE
ENTRY

100

LODGING
ENTRY

110

SLEEPING
UNIT #6

123

SLEEPING
UNIT #5

122

SLEEPING
UNIT #4

121

SLEEPING
UNIT #1

114

SLEEPING
UNIT #2

115

SLEEPING
UNIT #3

116

BATH #1

118 BATH #2

120

UTILITY #2

117

CAFE

113

SOCIAL

112

HALL

119

P1

POTABLE
1 SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

POTABLE (SUPPLY)

FOYER

111

PLUMBING
PLAN

(SUPPLY)

PLUMBING PLAN

PLUMBING LINE LEGEND
POTABLE (SUPPLY)

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR:

ADDRESS:

LICENSE #:

TELEPHONE:

Page 190

Item #  6.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALTHOUGH  EVERY  EFFORT  HAS BEEN TAKEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO PREPARE  THESE  DRAWINGS  TO COMPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH  LOCAL  BUILDING  CODES,   CONTINUOUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CODE  CHANGES  MAY  REQUIRE  ADDITIONAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWINGS,    ENGINEERING    SERVICES,   AND

AutoCAD SHX Text
OR CHANGES TO  THESE  DRAWINGS  TO  MEET 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CODE  COMPLIANCE.   POSSESSION  OF THESE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANS ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE PURCHASER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAS BEEN  INFORMED  OF  THIS  INFORMATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND    ASSUMES    THE   RESPONSIBILITY  TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE    ALL  ADDITIONAL  REQUIREMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF   LOCAL   BUILDING  OFFICIALS   TO  MEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPLIANCE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW COLD-WATER SUPPLY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING POTABLE SUPPLY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHUT-OFF VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW HOT WATER SUPPLY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W. / H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE APPROVED WATER TEMPERATURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITING DEVICE (ASSE 1070) AT RESTROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAVATORIES FOR THE DELIVERY OF TEMPERED WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONNECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO CITY POTABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUPPLY (VERIFY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION ON SITE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANKLESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATER #1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANKLESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATER #2

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.W.



APPLICATION DEFICIENCY NOTICE

DATE: December 11, 2023

APPLICATION REFERENCE:  Trent, Angela, SPL-23-008 - 518 PINE Ave

Dear Applicant:

The items you submitted for the above-referenced permit have been reviewed by the City 
representatives responsible for approving different aspects of your application.  Attached to this notice 
is a list of comments in response to the materials submitted.

Each of the items on the attached list require responses and revised materials be created and re-
submitted before any further action can be taken on this permit.  A hold is placed on this application 
and the time it takes you to respond to this list of items is excluded in calculating permit processing 
timeframes.  Once corrected and/or new materials are submitted, your permit processing timeframe 
will begin again.

A complete response to each of the items on the attached list is required to be submitted at the same 
time.  As applicable, a complete response is required to include:

1. A written document addressing all of your responses (one paper copy).
2. New and/or updated technical reports (one paper copy).
3. New and/or corrected plans.  Please note that revisions to previously submitted plans 

are required to be identified by clouding, must be noted in a revision list on the plan 
sheet(s), and are required to be incorporated into a full set of revised plans (one paper 
copy).

4. A transmittal that itemizes everything being resubmitted (one paper copy).
5. A copy of the entire resubmittal must be provided electronically (either on a thumb drive 

or uploaded via the permit portal).

Your response must be received by our Department within 180 days of the date noted on this letter to 
avoid this application being withdrawn from consideration.  Withdrawn application must be 
resubmitted as new applications requiring repayment of all applicable fees and processing 
requirements.

Thank you for your anticipated cooperation in submitting the items requested by staff.  We look 
forward to working with you as this application continues to be processed.

Planning & Zoning
321 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL 32043  904-297-7051

Page 191

Item #  6.



PLANNING DIVISION COMMENTS - contact Michael Daniels (mdaniels@greencovesprings.com)

1. 1. Provide building layout to determine compliance with 117-796(a)(1)
2. Provide a note on the plan that this use shall be limited to the proposed applicant or owner to 
whom the special exception is granted and shall be subject to the requirements of this subsection. 
Any changes in ownership or to the use of the property will require a new special exception 
application.
3. Provide a note of compliance with Sec. 117-796(b) and provide Responsible contact information 
on the Site Plan.
4. Provide a minimum 10 landscape buffer adjacent to residential property to the north and east.  
Including small trees an average 1 per 25 on center and a continuous hedge row.  
5. Provide large trees in landscape islands in parking areas.
6. Perimeter planting calculation shall be based on all four sides which result in 12 large trees 
being planted around perimeter of property, where power lines encroach on perimeter plantings, 
small trees can be substituted at two for one.
7. drainage retention must be fenced.

APPLICATION DEFICIENCY NOTICE
DATE: December 11, 2023

APPLICATION REFERENCE:  Trent, Angela, SPL-23-008

Page 192

Item #  6.


	Top
	Item #  1.	Approval of the Minutes of the November 26, 2023 Meeting
	Planning  Zoning Board Meeting Minutes November 28, 2023

	Item #  2.	Special Exception for River Oaks Warehouse
	Staff Report_River Oaks PZB
	SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPLICATION
	1369-Renderings
	1369 RIVER OAKS INDUSTRIAL PARK-REV 1-8-24
	TRAFFIC STUDY REPORT

	Item #  3.	Huntley Property Large Scale Future Land Use Map Amendment
	FLUS-24-001_ PZBStaff Report
	LLHE FLUS Application REV 07.06.23
	HLM FLUS Application REV 07.06.23
	ExistingFLU
	PropFLU

	Item #  4.	Huntley Property Future Land Use Text Amendment
	FLUS-24-001_ PZBStaff Report
	LLHE FLUS Application REV 07.06.23
	HLM FLUS Application REV 07.06.23
	Huntley Text Amendment Applicant

	Item #  5.	Street Wall Code Change
	Street Wall Ordinance Staff Report
	street wall ordinance
	street wall photos
	Gateway Corridor Zoning Districts

	Item #  6.	Site Development Plan for Vineyard Transition Center
	Staff Report_pzbvineyard
	Vineyard 518 N Pine Site Plan Application
	20-367 Vineyard Submittal SS 101823-2 (1)
	Conceptual Floor Plan
	SPL-23-008 Outstanding Comments 12.11.23

	Bottom

